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PROSPECTUS

:B BRUSH
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1,815,000 Shares

Brush Engineered Materials Inc.

Common Stock

We are offering 1,700,000 common shanekthe selling shareholders are offering 115,008roon shares through a syndicate of
underwriters. We will not receive any of the prateé&om the sale of common shares by the selliagetiolders.

Our common shares are traded on the New Btrkk Exchange under the symbol “BW.” The last regmbsale price of our common
shares on the New York Stock Exchange on June(®} 2@s $18.33 per share.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission n@ny state securities commission has approved or digproved of these
securities or determined if this prospectus is trutful or complete. Any representation to the contray is a criminal offense.

Investing in our common shares involves risks. SéRisk Factors” beginning on page 7.

Per Share Total
Public offering price $ $
Underwriting discount and commissi $ $
Proceeds to us (before expens $ $
Proceeds to selling shareholders (before expe $ $

We have granted the underwriters an optigoutchase up to 272,250 additional common shareswver over-allotments.

We expect that the common shares will beyréaddelivery on or about 020
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You should rely only on the information contained i or incorporated by reference into this prospectusWe have not authorized
anyone to provide you with different information. We are not making an offer of these securities in grstate where the offer is not
permitted. You should not assume that the informatin contained in this prospectus is accurate as ofg date other than the date on
the front of this prospectus or the date of any dagment incorporated by reference.




PROSPECTUS SUMMARY

This summary highlights information contained elsere in this prospectus. We urge you to read thiseprospectus and the docume
incorporated by reference into this prospectus @hg including the “Risk Factors” section and oapnsolidated financial statements and
the related notes included elsewhere in this progge Unless the context otherwise requires, refegs to “we,” “us” or “our” refer
collectively to Brush Engineered Materials Inc. atsdsubsidiaries. The term “common shares” meamssthares of common stock, no par
value, unless the context indicates a differentnimga Unless otherwise specified, all informatiasames the underwriters do not exercise
their over-allotment option.

Brush Engineered Materials Inc.

We are a leading global provider of high-parfance engineered materials for a growing vanégommercial and industrial applications
where superior performance and reliability are iet$ake Our engineered materials are critical comgras of many high-technology or high-
performance products and enable those products todae stronger, smaller and lighter, with impropedormance characteristics. We
produce and distribute high-performance beryllimodoicts, alloy products, electronic products, presimetal products and engineered
material systems. Our engineered materials havdupt@pplications in a variety of end-use markietduding telecommunications and
computer, automotive electronics, optical medidustrial components, appliance, aerospace andskefen

Beryllium is a key raw material in many ofrqaroducts. Beryllium is a naturally occurring elemh—number four on the periodic table
elements, with the symbol “Be” — and is the light&suctural metal on Earth. It is stiffer thanedtdighter than aluminum and possesses
other unique mechanical and thermal propertiesylR@n is extracted from bertrandite and beryl ord& operate the only active bertrandite
ore mine in the developed world, located on 7,58@sin Juab County, Utah. Through our subsididBesh Wellman Inc., Brush Resources
Inc. and Brush Ceramic Products Inc., we are thddigoonly fully integrated provider of berylliunberyllium-containing alloys and beryllia
ceramics.

We were organized as a holding company fowvatious businesses in 2000. Our subsidiary Bwisiiman Inc. was founded in 1931 as
The Brush Beryllium Company. We currently operadevianufacturing facilities located in the Unite@tss, Singapore and the Philippines.
We also have global service and distribution centeiGermany, Japan, Singapore, England and thed)8tates, and sales offices throug
the United States, China and Taiwan.

We have two business segments: Metal Sys&mgp and Microelectronics Group. Our Metal Syst&nsup accounted for
approximately 60% of our sales during 2003, and\igroelectronics Group accounted for approxima®996 of our sales during 2003. The
balance of our sales during 2003 were from ouraedite ore milling operations.

Metal Systems Grou
Our Metal Systems Group includes Alloy PraduBeryllium Products and Technical Materials Jrec. TMI.

Alloy Products, our largest business, martufes and sells copper and nickel-based alloy systenost of which incorporate beryllium.
These beryllium alloys exhibit high strength anddm&ss, good formability and excellent resistanoeotrosion, wear and fatigue, while
retaining good thermal and electrical conductivitiiey often are the material of choice for criticamponents in cell phones and wireless
communications equipment, notebook and network ecderp and web servers, personal digital assistanDAs, automotive electronics
and industrial products. Alloy Products also mantifees non-beryllium-containing alloys — includimigughMet®, a copper-nickel-tin
alloy — which are corrosion and wear resistantehexcellent lubricity properties and are used as{i}t mold tooling, aerospace, oil and gas
and heavy equipment product applications.




Beryllium Products manufactures pure bergiliand aluminum-beryllium composites that are usetdany high-performance
applications, primarily for the defense and aerospadustries. Beryllium’s unique properties —fgatifss, strength, lightweight, temperature
resistance and reflectivity — are critical to a fnenof NASA programs. For example, in SeptembeB26@ryllium was chosen by Northrop
Grumman Space Technology as the material for thee@i@hent, 6.5-meter primary mirror of NASA’s Jarésbb Space Telescope. We
expect this application to add approximately $18iomi in sales of optical grade beryllium over thext two to three years.

TMI produces engineered material systemsataproduced by combining precious and non-preapetals in continuous strip form,
which provide a variety of thermal, electrical oechanical properties over a surface area or p&atisection of the material. TMI's products
are used in complex electrical components in tetlenanications systems, automotive electronics, semductors and computers, as well as
other high-technology applications.

Microelectronics Groug

Our Microelectronics Group includes Williasidvanced Materials Inc., or WAM, and Electronic éwots, which consists of Brush
Ceramic Products and Zentrix Technologies Inc.

WAM manufactures precious metal and specllty products specifically fabricated to meet éxacting standards required in high
reliability applications for the microelectronicemi-conductor, optical media (including DVDs),atten tube, magnetic head, aerospace and
performance film industries.

Brush Ceramic Products produces berylliaro@ranaterials used in wireless telecommunicatitaser, medical and defense applications.
Zentrix manufactures electronic packaging and dirguised in wireless telecommunications, autonetiwedical, aerospace and defense
applications.

Our Competitive Strengths
We believe that we maintain the following qmetitive strengths:

« Unique Status as a Fully Integrated Provider of Blium-Containing Products Our status as the world’s only fully integrated
provider of beryllium, beryllium-containing alloyd beryllia ceramics allows us to offer our custogithe convenience and security of
a single supply chain source for critical enginderaterials

« High Barriers to Entry.Our vertical integration, access to beryllium reses, know-how and expertise in refining and prsices
beryllium and beryllium-containing materials, ahe capital investment required for our businesaldish high barriers to entry for
potential competitors

« Product Breadth Within Existing MarketsOur extensive product offerings are important famnmy customers and distributors and
provide an advantage in developing and maintaingtagionships with original equipment manufacturersOEMs, and in establishing
partnerships with distributor

« Global Distribution Network.Our global distribution network allows us to activenarket our products and effectively responduo o
customer’ needs throughout the worl

« Strategic Customer RelationshipOur long-term relationships with customers in kegvgh end markets allow us to collaborate in our
customers’ product development efforts, which ofeesults in our products being included in desigecfications for a customer’s new
product.

« Technological Capabilities and Product QualitWe believe that our metal engineering technologiestomized machinery and
processes and attention to quality are competitilxantages. We believe that our products’ supehiaracteristics and performance
tolerances provide an important competitive advgmtparticularly in the sophisticated alloys reqdifor the most demanding end user
applications




» Capacity to Support Profitable Market GrowtlAs the market’s demand for engineered materialeases, we are well-positioned to
expand our manufacturing output without significentremental cash investment. In addition to mactufdng capacity, our operational
initiatives have significantly improved our manuiaing efficiency and have positioned us to improue profitability.

« Significant Operating ExpertiseWe believe that our management team is successfyiiementing our financial and operational
initiatives to return us to profitability and thatir team’s extensive industry experience positisn# identify and capitalize on
emerging growth opportunitie

Our Growth Strategy

Our objective is to grow our business prafigavhile strengthening our position as a leaditabgl provider of high-performance
engineered materials. Key elements of our growtitey are to:

« Capture Improved Demand in the TelecommunicatiomsdaComputer MarketWe are positioned to benefit from an increase in
equipment spending and a general improvement indhditions of the telecommunications and computarket. During 2003, demand
for telecommunications and computer products begamprove as commercial and industrial users beganake more significant
expenditures on information and communication sgsteaugmented by increasing consumer demand fomemication products. We
are well positioned in these markets and expebet®fit from improvements in market conditio

« Capitalize on the Trend Towards Higher Performanaad Miniaturization of Electronic Component3/NVe seek to capitalize on our
ability to provide our customers with engineerederials that are well suited to meet the demandiagdards associated with the trend
towards higher performance and miniaturizationlettonic components. As manufacturers continuaitgaturize their products, mo
high-performance engineered materials capable etingestringent performance and reliability stanidaneed to be included in those
products

» Expand and Diversify Our Revenue BasWe seek to build on existing customer relationshipd our core manufacturing competen
to increase the breadth of our product offeringsxisting markets and diversify into additional kets with the goal of reducing our
susceptibility to economic cycles and increasingprospects for profitable growt

* Increase Our Global PresencWe intend to continue to expand our sales, margetind service capabilities into international méske
in response to our existing customers’ needs andousiness opportunities, including new potentiatkets and customers resulting
from the trend toward high-performance materiald miniaturization. Our presence in the local maglaftour customers allows us to
quickly respond to their needs and requests, wiiehelieve provides us with a key competitive adzge.

« Increase Operational EfficiencyWe intend to build upon the success of our existiogt reduction and manufacturing efficiency
initiatives to improve margins and position oursslfor profitable growth in both strong and weasremmic environment:

« Pursue Selective Acquisitions in Our Strategic Matis.We intend to selectively pursue acquisitions tleat extend our geographic
reach, expand and diversify our customer basecsease the breadth of our product and serviceioffe!
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Our Uncertainties

The competitive strengths that we maintdir,implementation of our growth strategy and oturiel operating results and financial
condition are subject to a number of risks and tao#ies. The factors that could adversely affeatactual results and performance, as well
as the successful implementation of our growthtesig are discussed under “Risk Factors” beginnimgage 7, and include, among other
things:

« Health Issues, Litigation and Regulatio — health issues, litigation and regulation relgtia mining bertrandite ore and producing and
using berylliun-containing materials

« Profitability — our ability to achieve and sustain profitability
« Cyclical Fluctuations — significant cyclical fluctuations in our custoreebusinesses;

« Competitive Substitute Material — the availability of competitive substitute maads for beryllium-containing materials, as well as
rapid changes in technology that may make our poisdabsolete

 Costs — increases in energy costs and the availabitity @rices of raw materials;
« International Operations — risks associated with our international opersiand currency exchange rate fluctuations; and

« Indebtedness and Financial Marke! — risks associated with our indebtedness and loilityato access the financial markets on
favorable terms




Corporate Information

Brush Engineered Materials Inc. is an Ohipoacation. Our principal executive offices are lechat 17876 St. Clair Avenue, Cleveland,
Ohio 44110. Our telephone number is (216) 486-4200.website is www.beminc.com. The informationcam website is not part of this

prospectus.

Common shares offered by

Common shares offered by t
selling shareholdel

Common shares to t
outstanding immediately after
this offering

Use of proceed

Ovelr-allotment optior

NYSE symbol

Preferred share purchase rig

The Offering

1,700,000 share

115,000 share

18,587,264 share

We intend to use the net proceeds of approxim&ely  million, based on ¢
offering price of $ per share, from offiedng to repay a portion of the
amounts outstanding under credit facilities andaforking capital and general
corporate purposes, including capital expendituaeguisitions of businesses or
assets and investments. We will not receive artii@proceeds from the sale of
common shares by the selling shareholders*Use of Procee(” on page 18

We have granted to the underwriters an option tohm@ase up to an additior
272,250 common shares solely to cover -allotments

BW

One preferred share purchase right will be assedtiaith each common she
issued in this offering pursuant to the terms afshareholder rights plan. See
“Description of Capital Stoc— Common Share”

The number of common shares to be outstarafieg the offering is based on the number of comstrares outstanding as of June 1,
2004. Unless we specifically state otherwise, tHiermation contained in this prospectus excludé3d,728 common shares reserved for
issuance upon the exercise of options granted umdezquity compensation plans as of June 1, 2004.
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Summary Consolidated Financial Data
(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

The tables below set forth our summary cadategd financial data for the periods presented.d@féved the financial data for the years
ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 from outealfthancial statements included in this prospsctWe derived the financial data for
the years ended December 31, 2000 and 1999 froraulited financial statements not included herElire financial data for the quarters
ended April 2, 2004 and March 28, 2003 and as ofl p2004 are derived from our unaudited consakd financial statements included
elsewhere in this prospectus. The interim unauditetsolidated financial statements have been pedpan the same basis as the annual
audited financial statements and include, in thaiop of management, all adjustments, consistingasfal and recurring adjustments,
necessary to present fairly the data for such gergmd may not necessarily be indicative of fullryesults. Prospective investors should read
the summary consolidated financial data in conjancivith “Selected Consolidated Financial Data,”d&vagement’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operationsd aur consolidated financial statements and tla¢a notes included elsewhere in this
prospectus.

The “As Adjusted” column in the consolidatemlance sheet data below gives effect to the $ateedl, 700,000 common shares offered by
us at an assumed public offering price of $ per share, the last reported sale price of onmeon shares on , 2004, after
deducting the underwriting discounts and commissenmd estimated offering expenses payable by us.

Year Ended December 31, First Quarter Ended
2003 2002 2001 2000 1999 April 2, 2004 March 28020
(unaudited)
Statement of Operations
Data:
Net sales $401,04¢  $372,82¢  $472,56¢  $563,69(  $455,70° $125,86: $99,51¢
Cost of sale: 328,00t 324,93 404,57- 444,95: 363,77: 96,28¢ 82,40¢
Gross profit 73,03¢ 47,891 67,99¢ 118,73¢ 91,93 29,57% 17,11
Operating profit (loss (9,340 (22,84%) (14,069 22,98¢ 10,55¢ 6,071 (2,039
Interest expens 3,35¢ 3,01( 3,32 4,65z 4,17: 2,21¢ 772
Income (loss) from
continuing operations
before income taxe (12,695 (25,85%) (17,396 18,33¢ 6,38t 3,85z (2,817
Net income (loss $(13,22¢) $(35,609) $(10,279) $ 14,16 $ 6,43¢ $ 3,75¢ $(3,01¢)
| | | | | | I
Net income (loss) pe
common share
Basic $ (08) $ (215 $ (062 $ 087 $ 04 $ 0.2¢ $ (0.1%)
Diluted $ (08) $ (215 $ (062 $ 08 $ 04 $ 0.2 $ (0.1%)
Dividends per common
share — — $ 022 $ 048 $ 04¢ — —
Depreciation and
amortizatior $ 20,73 $20,64( $21,60¢ $2266: $ 27,03 $ 5,75¢ $ 5,18¢
Capital expenditure $ 6,162 $ 5,24¢ $23,13( $21,30¢ $ 16,75¢ $ 1,35¢ $ 1,58
Mine development
expenditure: $ 157 $ 166 $ 154 $ 33z $ 28¢ $ 90 $ 101
At December 31, At April 2, 2004
2003 2002 2001 2000 1999 Actual  As Adjusted
(unaudited)
Balance Sheet Data
Working capital $ 85,141 $ 82,64¢ $110,89: $143,38' $124,83: $ 94,72:
Property and equipme
At cost $535,42: $476,28: $469,66: $449,69° $440,23- $536,44(
Cost less depreciation and amortizal $190,84¢ $152,54- $171,29¢ $170,46( $170,93¢ $186,90¢
Total asset $371,61¢ $334,87¢ $403,65: $452,50¢ $428,40¢ $387,50!
Other lon¢-term liabilities $ 64,097 $ 65,977 $ 62,47: $ 55,45 $ 53,83} $ 63,78t
Long-term debr $ 85,75¢ $ 36,21¢ $ 47,25 $ 43,30 $ 42,30¢ $ 84,29.

Shareholder equity $153,57: $159,09: $214,35( $229,90° $220,63¢ $160,27:






RISK FACTORS

You should carefully consider the risks describeldd and all other information contained in or imporated by reference into this
prospectus before purchasing our common sharese®dmhe following risks relate principally to thedustry in which we operate and to ¢
business. Other risks relate principally to thews@es markets and ownership of our common shakdslitional risks and uncertainties not
presently known to us, or risks that we currentiyndt consider to be material, may also impair operations or results. If any of tl
following risks actually occurs, we may not be ableonduct our business as currently planned, @mndfinancial condition and sale
margins and profitability could be seriously harméuthat case, the market price of our common ebaould decline, and you could lose all
or part of your investment.

Risks Relating to Our Busines

Health issues and litigation relating to machiningand manufacturing of beryllium-containing products could significantly reduce
demand for our products, limit our ability to operate and cause us to pay material amounts in respeot product liability claims.

If exposed to respirable beryllium fumes,tdus powder, some individuals may demonstratdlargé reaction to beryllium and may
later develop a chronic lung disease known as éhitmeryllium disease, or CBD. Some people who ggrtbsed with CBD do not develop
clinical symptoms at all. In others, the diseaselead to scarring and damage of lung tissue, ngudinical symptoms that include shortness
of breath, wheezing and coughing. Severe case8Dbf&n cause disability or death.

Further, some scientists claim there is ewigeof an association between beryllium exposuddamy cancer, and certain standard-setting
organizations have classified beryllium and bewpflicompounds as human carcinogens.

The health risks relating to exposure to tiem have been, and will continue to be, a sigmifit issue confronting the beryllium-
containing products industry. The health risks esged with beryllium have resulted in product lidp claims, employee and third-party
lawsuits and increased levels of scrutiny by feldstate, foreign and international regulatory auities of us and our customers. Concerns
over CBD and other potential adverse health effed&ting to beryllium, as well as concerns regagdiotential liability from the use of
beryllium, may discourage our customers’ use oftmryllium-containing products and significantlyluee demand for our products.

One of our subsidiaries, Brush Wellman, éeefendant in proceedings in various state and &deurts brought by plaintiffs alleging that
they have contracted CBD or other lung conditiona aesult of exposure to beryllium. Plaintiffslirse persons employed by Brush
Wellman, contractors at Brush Wellman’s facilitee®d its customers and users of beryllium-contaipirggiucts, and their family members.
As of March 31, 2004, there were 14 beryllium-rethtlaims pending in which Brush Wellman is a ddéam, three of which are putative
class actions. All but one of these actions areeailly covered under varying levels of pre-existimgurance coverage through third-party
carriers, although we may not be able to collelty fon our insurance coverage. Approximately 20%wf insurance coverage for our pent
beryllium-related claims is provided through vasayndicates of Lloyd’s of London (now reinsurerbtigh Equitas Holdings Limited) and
other London insurance market companies, some osehames are or may become insolvent. If our amear carriers are insolvent or
become insolvent, we may become directly respom$dsl payments relating to product liability claimehich could divert funds from other
intended purposes, including capital expenditurestiter operating requirements.

Unfavorable results in those cases couldecasgdo pay amounts in respect of these proceedimisause our insurance costs to rise,
which could materially affect our results of op@as. While we are unable to predict the outcomthefcurrent or future CBD proceedings
based upon currently known facts and assumingatdiiity of insurance, except for the three putearclass actions described under
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis and Finar€@idition and Results of Operations — Legal Prdoess,” we do not believe that
resolution of any one of these proceedings willchawmaterial adverse
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effect on our financial condition or cash flow.dddition, continued or increased adverse mediarageerelating to our beryllium-containing
products could damage our reputation or cause reaee in demand for beryllium-containing produEtsther, an unfavorable outcome or
settlement of a pending beryllium case or additi@derse media coverage could encourage the cooement of additional similar
litigation. We are unable to predict the outcoméitafation that is pending and cannot estimatematential exposure to unasserted product
liability claims.

We are currently self-insured for product liability claims based on exposure to beryllium after July@21, and we may incur material
losses from those claims.

Although we have varying levels of insuragogerage from insurance carriers for product ligbdlaims based on exposure to beryllium
for most periods prior to July 2001, we are seffuired for product liability claims based on expestar beryllium after July 2001 and for a
short period in the 1980s. We may not be able dwide adequate coverage against all potentialliiegsi. We may incur significant losses
from claims for which we are self-insured.

Our bertrandite ore mining and our manufacturing operations and our customers’ businesses are subject extensive health and
safety regulations that impose, and will continued impose, significant costs and liabilities, and fure regulation could increase those
costs and liabilities or effectively prohibit production or use of beryllium-containing products.

We and our customers are subject to lawslaggg worker exposure to beryllium. Standardse®posure to beryllium are under review
by various governmental and private standard-ggtinganizations. One such review is being conduloietthe United States Occupational
Safety and Health Administration, which has comneeha rulemaking process to decide whether to rétasrirrent standards for workers
exposed to beryllium. Those reviews may result aravstringent worker safety standards, which mggiicantly increase our costs of
production. More stringent worker safety standan@dy also cause users of beryllium-containing pr&gtachoose alternative materials or
otherwise reduce demand for berylliwontaining products, which could reduce our satekravenue. Further, production or use of beryll
may be effectively prohibited, at least for somplaations, if worker safety standards were inceglsignificantly, which would cause us to
shut down a portion or all of our operations relgtio beryllium-containing materials. Present amdrie environmental regulations could also
impair our customers’ ability and willingness teuwsur beryllium-containing products.

Our bertrandite ore mining and our manufacturing operations are subject to extensive environmental regations that impose, and
will continue to impose, significant costs and liallities on us, and future regulation could increaséhese costs and liabilities or prevent
production of beryllium-containing products.

We are subject to a variety of governmerggliations relating to the environment, includihgse relating to our handling of hazardous
materials and air and wastewater emissions. Sowispemental laws impose substantial penalties forxaompliance. Others, such as the
federal Comprehensive Environmental Response, Cosagien, and Liability Act, impose strict, retrogetand joint and several liability
upon entities responsible for releases of hazardobstances. Bertrandite ore mining is also suljeektensive governmental regulation on
matters such as permitting and licensing requirésygtant and wildlife protection, reclamation aedtoration of mining properties, the
discharge of materials into the environment andeffects that mining has on groundwater quality awdilability. If we fail to comply with
present and future environmental laws and reguiatiove could be subject to liabilities or our opierss could be interrupted. In addition,
future environmental laws and regulations couldrigsour ability to expand our facilities or exttaour bertrandite ore deposits. They could
also require us to acquire costly equipment ontaii other significant expenses in connection withbusiness, which would increase our
costs of production.

We have recently incurred significant losses, and @may not be able to sustain profitability if we afin it.

We have not generated an annual operatirfg pinoce 2000. Our operating losses for 2003, 280@ 2001 were approximately
$9.3 million, $22.8 million and $14.1 million, resgively. Although we have taken
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steps under our business strategy to improve ceratipg performance, those measures may not rieguibfitability, or, if they do result in
profitability, that trend may not continue. If wailfto establish profitable operations and contitiucur losses, the price of our common
shares may fall.

We have implemented strategic initiativesigiesd to improve our operating performance. We matybe able to successfully implement
or realize the expected benefits of any of thog&tives or sustain improvements made to date nvVlg not meet our strategic goals or su
profitability if we fail to achieve the goals ofdke initiatives.

Our customers are subject to significant fluctuatios as a result of the cyclical nature of their indstries and their sensitivity to general
economic conditions, which could adversely affecheir demand for our products and reduce our sales.

A substantial number of our customers arhéntelecommunications and computer, and autometeeronics industries. Each of those
industries is cyclical in nature, influenced byabination of factors, including, among other tiipgeriods of economic growth or recess
strength or weakness of the United States doHarstrength of the automotive electronics and caerpodustries and the rate of construction
of telecommunications infrastructure equipment.

The demand for our products is generallycaéfe by macroeconomic fluctuations in the globanexnies in which we sell our products.
The United States and other world markets haveresqpeed an economic downturn in recent years, whatha significant negative impact
our customers’ financial performance, which in thas had a significant negative impact on our fongrperformance. The severity and
duration of this downturn could negatively affeat dinancial performance. Future economic downtustagnant economies or global
currency fluctuations could also negatively affegt financial performance.

In addition, a disruption or downturn in tiedlecommunications and computer or automotive edaat industries could negatively impact
demand for our products and reduce our sales.nstarice, bulk product sales into the underseasot@iunications market, which was our
largest market segment for bulk products as regast?000, began to decline in the second hald6fzand were minimal in 2002 due to the
severe reduction in the number of new undersea fipgc line installation projects throughout thend.

Our business is dependent on continued dapieanding by the telecommunications and computdustries, and a decrease in capital
spending for infrastructure and equipment couldcafbur revenue more than we currently expect.lfdaimess could be exposed to
unexpected or extended downturns in capital speneihich reduce demand for our products and theretbyce our sales. In addition, a
decrease in military, aerospace or defense-refgtedding could also reduce demand for our products.

The availability of competitive substitute materiak for beryllium-containing products may reduce ourcustomers’ demand for these
products and reduce our sales.

In certain product applications, we compeitfywanufacturers of non-beryllium-containing prothj including organic composites, metal
alloys or composites, titanium and aluminum. Owtomers may choose to use substitutes for bendtiamaining products in their products
for a variety of reasons, including, among otha&rgh, the lower costs of those substitutes, théthaad safety concerns relating to these
products and the risk of litigation relating to ylium-containing products. If our customers usbgstiiutes for beryllium-containing products
in their products, the demand for our products ehegrease, which could reduce our sales.

We may not be able to complete our acquisition sttagy or successfully integrate acquired businesses.

Although we have not been an active acquiror inpthgt, we intend to pursue further growth throughacquisition of assets or compai
involved in the engineered materials industry andinely review acquisition opportunities. While Wwelieve that there are available a nur
of potential acquisition candidates that would ctempent our businesses, we currently have no agmesmenderstandings or arrangemen
acquire any specific business or material assetscanot predict whether we will be successfullirsping any acquisition opportunities or
what the consequences of any acquisition would-bture acquisitions may involve the expenditursighificant funds and management
time. Depending upon




the nature, size and timing of future acquisitiome,may be required to raise additional financimgich may not be available to us on
acceptable terms. Further, we may not be abledoessfully integrate any acquired business withexisting businesses or recognize any
expected advantages from any completed acquisition.

We conduct our sales and distribution operations o worldwide basis and are subject to the risks assiated with doing business
outside the United States.

We sell to customers outside of the Unitemtest from our United States and international djzers. Shipments to customers outside of
the United States accounted for approximately 31#%osales in 2003, 28% in 2002 and 28% in 200&.aMticipate that international
shipments will account for a significant portionafr sales for the foreseeable future. Revenue fromUnited States operations (principally
Europe and the Pacific Rim) amounted to approxim&2% of our sales in 2003, 19% in 2002 and 18%0@1. There are a number of risks
associated with international business activiiieduding:

« burdens to comply with multiple and potentially fiaing foreign laws and regulations, includingpext requirements, tariffs and other
barriers, environmental health and safety requirémand unexpected changes in any of these fa

« difficulty in obtaining export licenses from the ithd States government;
« political and economic instability and disruptions;
« potentially adverse tax consequences due to oyengpr differing tax structures; and

« fluctuations in currency exchange rates.

Fluctuations in currency exchange rates, partiufar the euro and the yen, have impacted ourssatargins and profitability in the pa
The fair value of our liability relating to outsi@ing foreign currency contracts was $2.9 milliolbacember 31, 2003, indicating that the
average hedge rates were unfavorable compareé tacthal year-end market exchange rates. Additigrfateign and international
regulations have also impacted our sales, margidgpeofitability in the past. See also “— Healthues and litigation relating to machining
and manufacturing of beryllium-containing productsild significantly reduce demand for our produbitsit our ability to operate and cause
us to pay material amounts in respect of prodadility claims” and “—Our bertrandite ore mining and our manufacturingrapons and ot
customers’ businesses are subject to extensivénterad safety regulations that impose, and willticwre to impose, significant costs and
liabilities, and future regulation could increakege costs and liabilities or effectively prohiibduction or use of beryllium-containing
products.” Further, any of these risks could camim the future.

The availability and prices of some raw materials w use in our manufacturing operations fluctuate, ad increases in raw material
costs can increase our operating costs.

We manufacture engineered materials usingusiprecious and non-precious metals, includind,gilver, palladium, platinum, copper
and nickel. The availability of and prices for tagaw materials are subject to volatility and aftuenced by worldwide economic conditio
speculative action, world supply and demand balgriogentory levels, availability of substitute ralst the United States dollar exchange
rate, production costs of United States and foremnpetitors, anticipated or perceived shortagesotimer factors. Decreased availability and
fluctuating prices of precious and non-preciousatsethat we use in our manufacturing can increas®perating costs. For example, prices
for copper have recently reached eight-year higiestd, among other things, increased Chinese densduaild the market price for precious
metals increase by more than 15% from the pricd3emember 31, 2003, the additional pre-tax cosston an annual basis would be
approximately $0.2 million. Further, we maintaimsoprecious metals on a consigned inventory bakis.owners of the precious metals
charge a fee that fluctuates based on the marlcet pf those metals and other factors. A signifiéaarease in the market price of precious
metals or the consignment fee could increase oantiing costs, which could increase our operatirsgsc
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Because we experience seasonal fluctuations in @ales, our quarterly results will fluctuate, and ow annual performance will be
affected by those fluctuations.

Because many of our European and automoli@gtrenics customers slow or cease operations gltin@ summer months, we have
generally had weaker demand in the quarters endiBgptember compared to the quarters ending ichdune and December. We expect
this seasonal pattern to continue, which causesjwanterly results to fluctuate. If our revenueidgrany quarter were to fall below the
expectations of investors or securities analystsshare price could decline, perhaps significatdiyfavorable economic conditions, lower
than normal levels of demand and other occurreimcary of the other quarters could also harm owrailing results, which may cause our
stock price to decline.

Natural disasters, equipment failures, work stoppags and other unexpected events may lead our custora¢o curtail production or
shut down their operations.

Our customers’ manufacturing operations algext to conditions beyond their control, inclugliraw material shortages, natural disasters,
interruptions in electrical power or other energwices, equipment failures, work stoppages dugtrikes or lockouts, particularly those
affecting the automotive industry, and other unexge events. Any of those events could also afftredr suppliers to our customers. In ei
case, those events could cause our customersttil guioduction or to shut down a portion or alltbéir operations, which could reduce their
demand for our products and reduce our sales.

Unexpected events and natural disasters at our minuld increase the cost of operating our business.

A portion of our production costs at our mave fixed regardless of current operating lev@ls: operating levels are subject to conditions
beyond our control that may increase the cost afmgifor varying lengths of time. These conditiamdude, among other things, fire, natural
disasters, pit wall failures and ore processingigka. Our mining operations also involve the hawgdéind production of potentially explosive
materials. It is possible that an explosion coelslit in death and injuries to employees and othedsmaterial property damage to us and
third parties. Any explosion could expose us toesg® publicity or liability for damages and mathyiadversely affect our operations. Any
these factors could increase our cost of operations

Equipment failures and other unexpected events atup facilities may lead to manufacturing curtailments or shutdowns.

The manufacturing processes that take plaoaii mining operation, as well as in our manufantyfacilities, depend on critical pieces of
equipment. This equipment may, on occasion, b@bservice because of unanticipated failure, amdesequipment is not readily available
replaceable. In addition to equipment failures, fagilities are also subject to the risk of lose do unanticipated events such as fires,
explosions or other disasters. For example, in E0R&y piece of equipment for Alloy Products wamsgerarily out of service due to
equipment failure, resulting in a slight reductiorproductivity for a short period of time befofeetequipment could be repaired. Material
plant shutdowns or reductions in operations coalarhour ability to fulfill our customerglemands, which could harm our sales and caus
customers to find other suppliers. Further, rentemtizof any interruption in production capabilityamrequire us to make large capital
expenditures that may have a negative effect opmfitability and cash flows. Our business int@tian insurance may not cover all of the
lost revenues associated with interruptions inmanufacturing capabilities.

Many of our manufacturing facilities are dependenton single source energy suppliers, and interruptioin energy services may cause
manufacturing curtailments or shutdowns.

Many of our manufacturing facilities dependane source for electric power and for natural §as example, Utah Power is the sole
supplier of electric power to the processing facilor our mining operations in Utah. A significanterruption in service from our energy
suppliers due to equipment failures, terrorismror ether cause may result in substantial lossesatieanot fully covered by our business
interruption insurance. Any substantial unmitigat@erruption of our operations due to these camlit could harm our ability to meet our
customers’ demands and reduce our sales.

11




If the price of electrical power, fuel or other enegy sources increases, our operating expenses coitdrease significantly.

We have 16 milling and manufacturing factiand a mining operation, which depend on eledtpiower, fuel or other energy sources.
See “Business — Properties.” Our operating expeasesensitive to changes in electricity prices famdiprices, including natural gas prices.
Prices for electricity and natural gas can fluctuaidely with availability and demand levels froither users. During periods of peak usage,
supplies of energy may be curtailed, and we mayadable to purchase energy at historical markesraVvhile we have some long-term
contracts with energy suppliers, we are exposdlictuations in energy costs that can affect oomdpction costs. Although we enter into
forward fixed price supply contracts for naturas @and electricity for use in our operations, thosetracts are of limited duration and do not
cover all of our fuel or electricity needs. Pricerieases in fuel and electricity costs could ineeeaur cost of operations.

We have a limited number of manufacturing facilities, and damage to those facilities could interruptur operations, increase our costs
of doing business and impair our ability to deliverour products on a timely basis.

Some of our facilities are interdependent.iRstance, our manufacturing facility in EImorehi@relies on our mining operation for its
supply of beryllium hydroxide used in productionmbst of its beryllium-containing materials. Additially, our Shoemakersville,
Pennsylvania, Fremont, California and Tucson, Ar&manufacturing facilities are dependent on mateproduced by our Elmore, Ohio
manufacturing facility, and our Wheatfield, New ¥ananufacturing facility is dependent on our BuffaNew York manufacturing facility.
See “Business — Properties.” The destruction oswtle of any of our manufacturing facilities or ouine for a significant period of time as a
result of fire, explosion, act of war or terrori@mother natural disaster or unexpected event migyriipt our manufacturing capabilities,
increase our capital expenditures and our costi®ioy business and impair our ability to deliver products on a timely basis. In such an
event, we may need to resort to an alternativecgoof manufacturing or to delay production, whidlld increase our costs of doing
business. Our property damage and business intemupsurance may not cover all of our potentisises and may not continue to be
available to us on acceptable terms, if at all.

The markets for our beryllium-containing and non-bayllium-containing products are experiencing rapid changes in technology.

We operate in markets characterized by rgmlanging technology and evolving customer speatifbns and industry standards. New
products may quickly render an existing producioddte and unmarketable. For example, we used wugmberyllium-copper alloys that
were used in the production of some golf club hehdwever, these beryllium-copper alloy club headsno longer produced by any of our
customers. Our growth and future results of openatdepend in part upon our ability to enhancetiegiproducts and introduce newly
developed products on a timely basis that confarprévailing and evolving industry standards, noeetxceed technological advances in the
marketplace, meet changing customer specificatictieve market acceptance and respond to our danpeproducts.

The process of developing new products caed@nologically challenging and requires the aam®ianticipation of technological and
market trends. We may not be able to introduce prducts successfully or do so on a timely basiselfail to develop new products that
are appealing to our customers or fail to develmupcts on time and within budgeted amounts, we bgaynable to recover our significant
research and development costs.

If we cannot deliver products that meet our customedefined specifications in a profitable and timelymanner, our sales may be
reduced.

Our ability to generate future sales depanms our ability to manufacture and supply hightgieeered materials that meet customer-
defined specifications on a timely basis. If welinbigher costs than anticipated when we pricepoaducts, our gross margins on those
products will decrease, and they may not be astabdé as expected. In addition, if we are unablddliver our products as required by the
terms of our product sales contracts, our customenscancel those contracts. In that event, we nmighrecover
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costs that we incurred for research and developrpendluction and otherwise, and we may incur agid#l costs as contractual penalties. In
the year 2000, demand for our alloy strip prodestseeded our production capabilities, and, aswdtres®me of our customers were forced to
obtain materials from alternative suppliers. If fai# to meet a delivery deadline, or a customeeduines that the products we deliver do not
meet its specifications, we may have to reducetloe we can charge for our products, or we malaide to pay damages to the customer.

Our lengthy and variable sales and development cyelmakes it difficult for us to predict if and whena new product will be sold to
customers.

Our sales and development cycle, which igtréod from the generation of a sales lead or peauct idea through the development of
the product and the recording of sales, may tylyicake up to two or three years, making it verfficlilt to forecast sales and results of
operations. Our inability to accurately predict timing and magnitude of sales of our products @@ffect our ability to meet our customers’
product delivery requirements or cause our residiloperations to suffer if we incur expenses iragtipular period that do not translate into
sales during that period, or at all. In additidrege failures would make it difficult to plan futurapital expenditure needs and could cause us
to fail to meet our cash flow requirements.

Our beryllium-containing and non-beryllium-containi ng products are deployed in complex applications ahmay have errors or
defects that we find only after deployment.

Our products are highly complex, designebaaleployed in complicated applications and mayainundetected defects, errors or
failures. Although our products are generally téstaring manufacturing, prior to deployment, they only be fully tested when deployed in
specific applications. For example, we sell beayiicopper alloy strip products in a coil form to sooustomers, who then stamp the alloy
its specific purpose. On occasion, it is not usiith customer stamps the alloy that a defect imltbg is detected. Consequently, our
customers may discover errors after the produats baen deployed. The occurrence of any defects;senr failures could result in
installation delays, product returns, terminatiébreantracts with our customers, diversion of owwogrces, increased service and warranty
costs and other losses to us or to our customeradusers. Any of these occurrences could alsdtieghe loss of or delay in market
acceptance of our products and could damage outatimn, which could reduce our sales.

Future terrorist attacks and other acts of violenceor war may directly harm our operations.

Future terrorist attacks or other acts of violeacevar may directly impact our physical faciliti¢sor example, our Elmore, Ohio facility
located near and derives power from a nuclear pglegrt, which could be a target for a terrorisaeitt In addition, future terrorist attacks,
related armed conflicts or prolonged or increasedibns in the Middle East or other regions ofwloeld could cause consumer confidence
and spending to decrease, thereby decreasing deioracmhsumer goods that contain our products.Heuytwhen United States forces are
involved in active hostilities or largsecale deployments, defense spending tends to foous on meeting the physical needs of the troaps
planned expenditures on weapons and other systempbrating our products may be reduced or defeiay of these occurrences could
also increase volatility in the United States amtldwide financial markets, which could negativitypact our sales.

Our expenditures for post-retirement pension obligéions could be materially higher than we have predited if our underlying
assumptions prove to be incorrect.

We provide defined benefit pension plansligitde employees. Our pension expense and ourinedjgontributions to our pension plans
are directly affected by the value of plan asgéts projected rate of return on plan assets, theabiate of return on plan assets and the
actuarial assumptions we use to measure our deffi@eefit pension plan obligations, including thierat which future obligations are
discounted to a present value, or the discount Fatepension accounting purposes, we assumed@a @@ of return on pension plan assets.
We decreased the discount rate to 6.375% at Deae3ib2003 from 6.75% at December 31, 2002, 7.1a6%ecember 31, 2001 and 8.0%
at December 31, 2000.
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Lower investment performance of our pensilam @ssets resulting from a decline in the stockkatacould significantly increase the
deficit position of our plans. Should the assets @a average return less than 9.0% over tims likely that future pension expenses would
increase. The actual return on our plan assetd@&9%6 in 2003 and the ten-year average return geasfend 2003 was 7.9%.

We establish the discount rate used to déterthe present value of the projected and accusulilzenefit obligation at the end of each
year based upon the available market rates for dugitity, fixed income investments. A lower discotate would raise the future pens
expense. We estimate that the change in the discatenand other actuarial assumptions and valstiombined with the amortization of
prior differences between actual and expected teuiill result in a $1.0 million increase in thet mgpense from our pension plan in 2004
over 2003 with the 2005 expense estimated to tediional $1.1 million higher than the 2004 experifthe expected rate of return
assumption was changed by 50 basis points (0.508akk other pension assumptions remained the sdi@@004 projected expense would
change by approximately $0.5 million. If the DecemB1, 2003 discount rate were reduced by 25 Ipadigs (0.25%) and all other pension
assumptions remained the same, the 2004 pensiemgxpvould increase by approximately an additiéz8 million.

Based on current guidelines, assumptionseatithates, including stock market prices and istet@es, we anticipate that we may be
required to make a cash contribution of approxitge®é.7 million to our pension plan in 2004. If cturrent assumptions and estimates are
not correct, a contribution in years beyond 2004 magreater than the projected 2004 contribution.

In addition, we cannot predict whether chaggnarket or economic conditions, regulatory chargreother factors will increase our
pension expenses or our funding obligations, divgrfiunds we would otherwise apply to other uses.

Our expenditures for post-retirement health benefis could be materially higher than we have predicted our underlying assumptions
prove to be incorrect.

We also provide posetirement health benefits to eligible employees: @tiree health expense is directly affectediayassumptions w
use to measure our retiree health plan obligatioetjding the assumed rate at which health casésaowill increase and the discount rate L
to calculate future obligations. For retiree healticounting purposes, we decreased the assumedt kaltéch health care costs will increase
for the next year to 8.0% at December 31, 2003 f8dbfo at December 31, 2002. In addition, we hagerasd that this health care cost
increase trend rate will decline to 6.0% by 200& héve used the same discount rates for our rét@akh plans that we use for our pension
plan accounting.

Assumed health care cost trend rates have a signifeffect on the amounts reported for the healtk plans. A 1.0% increase in assu
health care cost trend rates would have incredsegdst-employment benefits included among théliligls in our balance sheet by
$2.4 million at December 31, 2003.

In addition, we cannot predict whether chaggnarket or economic conditions, regulatory charagreother factors will further increase
our retiree health care expenses or obligationgrting funds we would otherwise apply to otherause

Our tax position may create volatility in our net income, and our ability to use our net operating Iascarryforwards and alternative
minimum tax credits may be impaired.

At December 31, 2003, we had a tax deferssétaof approximately $10.6 million relating toeaftative minimum tax credits and
approximately $32.2 million of net operating lossrgforwards. We recently evaluated all of our defd tax assets for impairment due to our
recent operating losses and recorded valuatiowalioes of $7.2 million in 2003, with $5.3 millioharged to expense and $1.9 million
charged to other comprehensive income, and $27l@min 2002, with $19.9 million charged to experend $7.3 million charged to other
comprehensive income. If we generate a domestitagprerofit in subsequent periods, the valuatidovednce will be reversed against the
federal tax expense in the current period, resmitirhigher net income and net income per sharéhrperiod. If we achieve and sustain
profitability, significant portions or all of themaining valuation allowance may be reversed badkdome.
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If we generate domestic pre-tax losses in subseéqueginds, a federal tax benefit will not be re@atdnd the valuation allowance recorded
against the net deferred tax assets will incréHsis.would result in a larger net loss and net [gssshare for the period versus a comparable
period when a favorable tax benefit was recordetthelse factors were to occur and our operatingltesvere affected, it would impair our
ability to use our net operating loss carryforwamdd alternative minimum tax credits.

A major portion of our bank debt consists of varialle-rate obligations, which subjects us to interestte fluctuations.

Our credit facilities are secured by our workingital, and we have other term loans secured byt peoperty and equipment, and, in ¢
instance, some export accounts receivable. Ouringapital line-of-credit and term loans are vilgarate obligations, which expose us to
interest rate risks. If interest rates increase delt service obligations on our variable-rateeltédness would increase even if the amount
borrowed remained the same, resulting in a deciieamgr net income. We have developed a hedgingrar to manage the risks associated
with interest rate fluctuations, but our programymat effectively eliminate all of the financial gasure associated with interest rate
fluctuations. We currently have instruments in pl#itat have the effect of fixing the interest matea portion of our outstanding debt for
various time periods up to five years. See “Manag@ta Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditand Results of Operations Market
Risk Disclosures” and Note G to our audited comsaéid financial statements included elsewhereignpitospectus.

We may be unable to access the financial markets davorable terms.

The inability to raise capital on favorable teriparticularly during times of uncertainty in thedincial markets, could impact our ability
sustain and grow our business and would increaseagpital costs. We rely on access to financialkeisras a significant source of liquidity
for capital requirements not satisfied by cash amdchor operating cash flows. Our access to theiahmarkets could be impaired by varit
factors, including:

« changes in credit markets that reduce availablditope the ability to renew existing liquidity fdities on acceptable terms;
* a deterioration of our credit;

« extreme volatility in our markets that increasesgiraor credit requirements;

« a material breakdown in our risk management proegu

« the collateral pledge of substantially all of ogsets in connection with our existing indebtednessch limits our flexibility in raising
additional capital; an

« the occurrence of material adverse changes inusiness that restrict our ability to access ouwridliy facilities.

All of these factors except a material breakdowounrisk management procedures have impactedooessa to the financial markets over
past five years. A lack of necessary capital arsthcaserves could adversely impact our accesftfirthncial markets. During 2001, our
credit ratings from Standard & Poor’'s and Moodyigdstor Service dropped from BBB and Baa3 to#8-Ba3, respectively. In consultat
with these rating organizations, in July 2002, eguested that our rating be discontinued. Whildabl of a credit rating has not impacted
our access to the financial markets to date, it d@mgo in the future.

The terms of our indebtedness may restrict our abity to pursue our growth and acquisition strategies

The terms of our credit facilities restrictrability to, among other things, borrow and makestments, acquire other businesses, make
capital expenditures and declare dividends on ommgon shares. In addition, the terms of our indéies require us to satisfy specified
financial covenants. Our ability to comply with sieeprovisions depends, in part, on factors oveclwiie may have no control. These
restrictions could adversely affect our abilitypiarsue our growth and acquisition strategies. Itweach any of our financial covenants or
to make scheduled payments, our creditors coulthreall
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amounts owed to them to be immediately due andijj@yand we may not have sufficient available futtdsepay the amounts due, in which
case we may be required to seek legal protectmmn fsur creditors.

We are subject to fluctuations in currency exchangeates, which may negatively affect our financial prformance.

A significant portion of our sales is conductednternational markets and priced in currencies rotihan the United States dollar. Reve
from non-United States operations (principally ag@nd the Pacific Rim) amount to approximately 2#%ur sales in 2003, 19% in 2002
and 18% in 2001. Significant fluctuations in cuggwalues relative to the United States dollar megatively affect our financial
performance. While we may hedge our currency tretitsss to mitigate the impact of currency priceatiity on our earnings, any hedging
activities may not be successful.

Our holding company structure causes us to rely ofunds from our subsidiaries.

We are a holding company and conduct subathnall our operations through our subsidiarias.a holding company, we are dependent
upon dividends or other intercompany transferauafié from our subsidiaries. The payment of divideanld other payments to us by our
subsidiaries may be restricted by, among othegthiapplicable corporate and other laws and reguitagreements of the subsidiaries and
the terms of our current and future indebtedness.

Risks Related to This Offerin
Our share price is volatile, and you may not be aklto resell your common shares at or above the offeg price.

The market price and trading volume of our comntwaras has been subject to volatility, and thisdneay continue. In particular, tradi
volume historically has been low, and the marketepof our common shares has increased significamtlecent months. The value of our
common shares may decline regardless of our opgrprformance or prospects. Factors affectingmarket price include:

* our perceived prospects;

« variations in our operating results and whethehase achieved our key business targets;

« the limited number of our common shares availabteptirchase or sale in the public markets;

« sales or purchases of large blocks of our commaresh

« changes in, or our failure to meet, our earningisneses;

 changes in securities analysts’ ratings and recamaténs;

« differences between our reported results and targected by investors and securities analysts;
e announcements of new contracts by us or our cotopsgti

« market reaction to any acquisitions, joint venturestrategic investments announced by us or ompetitors;
« developments in the financial markets; and

* general economic, political or stock market corodisi.

The general economic, political and stock markeddions that may affect the market price of oumeoaon shares are beyond our control.
The market price of our common shares at any pdaticime may not remain the market price in theife.

Our ability to issue preferred stock in the futurecould adversely affect the rights of holders of oucommon shares.

Our board of directors is authorized, withsliareholder approval, to issue up to 5,000,00€estaf preferred stock in one or more series
and to fix the rights, preferences, privileges egxlrictions granted to
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or imposed upon the preferred stock, includingngtights, dividend rights, conversion rights, terof redemption, liquidation preference,
sinking fund terms and the number of shares conisiif any series or the designation of a series.@ard of directors can, without
shareholder approval, issue preferred stock witmgand conversion rights that could adverselgetfthe voting power of the holders of our
common shares. Any preferred stock issued wouldlralsk senior to our common shares as to rights ligaidation, winding-up or
dissolution.

We do not anticipate declaring any cash dividendsroour common shares.

Under our credit facilities, we may not deelar pay any dividends or make any other distiimst with respect to our common shares,
except that we are permitted to declare and pagelids that are payable solely in common sharesalééemay not redeem or repurchase
common shares. If we were to declare or pay a bitehi dividend or redeem or repurchase our comrhares, our creditors could declare a
default and accelerate our indebtedness underredit €acilities, as well as foreclose on the asseturing those facilities. Accordingly, we
do not intend to declare or pay dividends or redeenepurchase any common shares while our cucredit facilities remain outstanding.
Our current policy is to retain all funds and eags for use in the operation and expansion of aainess.

The Ohio takeover statutes, our constituent documes and rights plan could deter, delay or prevent ahird party from acquiring us,
which could deprive you of an opportunity to obtaina takeover premium for our common shares.

We are subject to the Ohio statutes relatingpntrol share acquisitions, which restrict thdity of an acquiror to acquire a significant
amount of our outstanding common shares withoutestwdder approval, as well as Ohio’s merger mornamoistatute, which restricts the
ability of certain interested shareholders to dffeansactions involving us or our assets. Oucladiof incorporation provide that our board of
directors, without shareholder approval, may iaguéo 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock, whiatgnivertible in common shares, could
have the effect of delaying, deferring or prevegiinchange in control of our company. Our artioemcorporation also restrict some
transactions with related parties, which could &lgee the affect of delaying, deferring or preveqith change in control of our company. In
addition, we have a shareholder rights plan thdeugertain circumstances would significantly immghée ability of third parties to acquire
control of us without prior approval of our boarfddirectors. Together, these provisions may disagertransactions that otherwise could
provide for the payment of a premium over prevagilinarket prices for our common shares and coutdlatst the price that investor may be
willing to pay in the future for our common shares.
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

All statements set forth or incorporated éference in this prospectus that are not histomcahture are forward-looking statements
within the meaning of the Private Securities Litiga Reform Act of 1995. We have attempted to idgrfbrward-looking statements by
using such words as “anticipates,” “believes,” “¢dnontinue,” “could,” “estimates,” “expects,” “iends,” “may,” “plans,” “potential,”
“should” or “will” or other similar expressions. €be forward-looking statements, which are subedsks and uncertainties, and
assumptions about us, may include, among othegshrojections of our future financial performanaer anticipated growth strategies and
anticipated trends in our industry, including pdi@rgrowth opportunities, and the effects of l&igpn and future regulation. These statements
are only predictions based on our current expeetatand projections about future events. Becawsettorward-looking statements involve
risks and uncertainties, you should be aware Heaktare important factors that could cause owadcesults, level of activity, performance
achievements to differ materially from the resultsgl of activity, performance or achievementsresped or implied by these forward-
looking statements, including, but not limited to:

« health issues, litigation and regulation relatiogrining bertrandite ore and producing and usimylle@m-containing materials;
« our ability to achieve and sustain profitability;

« significant cyclical fluctuations in our customeksisinesses;

« the availability of competitive substitute matesiébr beryllium-containing materials;

* our ability to complete and integrate acquisitisnscessfully;

« risks associated with our international operations;

« the availability and prices of raw materials;

« seasonal fluctuations in our net sales;

« natural disasters, equipment failures, interrugionenergy supplies and other unexpected eveatsrthy affect our business or our
customer’ businesses

e increases in energy costs;

« rapid changes in technology, which may make owstig products obsolete;

« our ability to deliver products that are free ofat®s and meet our customers’ specifications;

« risks associated with our lengthy sales and devemp cycle;

« risks associated with terrorists attacks;

* risks associated with our pension and retiree hediligations;

« risks associated with our tax position;

« risks associated with our indebtedness and ouityatmlaccess the financial markets on favorablmse
« fluctuations in currency exchange rates; and

« our reliance on funds from our subsidiaries.

Although we believe that the expectationgertéd in the forward-looking statements are reablm we cannot guarantee our future
results, level of activity, performance or achieegin
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USE OF PROCEEDS

We estimate the net proceeds to us of oerioff to be approximately $  million, based miploe last reported sale price of our common
shares on , 2004 of $ per share, after deducting the estimated expeptsed to our offering and the portion of the

underwriting discount payable by us. We will natee any proceeds from the sale of common sharésebselling shareholders in this
offering.

We intend to use the net proceeds from digriofy to repay a portion of the amounts outstagdinder the credit facilities that are part of
the refinancing we completed in December 2003. Aamyaining net proceeds will be used for workingit@@nd general corporate purposes,
including capital expenditures, acquisitions ofibasses or assets and investments. We used theegofrom the refinancing to retire
existing debt and terminate an existing key offabak sheet obligation through the purchase ofioddased assets. Pending final use, we
may invest the net proceeds of our offering in shenm, investment grade, interest-bearing seesritr guaranteed obligations of the United
States or its agencies. Although we intend to usebatantial portion of the net proceeds of oueraffy to repay a portion of the amounts
outstanding under the credit facilities, we exgeanaintain sufficient liquidity for potential acigitions or investments because the paydown
of these credit facilities from the net proceedi gpriovide more borrowing availability.

Our current credit facilities will mature in 2008chare described in the notes to the consolidateaiéial statements included elsewhel
this document. We have not yet determined whicHitfacilities or combination of credit facilitiase will repay with a portion of the net
proceeds of our offering. These facilities are afale rate obligations, and as of May 7, 2004, we$86.1 million outstanding under these
facilities with a weighted average interest rat®.&P6. After the application of a portion of the peoceeds to repay amounts outstanding
under our credit facilities, the weighted averageriest rate on those facilities will be 5.53%.
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CAPITALIZATION

The following table sets forth our consol&thtapitalization as of April 2, 2004 on an actedis and on an “As Adjusted” basis. The “As
Adjusted” basis reflects our sale of 1,700,000 camshares at an assumed offering price of $ per share, the last reported sale price of
our common shares on , 200y afeducting underwriting discounts and commissiemd the estimated offering expenses
payable by us. The common shares to be outstaadli@gthis offering exclude 272,250 common shareswll issue if the underwriters
exercise their over-allotment option and 1,570,8@®&mon shares reserved for issuance upon the sgertoptions granted under our equity
compensation plans as of June 1, 2004.

You should read this table together with &sé&td Consolidated Financial Data,” “Managementscssion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” and our cadatéd financial statements and related notes dledielsewhere in this prospectus.

April 2, 2004

Actual As Adjusted

(Dollars in thousands,
except per share data)

(unaudited)
Cash $ 5,33
| |
Debt
Shor-term debt(1 23,80¢
Long-term debt(1] 84,29:
Total debi $ 108,10( $
Shareholder equity
Preferred stock, no par value; 5,000,000 shardmeméd; none issued
or outstanding — —
Common shares, no par value; 60,000,000 sharesragt;
23,170,333 shares issued, as adjL 96,80
Retained incom 184,91(
Common shares held in treasury, 6,303,079; adasstec (105,840
Other comprehensive income (lo (15,647
Other equity transactior 38
Total shareholde’ equity 160,27:
Total Capitalizatior $ 268,37: $
| |

(1) As described in “Use of Proceeds,” we intemdge a portion of the net proceeds from this wffgto repay a portion of the amounts
outstanding under our credit facilitie
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MARKET PRICE OF COMMON SHARES AND DIVIDENDS

Our common shares are traded on the New $tokk Exchange under the symbol “BW.” The followiadple shows for the periods
indicated the range of the high and low intra-dalgs prices per common share as reported by theekvStock Exchange.

Price Range of
Common Shares

High Low

Year Ended December 31, 200

First Quartel $14.28  $10.0(
Second Quarte 13.61 10.9(
Third Quartel 12.4( 6.7t
Fourth Quarte 8.0¢ 4.0¢
Year Ended December 31, 2003

First Quartel $620 $4.7¢
Second Quarte 8.9t 4.8t
Third Quartel 10.4¢ 7.5€
Fourth Quarte 15.7¢ 10.2¢
Year Ended December 31, 200

First Quarte! $21.8( $14.9¢
Second Quarter (through June 2, 2C 22.0C 15.3¢

On April 1, 2004, the closing price of our commdmaes as reported by the New York Stock Exchange$28.98 per share. We did not pay
any dividends in 2002 or 2003. We have no curnetenition to declare dividends on our common shiaréfse near term. Our current policy is
to retain all funds and earnings for use in therafi@n and expansion of our business, and ourtabdipay dividends is restricted by the tel
of our credit facilities.

DILUTION

Purchasers of our common shares offeredibyptiospectus will suffer immediate and substartilation in the net tangible book value
per share. Our net tangible book value as of Ahrl004 was approximately $140.4 million, or apimately $8.32 per common share. Net
tangible book value per share represents the anodtotal tangible assets less total liabilitiesjaded by the number of our common shares
outstanding as of April 2, 2004.

Dilution in net tangible book value per shegpresents the difference between the amounthaee paid by purchasers of our common
shares in this offering and the net tangible boalke per share of our common shares immediatedy tfis offering. After giving effect to o

sale of 1,700,000 common shares in this offerinrgnaassumed offering price of $ per shiwe]ast reported sale price of our common
shares on the New York Stock Exchange on , 2004, and after deduction of the estdainderwriting discounts and commissions
and estimated offering expenses payable by usyetuangible book value as of April 2, 2004 woulié been approximately $ million,
or$ per share. This represents an imriediarease in net tangible book value of $ per common share to existing shareholders anc
an immediate dilution of $ per common sharpurchasers of common shares in this offering.

Assumed public offering price per shi $

Net tangible book value per share as of April )£ 8.32

Increase in net tangible book val

Net tangible book value per share as of April )£28fter giving effect t
this offering

Dilution in net tangible book value per share tavrievestors

The foregoing does not take into accountirtilution to new investors that could occur uplomissuance of additional common shares.
The above discussion excludes 1,570,728 commoeshaserved for issuance upon the exercise ofraptinder our equity compensation
plans as of June 1, 2004.
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SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA
(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

The tables below set forth selected constdiifinancial data for the periods presented. Wivele the financial data for the years ended
December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 from our auditexh€ial statements included in this prospectus défeved the financial data for the
years ended 2000 and 1999 from our audited finhst@tements not included herein. The selectedatisiaded financial data for the quart:
ended April 2, 2004 and March 28, 2003 and as ofl p2004 are derived from our unaudited consakd financial statements included
elsewhere in this prospectus. The interim unauditetsolidated financial statements have been pedpan the same basis as the annual
audited financial statements and include, in thaiop of management, all adjustments, consistingasfal and recurring adjustments,
necessary to present fairly the data for such gerégmd may not necessarily be indicative of fulryesults.

Prospective investors should read the salemiasolidated financial data in conjunction witidnagement’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and consolidated financial statements and theadlabtes included elsewhere in this
prospectus.

First Quarter Ended

Year Ended December 31,

April 2, March 28,
2003 2002 2001 2000 1999 2004 2003
(unaudited)
Statement of Operations Data:
Net sales $401,04¢  $372,82¢  $472,56¢  $563,69(  $455,70° $125,86: $99,51¢
Cost of sale: 328,00¢ 324,93. 404,57- 444,95 363,77. 96,28¢ 82,40¢
Gross profit 73,03¢ 47,89° 67,99t 118,73¢ 91,93¢ 29,571 17,11:
Operating profit (loss (9,340 (22,844 (14,069 22,98¢ 10,55¢ 6,071 (2,039
Interest expens 3,35¢ 3,01( 3,321 4,652 4,17: 2,21¢ 77z
Income (loss) from continuing
operations before income tax (12,695 (25,85%) (17,396 18,33¢ 6,38t 3,85z (2,81))
Net income (loss $(13,22¢) $(35,609) $(10,279) $ 14,16 $ 6,43¢ $ 3,75¢ $(3,01¢)
| | | | | | I
Net income (loss) per common she
Basic $ (08) $ (215 $ (062 $ 087 $ 04 $ 0.2¢ $ (0.1%)
Diluted $ (08) $ (215 $ (062 $ 08 $ 04 $ 0.2 $ (0.1%)
Dividends per common sha — — $ 022 $ 048 $ 04¢ — —
Depreciation and amortizatic $ 20,73 $ 20,64C $21,60¢ $2266¢ $ 27,03 $ 5,75¢ $ 5,18¢
Capital expenditure $ 6,162 $ 524¢ $23,13( $21,30¢ $ 16,75¢ $ 1,35¢ $ 1,58
Mine development expenditur $ 157 $ 16e $ 154 $ 33z $ 28¢ $ 90 $ 101
At December 31,
2003 2002 2001 2000 1999 At April 2, 2004
(unaudited)
Balance Sheet Data
Working capital $ 85,14 $ 82,64 $110,89:  $143,38° $124,83: $ 94,727
Property and equipme
At cost $535,42: $476,28: $469,66.  $449,69°  $440,23: $536,44(
Cost less depreciation and amortizal $190,84t $152,54. $171,29¢  $170,46(  $170,93¢ $186,90¢
Total asset $371,61¢ $334,87¢ $403,65:  $452,50¢  $428,40t $387,50!
Other lon¢-term liabilities $ 64,09° $ 65,977 $ 62,47 $ 55,45: $ 53,83] $ 63,78¢
Long-term deb $ 85,75¢ $ 36,21¢ $ 47,25, $ 43,30¢ $ 42,30¢ $ 84,29:
Shareholder equity $153,57. $159,09: $214,35(  $229,90°  $220,63! $160,27-
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MANAGEMENT’'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL
CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis should bl i@aconjunction with “Selected Consolidated Finemd®ata” and our consolidated
financial statements and related notes includedvefere in this prospectus. Portions of this docurtteat are not statements of historical
current fact are forward-looking statements. Thiscdssion contains forward-looking statements thatlve risk and uncertainties, such as
statements of our plans, objectives, expectationsigtentions. The cautionary statements madeignptospectus should be read as applying
to all related forward-looking statements wheretrexy appear in this prospectus. Our actual resodtsld differ materially from those
anticipated in the forward-looking statements. feastthat could cause our actual results to diffextemially from those anticipated include
those discussed in “Risk Factors,” as well as thdseussed elsewhere. See “Risk Factors” and “Fadvaooking Statements.”

Overview

We are an integrated producer of engineerat@mals used in a variety of electrical, electeotihermal and structural applications. After
achieving record sales of $563.7 million in 2000, sales declined rapidly over the next two yeaamiy as a result of the collapse of the
global telecommunications and computer marketiglt lof the lower sales volumes, beginning in 2084 ,implemented various financial a
operational initiatives to sustain and improve cielv and to position ourselves to return to pifitity by broadening our market base,
increasing margins, controlling costs, improvingrkwog capital utilization and reducing debt.

Sales rebounded in 2003, growing $28.2 nmilbeer 2002, due in part to our efforts to broadenrevenue base by developing new
products and expanding our market penetration. SGr@gin in turn grew over $25.0 million in 2003iletthe operating loss was reduced by
$13.5 million. This leverage resulted from a conalion of an improved product mix, i.e., an incregsgales of higher margin products,
manufacturing efficiencies, cost control and otfaetors. The manufacturing efficiencies helpedipriove the margin contribution rate and
the manpower and other cost saving initiativesalytimplemented beginning in mid-2001 reduced 2003 manufacturing overhead by
$25.8 million from the 2001 level. Selling, geneaald administrative expenses and research andagereht expenses in 2003 were down an
additional $8.6 million from the annual expense fears earlier. Cost control programs continuedhdu2003, and manpower levels by year-
end 2003 were 27% lower than the peak level in 206& positive sales trend continued in 2004 &s duarter 2004 sales of $125.9 million
grew 26% over sales in the first quarter 2003. &margins improved from the higher volumes andeiased efficiencies, and as a result we
generated a $6.1 million operating profit in thestfiquarter 2004.

Working capital utilization improved through$6.9 million reduction in inventories in 2003exfa $14.8 million reduction in 2002. We
have established buffer inventories, which are wnfrgrocess inventories that can be quickly deptoiyeproduction if needed, for our most
constrained manufacturing operations. Properlyghesi buffer inventories help to maximize the pradurctime of the equipment that is mu
critical to our operations and allow for a moredicéive and efficient production cycle and inventéiow, thereby reducing our downstream
inventories. This in turn has contributed to fastestomer response times and an improvement imtoweturns. The accounts receivable
balance increased in 2003 due to the higher dalgshe average collection period was shorter #ttahe end of the prior year. Accounts
receivable and inventories increased in the fiustrter 2004 in support of and as a result of theemsed sales.

The working capital, margin and cost improees allowed us to reduce our total outstanding, dely leases and other off-balance sheet
obligations by $24.8 million in 2003 and $36.2 ioiti in 2002. In addition, late in the fourth quar2®03, we refinanced our debt on a long-
term basis. The new structure provides increasewWwmng capacity and extended maturity dates wioileering the projected financing costs
and required cash payments in 2004.
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Results of Operations

Annual Comparisons

2003 2002 2001

(Dollars in millions,
except per share data)

Net sales $401.( $372.¢ $472.€
Operating profit (loss 9.9 (22.¢) (14.7
Earnings (loss) per sha (0.80) (2.15) (0.62)

Sales of $401.0 million in 2003 grew 8% osales of $372.8 million in 2002 after having deetir21% in 2002 from sales in 2001.
Approximately half of the sales increase in 2003 wae to higher precious metal prices and favorfabéign currency translation effect. For
the year, domestic sales grew 3%, and internatgalak grew 19% as we aggressively pursued magkepiportunities overseas. Sales in ¢
quarter of 2003 were higher than the comparabletguiam 2002. The lower sales in 2002 as comparezD01 were caused mainly by the
significant decline in demand from the telecommatians and computer market that began in the segoader 2001 and continued
throughout that year. Demand for isolated applicetifrom this key market, which accounted for 35%ades in 2003, compared to 30% of
sales in 2002 and 42% of sales in 2001, increas#tkiearly portion of 2003 while the overall martemand started to show some
improvement in the fourth quarter. Sales into thmotive market, after improving slightly in 2062er 2001, declined slightly in 2003.
Sales for defense applications remained strongnduhiis time period, as did sales into the opticadia and magnetic head markets. Demand
from other key markets, including industrial compots and plastic tooling, remained weak througmthgority of 2003, although certain
sectors started to improve at the end of the yeaortion of the sales growth in 2003 was attrillésto market share gains and new product
development. Sales from both reportable segmentise-Metal Systems Group and the Microelectronicsur— improved in 2003 after
declining in 2002.

The sales order backlog entering 2004 wass®fllion compared to $57.7 million at the begimgiof 2003 and $91.1 million at the
beginning of 2002. Sales order entry rates impraomete fourth quarter 2003 and early in 2004. Lgaxks continued to be very short, and
have made improvements in our manufacturing pr@seasd inventory positions to more quickly resptmdur customers’ needs.

The gross margin of $73.0 million was 18%ales in 2003 compared to a gross margin of $4#l@m or 13% of sales, in 2002 and
$68.0 million, or 14% of sales, in 2001. Approxielgt89% of the sales increase in 2003 flowed thhaiaggross margin. In addition to the
increased margin due to the higher sales, grosgimianproved due to a favorable product mix, operatl improvements on the
manufacturing floor, foreign currency translatieankfits and manufacturing overhead cost reductidiasgins from both segments improved
in 2003 over 2002. The decline in gross margind@2from 2001 was caused by the significant dedfirsales volumes offset in part by a
favorable product mix and a reduction in manufantuoverhead and inventory valuation adjustments.

Selling, general and administrative expenseSG&A, were $68.8 million, or 17% of sales, 003; $61.3 million, or 16% of sales in
2002; and $75.3 million, or 16% of sales, in 20Differences in the amounts charged or crediteckpeese from movements in the legal
reserves and insurance recovery accounts caus2dnfilon of the increase in 2003 over 2002 and3$6illion of the decrease in 2002 from
2001. We negotiated legal settlements on varioassavolving chronic beryllium disease, or CBD,lelother cases were dismissed in 2003
and 2002. In addition, we have also received séfararable court rulings on our litigation duritige last two years. As a result of a court
ruling in 2002 in a case that we were not a partyve increased the recoverable portion on theaudéng insured legal claims that previot
were not fully recoverable. The application of thiing allowed for the potential recovery of thel famount of an insured claim from our
carriers in the event of a loss (whether by setleinor verdict) whereas prior to this ruling theqaat of the claim to be recovered was based
on the overlap of the insurance coverage periodiamalleged exposure period. Changes in the kegalve and insurance recoverable
charged to SG&A expense were limited to $0.2 millio 2003 while in 2002 changes in the
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legal reserve and recoverable accounts generatetia, i.e., reduction to expense, of $4.0 million2001, the comparable expense was
$2.3 million.

In addition to the impact of the legal reseand recoverable accounts, SG&A expenses werehigl2003 than 2002 due to an increase
in incentive compensation expense, as a resupefational improvements implemented in the yead,amincrease in costs under the
company-owned life insurance program, while thekeealollar caused a $1.2 million increase in tl@dtated value of the international
subsidiaries’ expenses. SG&A expenses in 2003iatdoded $0.6 million of the $6.0 million one-tinsharge associated with refinancing the
debt in 2003, as further explained under “— FinahBosition — Refinancing.3G&A manpower and other activity levels remainddtieely
unchanged in 2003 as compared to the latter h&l062. Cost saving initiatives and manpower redusti net of severance costs,
implemented in the second half of 2001 and in 2602sponse to the decrease in sales volume atgéedst reduce SG&A expenses in 2002
as compared to 2001. Offsetting a portion of tregsengs in 2002 was an increase in incentive cosgt@m expense as several operating
units achieved their objectives.

Research and development expenses, or R&E, $4&2 million in 2003, $4.3 million in 2002 anfl.$ million in 2001. R&D expenses
were approximately 1% of sales in each of the tlyeses. Overall R&D spending was reduced durinddtter half of 2001 as part of the cost
reduction initiatives and spending has remainedrdggly unchanged since that time. Approximatahp-thirds of the R&D spending
supports the Metal Systems Group and one-thirdatpghe Microelectronics Group.

Other-net expense was $9.3 million in 20@32$nillion in 2002 and $0.4 million in 2001 as #agense in both 2003 and 2002 included
significant one-time items. The 2003 expense inet@4.7 million of the $6.0 million refinancing chga as more fully described under “—
Financial Position — Refinancing.” In 2002, we reded asset impairment charges of $4.4 million icoadance with SFAS No. 144 that are
described in further detail in the segment disalesand Note C to the audited consolidated findstaaements included elsewhere in this
prospectus. In addition to the difference in theg®charges, other-net expense was higher in 2083ala combination of other factors.
Foreign exchange losses totaled $0.9 million in2€@@mpared to gains of $1.5 million in 2002 witle thfference attributable to the decline
the dollar’'s average value versus the euro, yerpandd sterling in 2003 compared to 2002. The dimexhvaluation of the stock-based
directors’ compensation plan was a $2.0 millionrsybhetween years. The valuation, and, therefoeeljability to us, is based upon the
number of shares outstanding and the current conghare price; in 2003, we recorded an expense.8fiillion due to the increase in the
share price of our common share while in 2002 wended income of $1.1 million due to the declinghea share price that year. Metal
financing fees were $0.4 million lower in 2003 thar2002, due to a decline in financed inventoryhand, while the bad debt expense as
as changes in the allowance for doubtful accouais $0.3 million higher in 2003 than in 2002.

In addition to the asset impairment charge (s— Critical Accounting Policies” and the notesour consolidated financial statements
included elsewhere in this prospectus), other-rpérse was higher in 2002 than in 2001 as a retalt$0.8 million decline in exchange
gains in 2002 compared to 2001, which was offsgtirt by lower metal financing fees and the elitioraof goodwill amortization due to tl
adoption of SFAS No. 142 in 2002. Other-net expatse includes amortization of intangible assed# @r loss on the disposal of fixed
assets, cash discounts and other non-operatingimand expense items.

The operating loss was $9.3 million in 2083%13.5 million improvement over the $22.8 millioss in 2002. The operating loss was
$14.1 million in 2001.

Interest expense was $3.4 million in 2003 parad to $3.0 million in 2002 and $3.3 million iB. Balance sheet debt increased by over
$50.0 million due to the purchase of previoushs&thassets as part of the fourth quarter 2003arfing and resulted in an increase in
interest expense of approximately $0.4 millionoPto the refinancing, average debt levels wereetow 2003 than in 2002, and the effective
interest rate was slightly higher. The 2002 expewae lower than 2001 due to a lower average debt #nd a lower effective interest rate.
Offsetting a portion of these benefits in 2002 wa®0.5 million decline in interest capitalized Bsaciation with long-term capital projects
from 2001.
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The loss before income taxes was $12.7 miiin2003, a $13.2 million improvement over 200BeTmprovement resulted from the
margin contribution on the increase in sales, areiise in margin contribution rate and continuedufacturing overhead control offset in
part by higher SG&A expenses and the impact obtietime charges. The 2002 loss before income @ix$85.9 million as compared to
$17.4 million in 2001 resulted primarily from thawer margins due to the significant drop in salelsimes, partially offset by overhead cost
reductions.

The 2003 income tax expense of $0.6 millimciuided a favorable tax provision of $4.7 milliamdaa deferred tax valuation allowance of
$5.3 million while the 2002 expense of $9.7 milliocluded a favorable provision of $10.2 milliondsm deferred tax valuation allowance of
$19.9 million. The 2001 tax benefit was $7.1 milli&\ valuation allowance was not required for 2001.

Prior to the recognition of the valuatioroathnces, tax benefit rates of 37.3%, 39.4% and’4®@re applied against the loss before
income taxes to calculate the favorable tax prowmsin 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The effetpercentage depletion and foreign
source income were the major causes of the difteebetween the effective and statutory ratesliftiree years. The relative impact of
percentage depletion and the company-owned lifgrémee program were the main differences betwee2@03 and 2002 effective rates.

The deferred tax valuation allowances wecenged in 2003 and 2002 in accordance with SFASIN8, “Accounting for Income Taxes.”
This statement requires a company to evaluateefesriged tax assets on its balance sheet for imgairim the event of recent operating losses.
This evaluation process is not based upon the fipegpiration date of the individual deferrals ather on the company’s ability to
demonstrate taxable income that will result inizatiion of those assets. As a result of a reviethénfourth quarter 2002, we determined that
the majority of our deferred tax assets were ingohand a valuation allowance was recorded with@a#8llion charged against expense and
$7.3 million to other comprehensive income withirmieholders’ equity. In 2003, the $5.3 million \ation allowance offset the deferred tax
assets that were created by the current year damnfiederal and various foreign tax benefits. The20et tax expense of $0.6 million,
therefore, represents the provision for state,llacd certain other foreign taxes, which were ndgject to a valuation allowance. An
additional $1.9 million valuation allowance was e against other comprehensive income in 2008dégrred tax assets associated with
the net charge to equity for the change in denreatair values and the accrued pension liabilige Slote | to the audited consolidated
financial statements included elsewhere in thispectus.

As a result of the preceding, the net loss $&3.2 million, or $0.80 per share, in 2003 coragddo $35.6 million, or $2.15 per share, in
2002 and $10.3 million, or $0.62 per share, in 2001

We aggregate our businesses into two redersggments — the Metal Systems Group and the Fliectronics Group. Our parent
company and other corporate expenses, as weleasptrating results from BEM Services, Inc. andsBrResources Inc., two wholly owned
subsidiaries, are not included in either segmedtaaa shown in the “All Other” column in the segmisults contained in Note M to the
audited consolidated financial statements inclugledwhere in this prospectus. BEM Services chaagaanagement fee for the services it
provides, primarily corporate, administrative aihfcial oversight, to the other businesses withincompany on a cost-plus basis. Brush
Resources sells beryllium hydroxide, produced thhoits Utah operations, to outside customers armisinesses within the Metal Systems
Group. The profitability within All Other declinegd 2003 as compared to 2002 as a result of ther$8lidn one-time charge associated with
the debt refinancing, the $4.2 million differenoeniovements in the legal reserve, the increadeeicdmpany-owned life insurance expense
and reduced profitability of Brush Resources pritpatue to lower production activity.

Metal Systems Grou

2003 2002 2001

(Dollars in millions)

Net sales $239.4 $227.¢ $295.%
Operating profit (loss (16.€) (37.9) (20.7
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The Metal Systems Group is the larger of our regiidet segments, accounting for approximately 60%6taf sales and almost 70% of tc
assets. The group consists of Alloy Products; Tavie of our wholly owned subsidiaries; and Berylliimoducts. These units manufacture a
variety of engineered materials that provide sugrgrerformance in demanding applications and coenggainst beryllium and non-
beryllium-containing alloys. The Elmore, Ohio fatyilmanufactures finished goods for Alloy Produatsl Beryllium Products as well as
materials for further processing and sale by otiperations within Alloy Products, Beryllium Prodsi@nd TMI. Customers typically use our
materials from this segment as their raw matenialif and are also usually one or more tiers reménogd the end-use demand generator in a
given market. After declining significantly in eaohthe last two years, primarily as a result dfrsess in the telecommunications and
computer market, sales grew 5% in 2003 over 208@s3o external customers by business unit withénMetal Systems Group during the
2001 to 2003 time frame were as follows:

2003 2002 2001

(Dollars in millions)

Alloy Products $162.¢ $151.¢ $217.5
Technical Materials, Inc 41.€ 44 £ 50.t
Beryllium Product:s 35.2 31.€ 27.1
Total Segment Sale $239. $227.¢ $295.7
I I I

Alloy Products

Alloy Products, the largest unit within owngpany, manufactures and sells copper and niclsgeballoy systems, the majority of which
also contain beryllium, and consists of two majarduct families — strip and bulk products. Stripgucts, which include thin gauge
precision strip and thin diameter rod and wire vjite a combination of high conductivity, high rd&liity and formability for use as
connectors, contacts, switches, relays and shigldifajor markets for strip products include teleconmications and computer, automotive
electronics and appliances. Bulk products includéeprod, bar, tube and other customized forms tlepending upon the application, may
provide superior strength, corrosion or wear rasis¢ or thermal conductivity. Applications for bylfloducts include plastic mold tooling,
bearings, bushings, welding rods and telecommubpitaihousing equipment. Alloy Products are manufact at our facilities in Ohio and
Pennsylvania and are distributed worldwide throagtetwork of our own service centers and outsidiidutors and agents.

Alloy Products’ sales of $162.3 million impex 7% over sales in 2002 while sales of $151.8aniln 2002 were 30% lower than sales
in 2001. The improvement in sales in 2003 was dws#rtp products as sales of bulk products declohaihg 2003. The strip sales growth v
caused by an increase in demand for the highetlibenycontaining and, therefore, higher priced alloysdehtying volumes of these produ
improved 22% in 2003 over 2002. Sales of thin di@med and wire products also showed double-digitvth in 2003. Bulk sales volumes
were 9% lower in 2003 than in 2002.

The Alloy Products’ sales growth in 2003 virathe international markets as domestic salesrtklightly. A portion of this
international growth is due to domestic customéifiisg manufacturing operations overseas, paridylto Asia. Alloy Products recently
established additional sales and marketing offic&3hina to augment its existing service centerdaipan and Singapore in order to maintain
and grow sales applications in the region. Thessglewth also resulted from an increase in matetesand the development of various new
products. Demand from the telecommunications amapeder market was unchanged for the first threetgueof 2003 and then showed s¢
improvements in the fourth quarter. Demand fopgtrioducts from the automotive market remainedgigin 2003. The lower bulk
products sales was caused in part by soft demandtiie plastic tooling market for the majority bétyear (although demand started to
improve in the fourth quarter), while demand frdm tndustrial components market declined during32@be increased demand from the
telecommunications and computer and plastic toatiagkets continued into early 2004. Orders for peaducts, including the non-
beryllium-containing ToughMet® alloy used in beariapplications in heavy equipment, also showed a@vgment in late 2003 and early
2004.
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Sales of strip and bulk products both dedisignificantly in 2002 as compared to 2001. Stvfjumes were down 17% and bulk volumes
were down 33%. The lower sales were due in largetpahe precipitous decline in demand from tHedemmunications and computer
market that began in the second quarter 2001. Aotivmsales of strip products were essentially anged in 2002 as compared to 2001.
Bulk sales into the undersea telecommunicationketawhich was the largest market segment for pubiducts as recently as 2000, began to
decline in the second half of 2001 and were minim&002 due to the severe reduction in the nurobaew undersea fiber optic line
installation projects throughout the world. Bulloguct sales for plastic tooling applications alsclohed in 2002 due in part to customers
adjusting their inventory positions.

Technical Materials, Inc

TMI manufactures engineered materials systémhiding clad inlay and overlay metals, preciansl base metal electroplated systems,
electron beam welded systems, contour profilecesystand solder-coated metal systems. These spestigit metal products provide a
variety of thermal, electrical or mechanical prdgarfrom a surface area or particular sectiomhefrhaterial. Major markets for TMI products
include telecommunications and computer and autemetectronics while major applications includenpectors, contacts and semi-
conductors.

TMI sales were $41.9 million in 2003, $44.4lion in 2002 and $50.5 million in 2001. The lowsales in each of the last two fiscal years
were due to the continued soft demand from thedahenunications and computer market. Automotivessaldich had been relatively
unchanged in the prior two years, also softenethduhe third and fourth quarters of 2003. Howewserall sales order entry rates improved
in the fourth quarter 2003 over the first nine niendf the year, and this trend continued into e20Q4.

Production capacity within the markets serygd MI continued to be transferred from the Uniftdtes to Asia, and TMI has
aggressively managed its marketing efforts and fisa@twring and overhead cost structure in ordertditably position itself to maintain and
grow its base business while expanding into neWieatpns and markets. As a result, TMI's profitgieased in 2003 over 2002 despite the
6% decline in sales.

Beryllium Products

Beryllium Products manufactures pure bergtliand beryllium aluminum alloys in rod, tube, sheed a variety of customized forms at
the Elmore, Ohio and Fremont, California faciliti#fiese materials are used in applications thatiredigh stiffness and/or low density, and
they tend to be premium priced due to their unicpmbination of properties. Defense and governmelated applications remain the largest
market for Beryllium Products, accounting for appnaately two-thirds of sales, while other marketsved include automotive, electronics,
medical and optical scanning.

Revenues from Beryllium Products were $35.2 miliio2003, $31.6 million in 2002 and $27.7 millian2001. Revenues from Berylliu
Products have grown for four consecutive yearduding annual growth rates of 11% and 14% in 2083 2002, respectively. Sales for
defense and government-related applications remaitmeng throughout this period. Several systenraghes for F-16 fighter jets and the new
F-22 fighter are two of the largest platforms fardlium Products. Sales to the electronics mafiteeicoustic components increased in 2003
over 2002 and represent a commercial growth oppitytéor Beryllium Products. Acoustic componentesahad declined in 2002 due to
customers’ excess inventory positions. Performautemotive sales contributed to the sales grow0B8 and 2002 as well; however,
management is uncertain as to the growth prospactkis market in the coming year. In the thirdagier 2003, we secured a material supply
contract for NASA's James Webb Space Telescoperpnogwhich is anticipated to generate an additi®i&l.0 million in revenue, the
majority of which should be invoiced in the 2004£2Q05 time frame.
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Metal Systems Gross Margin and Exper

The gross margin on Metal System sales was $39lidmior 16% of segment sales, in 2003 comparefl& 0 million, or 8% of segme
sales, in 2002. The increased sales volume improwaadins by $2.8 million in 2003 as compared to20®favorable product mix,
operational improvements and a favorable curreffegeincreased margins by $12.1 million. The falde mix resulted primarily from strip
products, although TMI and Beryllium Products had ghifts due to higher margin generating prodastsvell. Operational improvements
were made at the Elmore, Ohio facility, includiriglgg and machine utilization rates, and at the Tatility in Lincoln, Rhode Island,
including yields and cost controls. Manufacturinghead costs and inventory valuation adjustmeptg W6.6 million lower in 2003 than in
2002, with the majority of savings coming from mamwer, supplies and services at the Elmore facility.

The 2002 gross margin of $18.0 million wag $2mnillion lower than the gross margin in 2001eThargin contribution decline due to the
lower sales volume in 2002 totaled $30.7 milliom énfavorable product mix, primarily from Alloy Riacts, combined with a slightly
favorable currency and copper impact, reduced maigy an additional $6.3 million. Mitigating the pact of volume and mix factors on
margins was a reduction in manufacturing overhe@eese of $14.9 million. Overhead costs were rediatall of the Metal Systems
Group’s manufacturing facilities in response toltheer sales volume. This decrease in overhea@®®2 2vas net of a $4.7 million increase in
rent expense from the off-balance sheet operatiagd that was subsequently refinanced in Deceni®&; 2s the renewal terms under the
lease had increased rent payments. Inventory vatuatjustments, primarily provisions for obsolesm® were also $1.0 million lower in
2002 than 2001.

SG&A, R&D and other-net expenses were $0Manihigher in 2003 than in 2002 as a result & threign currency exchange gain/loss
difference and an increase to incentive compensatoruals. SG&A and R&D manpower levels were iaddy unchanged for the year. The
$0.5 million increase was net of the impact of a-time asset impairment charge in 2002. We detesdhihat the projected cash flow from
various assets used in the production of beryllums less than the carrying value. The assets wetternvdown to their net realizable values,
and a $3.1 million charge was recorded againstrateeexpense in the fourth quarter 2002. The eqeig has been shut down due to the use
of alternative input materials and manufacturingcgsses. Expenses in 2002 were $3.5 million lolgar 2001 as manpower and other cost
savings initiatives reduced expenses by $6.6 milliin2002 compared to the prior year, the benéfitlich was offset in part by the
impairment charge.

The Metal Systems Group recorded an oper&sgyof $16.6 million in 2003, a $21.1 million inggement over the $37.7 million loss in
2002. The improvement was caused by the additimaatjin generated by the higher sales, favorable opigrational efficiencies and
manufacturing overhead cost reductions. In 2004 Metal Systems Group lost $20.1 million.

Microelectronics Groug

2003 2002 2001

(Dollars in millions)

Net sales $157.3 $139.2 $169.¢
Operating profit (loss 12.€ 3.8 4.€

Microelectronics Group includes WAM and Etectic Products. These businesses manufacture etyafihigh quality precision parts
that are sold to assemblers and other fabricafagkeotronic components and equipment. Sales g& ih 2003 over 2002 after declining
18% in 2002 from 2001. Operating profit
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improved by $8.8 million in 2003. Sales to exteroastomers by business unit within the Microelatite Group during the 2001 to 2003
time frame were as follows:

2003 2002 2001

(Dollars in millions)

Williams Advanced Materials Inc $127.¢ $109.1 $135.¢
Electronic Product 29.t 30.1 34.:
Total Segment Sale $157.¢ $139.2 $169.¢
I I I

Williams Advanced Materials In

WAM manufactures precious, non-precious gretilty metal products at its facilities in NewrKpCalifornia and Asia. Specific
products include vapor deposition targets, frami@$isemblies, clad and precious metal preform, teigperature braze materials and ultra
fine wire. Major markets for WAM's products includgtical media, magnetic head, electron tube, perdace film and the wireless, semi-
conductor, photonic and hybrid segments of the aeiectronics market.

Sales from WAM were $127.8 million in 2003,08.1 million in 2002 and $135.3 million in 2001 AM adjusts its selling prices daily to
reflect the current cost of the precious and naeipus metals sold. The cost of the metal is a-flassigh to the customer, and WAM
generates its margin on its fabrication effortespective of the type or cost of the metal useaigiven application. Therefore, the cost and
mix of metals sold will affect sales but not neeegig the margins generated by those sales. Metatpincreased on average in 2003 over
2002, and the underlying volumes grew 7% compayed17% growth in sales. In 2002, a mix shift twdo priced metals as compared to
2001 caused the majority of the decrease in sategolumes were only 2% lower than the prior year.

Sales of vapor deposition targets grew in32@6m the 2002 level driven by the continued sgrend-use demand from the optical media
market for digital versatile disks. Demand for &tsgfrom the photonics and other segments of ticeomliectronics market, which was soft
and caused a slight overall decline in target sal@902, started to improve in the latter par2003. Sales of various products into the
wireless segment demonstrated improvement in 20882002. Demand for data storage applicationgitomt magnetic resistive thin film
applications remained strong throughout the 200128 time period. Frame lid assembly sales gre2008 and in 2002 as a result of
acquiring various assets of competitors who exitedmarket in the second quarter 2001 and the deqoarter 2003.

Due to the precious metal content of mangsofroducts, WAM'’s customers continuously evaluaternative lower cost materials and
systems, and WAM faces stiff competition from othreaterial providers. WAM strives to develop nevogdl and products that satisfy its
customersquality, cost and service objectives. A key contpetiadvantage for WAM is its ability to reclaimgmious metals, from its own
customers’ scrap, through its in-house refinery.MW&lso emphasizes new product and application dpweént in order to keep pace with
technological advancements.

Electronic Product:

Electronic Products manufactures beryllisangcs, electronic packages and circuitry for sate the telecommunications and computer,
medical, electronics, automotive and defense marldtese products provide specific thermal andémtecal conductivity characteristics ¢
are used as components in a variety of applicationkiding wireless telecommunications equipméhgr optics, lasers for medical and of
electronic equipment, automotive ignition moduleteyns, satellites and radar systems. Electroniduete are manufactured by Zentrix
Technologies Inc. and Brush Ceramic Products, tvolly owned subsidiaries. Sales from Electronicdeiais were $29.5 million in 2003
compared to $30.1 million in 2002 and $34.3 millinr2001.

Sales of beryllia ceramics were essentiatighanged in 2003 compared to 2002 after declimrP02. This is a mature product line with
established applications but limited growth oppoities. A temporary
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disruption in the sales order pattern from thedatgeramics customer during a plant relocatiosedfinild improvements during 2003. Sales
order entry levels for ceramics strengthened irfdlieth quarter 2003. Softer demand from the tateooinications and computer market
caused the lower sales of ceramics in 2002 as cempa 2001. Sales of electronic packages alsandetin each of the last two years due to
the slowdown in build rates for telecommunicatigrfsastructure equipment. Sales into the automatieeket declined in 2003 after growing
in 2002 over 2001. Sales of circuitry, which arenufactured by Circuits Processing Technology, laayholly owned subsidiary of Zentrix,
increased in 2003 due to strengthening defenseoadier declining in 2002 due to softer demandcfanmercial applications.

Microelectronics Group Gross Margin and Expen

The gross margin on Microelectronics Group sales $&2.8 million, or 21% of segment sales, in 2@@Bnpared to $26.4 million, or 1¢
of segment sales, in 2002 and $25.6 million, or B%ales, in 2001. Margins improved by $3.3 millia 2003 as a result of the increased
sales. The product mix effect, as well as operatiefficiencies, primarily in Electronic Productgenerated an additional $1.6 million in gross
margin while manufacturing overhead costs and itorgradjustments were $1.4 million lower in 200arthin 2002. The $0.8 million margin
improvement in 2002 over 2001 resulted from an $&llion favorable mix effect, primarily from WAM;ombining with a $3.1 million
reduction in manufacturing overhead and invent@iyation adjustments to more than offset the réddéh margin due to the lower sales
volume.

SG&A, R&D and other-net expenses were $2 lianilower in 2003 than in 2002 in part due to dime charges of $1.9 million record
in 2002. Management determined that the projectsti ow from various assets used by Electronid®ects was less than the carrying va
A charge of $1.3 million was recorded in other-egbense to write down the assets to their fairezalidetermined by an outside appraisal.
See Note C to the audited consolidated financééstents included elsewhere in this prospectuserisgs in 2002 also included severance
costs of $0.6 million as we restructured the manage of Electronic Products, eliminating variousifions and closing two small foreign
offices. In addition, expenses were lower in 2008 tb the full-year benefit of the manpower redartdimade in 2002. The precious metal
financing fee was lower in 2003 than in 2002 ad.v&ffsetting a portion of these benefits were @aged costs to support the WAM sales
growth and higher incentive accruals. Expenses ®&1@ million higher in 2002 than in 2001. In adutitto the $1.9 million one-time items,
WAM'’s SG&A and R&D expenses grew in 2002 over 20ile the precious metal financing fee declinedbBy7 million.

The Microelectronics Group operating profass$12.6 million, or 8% of segment sales, in 20@8ared to $3.8 million, or 3% of
segment sales, in 2002. Improved margins and leweenses combined to generate the profit improverperating profit for the
Microelectronics Group was $4.6 million, or 3% efyment sales, in 2001.

International Sales and Operation

2003 2002 2001

(Dollars in millions)

From international operatiol $89E8 $717 $86.€
Exports from U.S. operatiot 34.¢€ 32.¢ 47.F
Total international sale $124.¢  $104.2  $134:
Percent of total net sal 31% 28% 28%

The international sales presented in theqalieg table are included in the Metal Systems GrangbMicroelectronics Group sales figures
previously discussed. The majority of internatiosales are to the Pacific Rim, Europe and Canaalas $o the Pacific Rim and Europe
showed strong growth in 2003 resulting from a corabon of additional market penetration, the retmeaof United States production to
overseas locations, increased market share anabeafde currency exchange effect. Sales into eagbmnegion were lower in 2002 than in
2001 with European sales accounting for over 60%h®total falloff.
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International operations include service eenin Germany, England, Japan and Singapore timaaly focus on the distribution of Alloy
Products while providing additional local suppart/arious other businesses within our company. Wh#ed finishing operations in Singapore
and the Philippines and a small joint venture thas$ established in Taiwan in 2003. We also havedbraales offices in the Republic of
China and in Taiwan as well as an established r&tafoindependent distributors and agents.

As is the case domestically, telecommunicatiand computer and automotive electronics artatgest international markets for our
products. Defense applications are not as prevalerseas while the appliance market for alloy potslis a more significant market,
primarily in Europe, than it is domestically. Ouarket share is smaller in the overseas marketsitlidomestically and given the macro-
economic growth potential for the international mmmies, the international markets may present gréamg-term growth opportunities for
us.

Sales from the international operations gpéctlly denominated in the local currency, partiely in Europe and Japan. Exports from the
United States and sales from the Singapore opagatire predominately denominated in United Stadéard. Movements in the foreign
currency exchange rates will affect the reportaddtated value of foreign currency-denominatedssatgle local competition limits our
ability to adjust selling prices upwards to com@ador short-term unfavorable exchange rate momsn&he dollar was weaker against the
euro, yen and sterling over the course of 2003 @vetbto 2002, resulting in a favorable translaitiopact on sales of $6.4 million. The dollar
was slightly weaker on average in 2002 than in 20€dulting in a favorable translation impact olesaf $0.4 million in 2002. We have a
hedge program with the objective of minimizing thmpact of fluctuating currency values on our repdntesults.

First Quarter 2004 Comparison

Our financial results for the first quart&®02 were the best in three years. The positivessald order entry trends that began in 2003
continued throughout the first quarter 2004; tstdes were 26% higher than the first quarter 2@08a&h of our major product lines grew
over the comparable period last year. Our majokatarshowed signs of strengthening, and our neduatadevelopment efforts continued to
generate new sales opportunities. Gross margimsaeed, not only from the higher sales volumesfrbut improved manufacturing
efficiencies at various facilities as well. As su# of the increased sales and margins, we gestethé largest quarterly operating profit and
net income since the first quarter 2001. Workingited investment, in terms of accounts receivabig iaventories, climbed in support of and
as a result of the significant increase in saleh\aur debt refinanced in the fourth quarter 2008,have the available capacity to finance
growth.

First Quarter

(Millions, except per share dat 2004 2003 Change
Sales $125.¢ $99.5 $26.4
Operating Profit (Loss 6.1 (2.0 8.1
Diluted E.P.S $02:  $0.18 $0.4C

Sales of $125.9 million in the first quarg04 were 26% higher than first quarter 2003 salé&©9.5 million. This was the fifth
consecutive quarter that sales were higher thandhmparable period in the prior year. First qua2t@d4 sales were the highest since the
second quarter 2001, which is when the significedine in demand from the telecommunications amdputer market began. First quarter
2004 sales were also 19% higher than sales irotiéhf quarter 2003.

Precious and base metal prices on average ligier while the dollar was weaker on averagsusethe applicable currencies in the first
quarter 2004 as compared to the first quarter 2068estimate that these two factors combined ad¢eduor approximately $6.4 million of
the $26.4 million increase in sales.

International sales, including direct expdrtsn the United States as well as sales from @oreperations, were $41.3 million, or 33% of
sales in the first quarter 2004 and $29.7 millimn30% of sales, in the first quarter 2003. Intéioreal sales grew 39% in the first quarter 2
over the first quarter 2003 while domestic salesng21%.
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The majority of the sales growth was fuelgdhlyher demand from the telecommunications andpeder market, the automotive market
(particularly in Europe), the optical media mar&at defense applications.

Sales order entry rates remained strong tirout the first quarter 2004, and the total ordecgived exceeded the orders shipped during
the quarter by approximately 9%.

The gross margin was $29.6 million, or 24%alEs, in the first quarter 2004, and $17.1 nmillior 17% of sales, in the first quarter 2003,
as the gross margin improved $12.5 million on a.42illion increase in sales. The higher sales malsi accounted for approximately
$8.3 million of the improvement in margins. Manutaing efficiencies have allowed various operatitmgicrease their output without a
proportional increase in direct manufacturing cdists, labor, supplies, maintenance and utilitid®reby improving margins. Higher base
metal prices, particularly copper and nickel, cautdl be passed through to customers in all casesodprice contracts, pricing practices in
international markets and/or competitive pressuamiijcing first quarter 2004 margins by approxitya$2.1 million as compared to the first
quarter 2003. This negative impact on margins wegely offset by the favorable impact from the #lation of foreign currency denominated
sales. Manufacturing overhead costs and inventayigions were $0.3 million lower in the first qterr 2004 as compared to the first quarter
2003.

SG&A expenses were $19.0 million, or 15%aiés, in the first quarter 2004 compared to $17lBom, or 17% of sales, in the first
quarter 2003. Incentive compensation expense atedtdior approximately sixty percent of this increas the expense was higher in 2004
due to our significantly improved profitability. €rcurrency impact on the translation of the foredghsidiaries’ expenses was an unfavorable
$0.3 million. Other expenses increased slightlgriger to support the higher sales volumes.

R&D expenses were $1.3 million in the firsiagter 2004, slightly above the $1.1 million expemsthe first quarter 2003. R&D expense
was 1% of sales in both periods. Our R&D effortmain closely aligned with our marketing and mantifang operations to develop new
products and improved processes.

Net-other expense was $3.2 million in thetfquarter 2004 compared to $0.7 million in thstfquarter 2003. Three main factors
contributed to this change in expense levels. Bxghdosses were $1.2 million higher in the cursexdr due to the weaker dollar as comp:
to the yen, euro and pound sterling. The expermétieg from the mark-to-market valuation of theedtors’ deferred compensation plan was
$0.7 million higher as a result of the increaseun stock price in the first quarter 2004. We akscorded a loss of $0.5 million on the mark-
to-market of the fair value of an interest rate pwantract that does not qualify for hedge accogntihe loss was caused by a decline in long-
term interest rates during the first quarter 200dt-other also includes metal financing fees, bad dgpense, gains and losses on the disj
of fixed assets, amortization of intangible assedsh discounts and other non-operating items.

We earned an operating profit of $6.1 millinrthe first quarter 2004, an $8.1 million impravent over the $2.0 million operating loss in
the first quarter 2003. The improvement resultedifthe margin earned on the higher sales and isedemanufacturing efficiencies offset in
part by higher expenses.

Interest expense was $2.2 million in thet fipsarter 2004 versus $0.8 million in the first gaa2003. The increased expense was mainly
due to the higher level of outstanding debt. Badastteet debt increased as a result of the purcigseviously leased assets as part of the
December 2003 refinancing and due to changes ikimgrcapital. Interest expense was also highertdw@ae$0.2 million increase in the
amortization of deferred financing costs.

The income before income taxes was $3.9anillin the first quarter 2004 versus a loss befoceme taxes of $2.8 million in the first
quarter 2003, a $6.7 million improvement.

A tax provision or benefit was not appliecimgt the income or loss before income taxes idithequarter 2004 and the first quarter 2003
for certain domestic and foreign taxes as a reguhie deferred tax valuation allowance recordepravious periods. The valuation allowance
was reduced, offsetting a portion of the net tgxemse, in the first quarter 2004 while the valuatiiowance was increased in the first qu
2003 offsetting a net tax benefit in that periode 0.1 million of expense in the first quarter 200
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and the $0.2 million of expense in the first quaB03 represent taxes from various state and Jadatlictions and foreign taxes from Japan
and Singapore only.

Net income was $3.8 million in the first gear2004, an improvement of $6.8 million over tle loss generated in the first quarter 2003.
Diluted earnings per share were $0.22 in the fjustrter 2004 and a loss of $0.18 in the first qua2003.

Sales and profits from both the Metal Syst@nsup and the Microelectronics Group improvedhia first quarter 2004 from the first
quarter 2003. The operating loss within All Otheereased in the first quarter 2004 over the fitgtrtpr 2003 primarily due to the unrealized
losses on the directors’ compensation plan anéhteeest rate swap as previously described.

Metal Systems Grot

First Quarter

(Millions) 2004 2003 Change
Sales $76.C $61.2 $14.¢
Operating Profit (Loss $ 3.2 $(3.4) $ 6.€

The following chart summarizes sales by bessnunit within the Metal Systems Group:

First Quarter

(Millions) 2004 2003 Change
Alloy Products $52.5 $40.5 $12.C
TM™MI 13.¢ 11.¢ 1.¢
Beryllium Product $ 9.7 $ 8.8 $ 0.¢

Sales by Alloy Products of $52.5 million hetfirst quarter 2004 were approximately 30% highan the year ago period. Strip volumes
grew 42% while bulk volumes grew 12% in the firsacter 2004 over the first quarter 2003. The mgjaf this improvement was due to
growth in the underlying markets that Alloy Produserves, primarily the telecommunications and aderpmarket. Demand from the
automotive market for strip products, particulanyeurope, was stronger in the first quarter 2094vall. Sales into the industrial component
market grew in the current quarter. New products @pplications also contributed to the sales grommttiuding sales of ToughMet®.
Demand from the plastic tooling market remained, s&f were sales into the undersea telecommunisati@mrket, although customer inquil
and other market research indicate that shipmataghis market may increase later in the yeaerhdtional sales accounted for the majority
of the total growth in Alloy Products’ sales in tfist quarter 2004.

TMI's sales of $13.8 million in the first guer 2004 were 15% higher than in the first qua2@03. The increase in TMI's sales was
caused primarily by improved demand from the tel@wmnications and computer market while sales imeoatitomotive market were
relatively flat. TMI also continued to develop ajgptions in new markets, including energy (e.gel ftells), which offer additional growth
opportunities.

Sales by Beryllium Products were $9.7 milliorthe first quarter 2004, a 10% increase overytar ago period. The majority of the
increase was due to the first shipments under #ttenial supply contract for the James Webb Spatestepe program. Shipments for defe
applications, the largest market for Beryllium Rrots, remained strong in the first quarter 2004esSimto the electronics market for acoustic
components and medical market for x-ray equipmentponents also contributed to the growth in th& fijuarter 2004 while automotive
sales were down slightly. Shipments from the Fretn@alifornia facility, the smaller of the two Bdliym Products manufacturing facilities,
established a record high in the first quarter 2004

The gross margin on Metal System Group sales wa< $tiillion (26% of sales) in the first quarter 208 $9.9 million improvement ov
the gross margin of $9.8 million (16% of salesha first quarter 2003. The higher sales volumesgaed an additional $5.0 million in
margin. Margins also increased as a result of imgulananufacturing efficiencies at our Elmore, Olbpemakersville, Pennsylvania and
Lincoln, Rhode Island facilities, while the changeroduct mix was slightly favorable (i.e., satdhigher
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margin generating products grew more than the lonamngin products). The previously discussed impabiase metal prices on margins was
largely offset by the foreign currency translatlmenefit. The purchase of previously leased assetad of the December 2003 refinancing
reduced manufacturing overhead in the first qu&®&4 as compared to the first quarter 2003 byapprately $1.6 million, as the
depreciation expense on the owned assets washbss#ie prior lease expense. Other manufacturieghead expenses and inventory
valuation adjustments were $0.5 million highertia first quarter 2004 than in the first quarter 20@ainly in manpower costs at the EImore
plant.

The Metal Systems Group’s SG&A, R&D and Othet expenses totaled $16.6 million in the firsarer 2004 and $13.2 million in the
first quarter 2003. As a percent of group salepeages were unchanged at 22% in each period. Asase in currency exchange losses, the
unfavorable translation impact on the foreign sdilasies’ expenses and an increase in incentive eosgiion expense were main causes of
the higher expense level in the first quarter 2@®lling and marketing costs were also higher énfittst quarter 2004 than the first quarter
2003.

Operating profit for the Metal Systems Graugs $3.2 million in the first quarter 2004, an imypement of $6.6 million over the
$3.4 million loss generated in the first quarteD20The improvement resulted from the increasedymsigenerated by the higher sales,
manufacturing efficiencies and lower manufactuiangrhead costs offset in part by higher expensash Enit improved its profitability, and
TMI generated a profit for the ninth consecutivader. The first quarter 2004 operating profit wés of group sales.

Microelectronics Grouy

First Quarter

(Millions) 2004 2003 Change
Sales $49.¢ $38.: $11.¢€
Operating Profi $ 55 $2E $ 3.C

The following chart summarizes business sali¢s within the Microelectronics Group:

First Quarter

(Millions) 2004 2003 Change
WAM $42.1 $30.t $11.¢€
Electronic Product $ 7.8 $ 7.8 —

WAM'’s sales of $42.1 million in the first quer 2004 were 38% higher than sales in the fiustrgr 2003. Metal prices were higher in the
first quarter 2004 than in the first quarter 20€@tinuing the trend from last year, thereby insieg sales without a proportional flow
through to margins. The growth in the underlyinguwmees was less than the growth in sales.

Increased sales of vapor deposition targatsumnted for the majority of this growth as demémod the optical media, performance film
and the wireless segment of the microelectroniakets. remained strong in the first quarter 2004nf& lid assembly volumes also increased
in the first quarter 2004 over the first quarte020rom sales into various segments of the micatmaics market. Sales for giant magnetic
resistive thin film applications within the optigaledia market contributed to the growth in 2004veli. WAM continued to develop products
for new semiconductor applications that offer glowbtential. WAM is also developing new applicason the defense and medical
equipment markets.

Sales from Electronic Products were $7.8iamlin the first quarter 2004, unchanged from fh&t fjuarter 2003. Sales of electronic
packages increased in the current year due to iepgrdemand from the telecommunications and compuoiéeket. Circuitry sales declined,
however, while beryllia ceramics sales were re@yiwinchanged.

The gross margin on Microelectronics Group sales $4.9 million in the first quarter 2004 versusd$million in the first quarter 2003,
$3.5 million improvement. As a percent of sales, iiargin also improved from 19% in the first qua@03 to 22% in the first quarter 2004.
Higher sales volumes
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accounted for approximately $2.7 million of therg@sed margin. Manufacturing efficiencies and thenge in product mix generated an
additional $0.8 million of margin. Manufacturingerhead costs were slightly higher in the first ¢era2004 as compared to the first quarter
2003.

SG&A, R&D and Othenet expenses totaled $5.4 million in the first ¢ge@2004 and $4.9 million in the first quarter 20B3penses wel
11% of sales in the first quarter 2004 and 13%atéssin the first quarter 2003. Increased legatkens’ compensation and other
administrative costs within WAM coupled with theieased incentive expense accounted for the majufrthe increase in expenses.

Operating profit from the MicroelectronicsdBp was $5.5 million (11% of group sales) in thstfquarter 2004 and $2.5 million (7% of
group sales) in the first quarter 2003.

Legal Proceeding:

Our subsidiary, Brush Wellman Inc., is a def@nt in 14 proceedings in various state and féderats brought by plaintiffs alleging that
they have contracted CBD or other lung conditiona aesult of exposure to beryllium. Plaintiffshiaryllium cases seek recovery under
theories of intentional tort and various other leébaories and seek compensatory and punitive dasag many cases of an unspecified sum.
Spouses of some plaintiffs claim loss of consortium

The following table summarizes the associatiity with beryllium cases. Settlement paymand dismissal for a single case may not
occur in the same period.

Quarter Ended Year Ended

Apr. 2, 2004 Dec. 31, 2003
Total cases pendir 14 15
Total plaintiffs 34 33
Number of claims (plaintiffs) filed during periot@éed 2(9) 11(22)
Number of claims (plaintiffs) settled during perieddec 1(1) 24(47)
Aggregate cost of settlements during period endetlas in thousand: $ 4 $2,04¢
Number of claims (plaintiffs) otherwise dismiss 2(7) 5(12)
Number of claims (plaintiffs) voluntarily withdraw 0(0) 0(0)

Additional beryllium claims may arise. Managent believes that we have substantial defenséege cases and intends to contest the
suits vigorously. Employee cases, in which plaistifave a high burden of proof, have historicallyalved relatively small losses to us.
Third-party plaintiffs, typically employees of costers or contractors, face a lower burden of ptioafi do employees or former employees,
but these cases are generally covered by varyugdsl®f insurance. A reserve was recorded for bemllitigation of $2.2 million at April 2,
2004 and $2.9 million at December 31, 2003. A neadgle was recorded of $2.7 million at April 2, 2084d $3.2 million at December 31,
2003 from our insurance carriers as recoverieffured claims. An additional $0.9 million was nesel for insolvencies at the end of each
period. These insolvencies relate to claims stitstanding as well as claims for which partial payts have been received.

Although it is not possible to predict theaame of the litigation pending against us andsubsidiaries, we provide for costs related to
these matters when a loss is probable and the arisoreasonably estimable. Litigation is subjecti@any uncertainties, and it is possible that
some of these actions could be decided unfavoiatdynounts exceeding our reserves. An unfavoralieome or settlement of a pending
beryllium case or additional adverse media covecagidd encourage the commencement of additionalasilfitigation. We are unable to
estimate our potential exposure to unasserted slaim

While we are unable to predict the outcomthefcurrent or future beryllium proceedings, bagedn currently known facts and assuming
collectibility of insurance, we do not believe tmasolution of these proceedings will have a matadverse effect on the financial condition
or our cash flow. However, our
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results of operations could be materially affedigdinfavorable results in these cases. As of Ard004, three purported class actions were
pending.

Standards for exposure to beryllium are umeeiew by the United States Occupational Safetydealth Administration and by other
standard-setting organizations. One result of thegews might be more stringent worker safety déads. More stringent standards, as well
as other factors such as the adoption of berylliisease compensation programs and publicity retatéliese reviews, may also affect buy
decisions by the users of beryllium-containing prtd. If the standards are made more stringentiocwstomers decide to reduce their use of
beryllium-containing products, our operating resulquidity and capital resources could be maligreedversely affected. The extent of the
adverse effect would depend on the nature and eat¢he changes to the standards, the cost atityabimeet the new standards, the extent
of any reduction in customer use and other fadtmtcannot be estimated.

The 14 pending beryllium cases as of Apr2@04 fall into two categories: 11 cases involvinigd-party individual plaintiffs, with 11
individuals (and five spouses who have filed claaaart of their spouse’s case, and five childvkea have filed claims as part of their
parent’s case); and three purported class actiovalying 18 individuals, as discussed more fulgldw. While we are unable to predict the
outcome of the current or future beryllium proceggi based upon currently known facts and assuaodglectibility of insurance, except for
the three purported class actions discussed belevdo not believe that resolution of any one oféhproceedings will have a material
adverse effect on the financial condition or owstcow.

The first purported class action is John Wfilet al. v. Brush Wellman Inc., originally filed in Courf €@ommon Pleas, Cuyahoga
County, Ohio, case number 00-401890-CV, on Febridry?000. The named plaintiffs are John WilsomiBiaA. Martin, Jospeh A.
Szenderski, Larry Strang, Hubert Mays, Michael Rercand Reginald Hohenberger. Mr. Szenderski wamtarily dismissed by the court on
September 27, 2000. Mr. Szenderski filed a sepatabm, which is now settled and dismissed. The algifendant is Brush Wellman. The
trial court denied class certification on Februa®y 2002, and the Court of Appeals, Ohio 8th Distriemanded on October 17, 2002. The
case was appealed to Ohio Supreme Court, case n@31948, and oral arguments were heard on Deaeb@@003. The plaintiffs purport
to sue on behalf of a class of workers who belorigadhions in the Northwestern Ohio Building Couostion Trades Council who worked in
Brush Wellman’s Elmore plant from 1953-1999. Thayé brought claims for negligence, strict liabilisgatutory product liability,
ultrahazardous activities and punitive damagessae#t establishment of a fund for medical surveikeand screening. The plaintiffs are
seeking that Brush Wellman pay for a reasonableicaksurveillance and screening program for pl#fsand class members, punitive
damages, interest, costs and attorneys’ fees.

The second purported class action is ManwgitMet al. v. Brush Wellman Inc., filed in Superior Court@élifornia, Los Angeles
County, case number BC299055, on July 15, 2003 n#inged plaintiffs are Manuel Marin, Lisa Marin, @&ad Perry and Susan Perry. The
defendants are Brush Wellman, Appanaitis Enterprise. and Doe Defendants 1 through 100. The Cognfiled a demurrer on
November 17, 2003, and the case is currently stapeel plaintiffs allege that they have been sereitito beryllium while employed at T
Boeing Company. The plaintiffstives claim loss of consortium. The plaintiffs parpto represent two classes of approximately 28éntver:
each, one consisting of workers who worked at Bpeinits predecessors and are beryllium sensitineidthe other consisting of their
spouses. They have brought claims for negligeridet bability-design defect, strict liability-f&ire to warn, fraudulent concealment, breach
of implied warranties and unfair business practidé® plaintiffs seek injunctive relief, medical nitoring, medical and health care provider
reimbursement, attorneys’ fees and costs, revacafidusiness license, and compensatory and pardtwnages. Mr. Marin and Mr. Perry
represent current and past employees of Boeinglifiothia; and Ms. Marin and Ms. Perry are theiosges.

The third purported class action is Neal Bt al. v. Brush Wellman Inc., filed in Superior Courtkailton County, State of Georgia,
case number 2004CV80827, on January 29, 2004. d$ewas removed to U.S. District Court for Northerstrict of Georgia, case number
04-CV-606, on March 4, 2004. The named plaintifts Ideal Parker, Wilbert Carlton, Stephen King, Bayns, Deborah Watkins, Leonard
Ponder,
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Barbara King and Patricia Burns. The defendant8aush Wellman; Schmiede Machine and Tool Corporatihyssenkrupp Materials NA
Inc., d/b/a Copper and Brass Sales; Axsys Techiegdonc.; Alcoa, Inc.; McCann Aerospace Machin@ayporation; Cobb Tool, Inc and
Lockheed Martin Corporation. Messrs. Parker, Carli¢ing and Burns and Ms. Watkins are current eygxs of Lockheed. Mr. Ponder is a
retired employee, and Ms. King and Ms. Burns angilfamembers. The plaintiffs have brought claimsregligence, strict liability,
fraudulent concealment, civil conspiracy and pweitlamages. The plaintiffs seek a permanent injumcequiring the defendants to fund a
court-supervised medical monitoring program, atgei fees and punitive damages.

Financial Position

Annual Comparison
Working Capital

Cash flow from operations totaled $26.3 moillin 2003 as depreciation, other non-cash iterdscaanges in working capital items more
than offset the net loss of $13.2 million. Cashvffoom operations in 2003 was a $10.6 million immrment over the $15.7 million generated
in 2002. The cash balance was $5.1 million at Déxer1, 2003, an increase of $0.7 million for tkary as the balance of the cash generatec
from operations was used to reduce debt and fupidat@xpenditures.

The accounts receivable balance was $55libmit year-end 2003, an increase of $7.6 milfrmm year-end 2002. The increase is
largely due to the higher sales in the fourth qera2003 relative to the fourth quarter 2002 astidngs sales outstanding, or DSO, a measure of
how quickly receivables are collected, improved dag to 47 days. The DSO improved despite an isergainternational sales, which
typically take longer to collect. Accounts receilkatleclined in 2002 as a result of lower salesafide-day improvement in the DSO.

Inventories declined $6.9 million in 2003%8&7.4 million after declining $14.8 million in 20@2 we continued to improve our
manufacturing efficiencies and inventory utilizatim order to improve customer response time angf@ur working capital investment. T
reduction in inventories in 2002 was net of a $8illion increase due to the termination of an aifance sheet copper financing arrangement
in the fourth quarter 2002. Total Metal Systemsuprmmventory was down 12% on a first-in, first-ooit,FIFO, valuation basis in 2003. Each
unit within the Metal Systems Group lowered itséntories in 2003, with Alloy Products responsildethe largest decline. Alloy inventory
pounds declined 15% during the year and were dd fsom their peak levels in 2001. FIFO inventonigthin the Microelectronics Group
increased 13% as WAM'’s inventories increased ireotd support the higher sales volumes and asu#t tfhigher precious metal prices.
Brush Resources also increased its inventory,@svas mined in excess of current production requérgs in order to extract the ore from
existing pits within the allowable safety time fran©verall inventory turns as of the fourth qua@®3 improved over the fourth quarter
2002. The majority of the inventory reduction ir020wvas in the Metal Systems Group as Microelect@roup inventories declined only
slightly.

Prepaid expenses declined during 2003 mdinéyto the collection of a $3.8 million federalange tax refund. The accounts payable
balance was $0.9 million higher at year-end 20@3 tit year-end 2002 due to higher activity lev@ther liabilities and accruals increased
$7.0 million as a result of higher incentive comgegion accruals, a change in the fair value ofvaéisie financial instruments, higher interest
accruals and other miscellaneous items. Other termg-liabilities of $14.7 million at December 3D were $2.8 million lower than at
December 31, 2002 due to reductions in the legan#es and changes in the long-term portion ofainevalue of derivatives. We paid
$1.2 million in 2003 for legal settlements, priniafor CBD cases, and received $1.6 million front msurance carriers as partial
reimbursement for the insured portions of claimisl jrathe current and prior years. In 2002, we #® million in settlements and recove
$2.5 million from our insurance carriers.
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Depreciation and Amortizatiol

Depreciation, amortization and depletion %48.5 million in 2003 and $20.4 million in 2002. & tower expense in 2003 resulted from
the reduced level of capital spending. Amortizatibuleferred mine development was $1.2 million @2 and $0.3 million in 2002. Mine
development costs are amortized based upon the-eifiroduction method as ore is extracted frompite

Capital Expenditures

Capital expenditures for property, plant aadipment and mine development totaled $6.3 miiiin2003 compared to $5.4 million in
2002. Spending by the Metal Systems Group tota28 fillion in 2003 and $1.9 million in 2002, whilee Microelectronics Group spending
totaled $2.9 million in 2003 and $2.4 million in@®A The majority of the spending was on small istinacture and other individual projects as
in general we had sufficient production capacityneet the level of demand in 2003. The Microeledt® Group spending included the
acquisition of various assets used to manufactared lid assemblies from a competitor who exitedrttarket. In addition to the $6.3 million
of spending, as part of the December 2003 refimapaie purchased $51.8 million of assets previohslg under an operating lease that f
been in use at the Elmore facility since 1998 leyNtetal Systems Group. Management anticipatesctyital expenditures should increase in
2004 over the $6.3 million spent in 2003 but wiill e below the level of depreciation.

Pension Liability

SFAS No. 87, “Employers’ Accounting for Pams”, requires the recognition of a minimum pendiahility if the present value of the
accumulated benefit obligation is greater thamtiaeket value of the pension assets at year endniBinket value of our pension assets in our
domestic defined benefits plan was $85.8 millionlevthe present value of the accumulated benefigation was $95.4 million as of
December 31, 2003. We, therefore, reduced our nuimimpension liability to $9.6 million (in other lofigrm liabilities) by adjusting the
intangible pension asset by $0.6 million in otheseds and recording a pre-tax credit of $1.0 miligainst other comprehensive income, a
component of shareholders’ equity, in the fourthrtger 2003. The 2003 pension expense, which hadased the minimum liability, was
$1.6 million. We had initially recorded a $13.6 linih charge against other comprehensive incomkerfdaurth quarter 2002 to adjust the
carrying value of the recognized pension asset@edtablish a minimum pension liability of $9.6lmh based upon an asset market valu
$78.1 million and an accumulated benefit obligattd$87.7 million at December 31, 2002. During 200@ fair value of the pension assets
increased as the investment earnings exceededam@ayouts and expenses by $7.7 million whileatteumulated benefit obligation
increased a similar amount due to a lower discoatet an additional year of service earned andr @ttteiarial assumptions.

Refinancing

We refinanced our debt on a long-term bagis the completion of new debt facilities totali§47.5 million in the fourth quarter 2003.
The new financing includes an $85.0 million revolyiine of credit secured by our working capitéd0® million of term loans secured by
real estate and machinery and equipment and andillién facility secured by certain export accourgseivable. The remaining $35.0 milli
consists of a subordinated term loan that is seldoyea second lien on our working capital, reahesand machinery and equipment and is
payable at the end of five years. All of the newtds variable rate based upon spreads over LIBOBtime. The new debt provides
additional capacity to fund our growth and provideability through extension of maturity dates. Skete E to the audited consolidated
financial statements included elsewhere in thispectus.

Proceeds from the refinancing were used to retgeskisting revolving credit agreement that waedaked to mature in April 2004 and
purchase $51.8 million of leased assets, therehyitating an existing off-balance sheet lease altiligy. The leased assets have been used al
the Elmore facility in the manufacture of alloyigtproducts since 1998. The $51.8 million purch@isee was the notional value of
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the lease at the time of the purchase and, thexefdrile the balance sheet debt increased by $5illiBn as result of this transaction, our
total obligations, as defined by debt plus off-bakasheet obligations, were unchanged.

The refinancing increases our liquidity andikable credit lines, and we anticipate the relagpense and repayments in 2004 will be
lower than the projected expense and payments thelgrior debt and lease structure. Lease payniets expensed against cost of sales
under the terminated lease would have been $10liémin 2004. Under the new structure, this expgehas been eliminated and replaced by
approximately $4.0 million of depreciation expeosethe purchased assets. Therefore, cost of sélds®v$6.4 million lower and gross
margin will be $6.4 million higher in 2004 thanabuld have been under the prior financing arrangenmihe margin improvement will flow
through the Metal Systems Group. This benefit béllpartially offset by an increase in the amoriirabf deferred financing fees and higher
interest costs due to the increase in debt andgelsain the interest rate structure. Based upointheest rates and debt levels at the time ¢
refinancing, the increase in these costs are etghia be $5.0 million in 2004 and, therefore, ngmaent estimates that earnings before
income taxes in 2004 will improve by $1.4 millios a result of the refinancing. In addition, ther@ased interest payments plus the required
debt repayments in 2004 are estimated to be $8ldmiower than the 2004 lease payment would Haeen.

As a result of the refinancing, we recordek6# million one-time charge in the fourth qua603 to write off deferred costs associated
with the prior financing arrangement and to readedvative ineffectiveness on an associated inteats swap. We have an interest rate swap
that initially was designated as a hedge of theépegent operating lease payments. With the ternonatif the lease, the swap no longer
qualified for hedge accounting, and the $4.6 millimfavorable fair value at the time of the reficiag that previously was deferred into ot
comprehensive income on our consolidated balaneetstas charged against the other-net expenseraoosolidated income statements.
We kept this swap in place, as its cash flows sélive to hedge a portion of the outstanding vegiedtie debt even though the swap does not
technically qualify for hedge accounting. See N&t® the audited consolidated financial statemiamisided elsewhere in this prospectus.
additional $0.1 million was recorded against otherexpense for other deferred costs while $0.liamilvas recorded against cost of sales
and $0.6 million against SG&A expense as part ef#6.0 million charge.

Debt issuance costs associated with the Dieee@003 refinancing totaling $6.2 million were eleéd and included in other assets on the
consolidated balance sheet. The issuance costsleti$4.6 million of cash payments and $1.6 milliepresenting the fair value of warrants
to purchase 115,000 common shares and are beingizedausing the effective interest method overlifieeof the debt.

Debt and OftBalance Sheet Obligation

Total debt on the balance sheet was $99liomés of December 31, 2003 compared to $63.5anitks of December 31, 2002. The
$35.6 million increase resulted from the $51.8 immllpurchase of the leased assets and the retiteshan existing off-balance sheet
obligation as part of the refinancing partiallys#t by a $16.2 million reduction paid by cash flioem operations. Short-term debt totaled
$13.4 million at year-end 2003 and included $2.llioni borrowed under the new revolving credit agneat, $9.7 million of gold
denominated debt and $0.1 million of foreign cuesedenominated debt. The gold loan is designedreige against gold inventory. Short-
term debt also includes $1.5 million of the curngaition of long-term debt obligations. In addititmthe new long-term debt obtained in the
fourth quarter, we also had an $8.3 million va®atzte industrial development bond, a $3.0 millianable rate demand note and a
$0.9 million promissory note outstanding at Decen@fe 2003. We were in compliance with all of oebticovenants as of December 31,
2003.

In addition to the $99.1 million of balandeest debt, we have an off-balance sheet operaasglwith a notional value of $14.2 million
that finances a building at the Elmore facility.riAral payments under this lease are $2.3 millioe.&te F to the audited consolidated
financial statements included elsewhere in thispegtus for further leasing details.
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We maintain a portion of our precious metakintories on a consignment basis in order to reduc price exposure. See “Market Risk
Disclosures. The notional value of this inventory was $11.5 ioilat December 31, 2003 and $15.9 million at Demeam31, 2002. The valt
of the consigned precious metals declined durir@2fue to inventory reduction efforts and changabé product mix. The impact of the
decrease in quantity on hand was offset in pahigler prices at year-end 2003 than at year-en@.28idce third parties own the consigned
precious metal, its cost is not reflected in thaltmventory on our balance sheet. We maintaimedf&balance sheet financing arrangement
with a bank for a portion of our copper-based inwaas until it was terminated in the fourth qua802. We purchased the copper inventory
for $6.0 million from the bank and added it inta dalance sheet inventory as we determined it ware roost effective to finance these
inventories with traditional balance sheet debt.

We have made significant reductions in otaltobligations, defined as balance sheet debtpkielpalance sheet leases and off-balance
sheet inventory financing arrangements, over thethaee years. The notional balance of these atiihigs as of December 31, 2003 and 2000,
as well as the change between periods, is setifottte following table:

As of December 31,

Increase/
2003 2000 (Decrease)
(Millions)
Balance Sheet Del
Shor-term $ 134 $ 254 $(12.0)
Long-term 85.7 43.2 42.4
Key Off-balance Sheet Leas
Synthetic Equipment Lea: — 59.7 (59.7)
Building Lease 14.2 17.€ (3.9
Off-Balance Sheet Inventory Financi
Precious Metal Consignme 11.t 51.1 (39.9
Copper Financin — 8.5 (8.5
Total $124.¢ $205.¢ $(81.7)
| | |

A summary of contractual payments under lterg: debt agreements, operating leases and maiarztiase commitments by year is as
follows:

Payments Due In

Total 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 Thereafter

(Dollars in millions)

Long-term debt repaymen $ 87.2 $15 $3E $3E $3E $65.¢€ $ 9.6
Elmore building lease paymer 18.€ 2.3 2.3 2.3 2.3 2.3 7.1
Other operating lease payme 10.t 2.7 1.¢ 1.3 1.C 1.C 2.6
Subtotal no-cancelable least 29.1 5.C 4.2 3.€ 3.2 3.3 9.7
Purchase obligatior 471 12.c 12.2 12.2 11.C — —
Total $164.( $18.6  $19.¢  $19.z  $17.¢  $68.C $19.2
| | | | | | |

See “— Refinancing.”

The new revolving credit agreement, the $38illlon subordinated loan and the $20.0 milliomtdoans mature in 2008. Management
anticipates that new debt agreements will be natgmtiprior to the maturation of these agreemen29@8, as warranted. Quarterly
installments against the term loans begin in 20Bderannual repayments are also required to be ragdimst other portions of our long-term
debt in each of the next five years. See Note thaéaudited consolidated financial statements deduelsewhere in this prospectus for
additional debt information. The lease paymentsasgnt payments under non-cancelable leases \ititil Inase terms in excess of one year
as of December 31, 2003. See Note F to the audited
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consolidated financial statements included elsewhethis prospectus. The purchase obligationsidec0.3 million for capital equipment to
be acquired in 2004. The balance of the obligatamesfor raw materials to be acquired under lomgteupply agreements. These
commitments end in 2007, although we have the dppity to negotiate an extension for one of theeagrents. See Note L to the audited
consolidated financial statements included elsew/frethis prospectus.

First Quarter 2004 Comparison

Net cash used in operating activities wag $8illion in the first quarter 2004 as increasewarking capital items, primarily accounts
receivable and inventory, more than offset netiime@nd the benefits of depreciation and amortinatitash balances stood at $5.3 million at
the end of the first quarter 2004, an increasedd® #illion from the prior year end.

Accounts receivable increased $12.0 millianrh the first quarter 2004, the majority of whigsulted from the higher sales. Sales in the
first quarter 2004 were $20.3 million greater tsates in the fourth quarter 2003. The days salestanding, or DSO, was 48 days at the end
of the quarter compared to 47 days at the end @8.20he slower DSO served to increase the outsigndiceivable balance by approximat
$1.4 million.

Inventories increased by $7.7 million, or 3%aring the first quarter 2004 in order to suppbet higher business levels. Despite the
increase in inventory value, the inventory turnonaio, a measure of how quickly inventory is sotdaverage, improved to 3.2 times from
3.0 times during the fourth quarter of last yedre Thajority of the increase in the FIFO inventoayue was in the Metal Systems Group, and
Alloy Products in particular, while the Microeleatiics Group inventories increased more modestlgo/ion of the inventory increase was
also due to the higher metal prices.

Capital expenditures for property, plant agdipment and mine development totaled $1.4 miliiothe first quarter 2004 as spending
remained limited to small, isolated projects. Thetd Systems Group accounted for approximately 68%e spending.

The accounts payable balance increased $4.3 miflitime first quarter due to the higher businesslie Other liabilities and accrued ite
declined $3.2 million as a result of the paymerthifirst quarter 2004 of the incentive compemsatarned by employees in 2003, offset in
part by accruals for the 2004 incentive compenggilans and increases in other miscellaneous dscrua

The retirement and post-retirement obligabatance was $49.8 million at the end of the fixgtrter 2004, an increase of $0.4 million
since December 31, 2003. The liability for the detitedefined benefit pension plan increased $0llfomiin the quarter, as the annual
expense under this plan is estimated at $2.7 mijllbo $1.0 million higher than in fiscal 2003.

Total balance sheet debt of $108.1 milliothatend of the first quarter 2004 was $9.0 milligher than at December 31, 2003, with the
increase used to finance the working capital gro8tiort-term debt was $23.8 million at the endhef quarter compared to $13.4 million at
the end of last year, while long-term debt stoo#ig#.3 million at quarter end and $85.7 millioryaar-end 2003. The majority of the change
in long-term debt was due to a reclassificationttortterm debt as additional debt became current. We wecompliance with all of our de
covenants as of the end of the first quarter 2004.

We received $1.9 million for the exerciseapproximately 124,000 stock options during the figgarter 2004 as option exercise activity
increased with the rising price for our stock.

The notional balance of key off-balance shegtes was $14.1 million as of April 2, 2004, al$illion reduction since the end of 2003.
The balance outstanding under the off-balance gireetous metal consigned inventory arrangemegteased $5.3 million during the first
quarter 2004. Approximately 35% of this increase wae to higher metal prices. The increased qyaottinetal on hand was driven by
higher production requirements in order to satibfycurrent demand.
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There have been no substantive changes sutihenary of contractual payments under long-terbt dgreements, operating leases and
material purchase commitments as of April 2, 20@4nfthe year-end 2003 totals.

Net cash used in operations was $0.2 millathe first quarter 2003 as the net loss of $3illan and an $11.5 million increase in
accounts receivable more than offset the favorambact of other working capital items. Total inveri¢s increased $0.5 million in the first
guarter 2003. The Metal Systems Group'’s inventaslided as a result of the continuing efforts dbplProducts to reduce its inventory
balance and improve its inventory utilization. TWeroelectronics Group inventories increased wBitash Resources inventories increased
due to timing differences between the mining ofaméd shipments out. Capital expenditures were $illlion in the first quarter 2003.
Accounts payable and other liabilities and acciitests increased $7.6 million due to changes infass levels and timing differences of
disbursements. Balance sheet debt totaled $64libmrait the end of the first quarter 2003, an iase=of $0.9 million during that quarter.
Balance sheet debt was higher in the first qua@@#4 than in the first quarter 2003 as a resuthefDecember 2003 refinancing that included
the purchase of assets held under lease for $5lli@mand the termination of the related off-batarsheet lease obligation. The cash balance
was $3.4 million at the end of the first quarte020a decline of $1.0 million during that period.

Other

The $10.6 million improvement in cash flowrfr operations in 2003 over 2002 was caused priynayila $12.0 million increase in cash
receipts from the sale of goods. Cash payments&terials and expenses declined $3.5 million desphiigher level of sales, further
contributing to the improvement in cash flow fropeosations in 2003, while payments for interest @x@s were $4.9 million higher in 2003
than in 2002. Cash receipts from the sale of gegete significantly lower in 2002 than in 2001 dadtie decline in sales in 2002 and the
change in accounts receivable balances betweendgsek owever, by reducing the level of productiotivities and as a result of our
inventory reduction efforts and cost control pragsacash payments for materials and expenses dédmwell, offsetting all but $13.2
million of the fall-off in cash receipts. Combined with a $6.4 milli@duction in payments for interest and taxes, gatige in cash flow fror
operations was limited to $6.8 million in 2002 asnpared to 2001.

The $9.0 million increase in net cash usedperations in the first quarter 2004 as compaoetié first quarter 2003 resulted from cash
payments for goods and expenses and paymentsdoesh and taxes growing more than the increasash receipts from the sale of goods.
Payments for goods and services included an invgbtald in support of the improved sales in thrstfiquarter 2004 and the annual incentive
compensation payment while a portion of the incedasales were not collected by the end of the quasgt reflected by the higher receivable
balance. We believe that additional working capitaestments should not continue at the same pateedirst quarter in 2004 in subsequent
quarters and cash receipts should grow fasterdasin payments.

Management believes that cash flow from ajpmma plus the available borrowing capacity areqadée to support operating requirements,
capital expenditures, projected pension plan dountions and remediation projects. Our cost corgnal working capital management efforts
allowed cash flow from operations to remain positbn an annual basis despite the operating losshs 2001 through 2003 time period,
while the capital expenditure limitations and thiem@ation of the regular dividend in the third gtex 2001 helped to further limit cash
outlays. Cash flows were also sufficient to mektiabt service payments in the last three yeanshBugrowth in cash receipts is dependent
upon our ability to generate additional sales,ezifrom new products or from existing products in&w or current markets or geographic
regions, and our continued ability to collect reaebies on a timely basis. Future cash paymentaéderials and expenses may be affected,
favorably or unfavorably, by a variety of factarssluding our on-going cost control and inventorgmagement programs, plant efficiencies
and operating levels relative to sales, CBD-rela@giments and increased regulatory requiremerftation and retirement plan benefits.

The refinanced debt structure provides impdbstability in terms of maturity dates and impm¥iexibility in terms of available credit
and covenant structures. Our current debt-to-eqatiyp, recent
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operating losses or other financial measures maiy the ability to raise debt financing in exce$she existing revolving credit agreement.
However, availability under existing unused linésmedit totaled $20.0 million as of April 2, 2004.

We attempt to maintain cash balances at &@mim with any excess cash used to reduce overoigbther short-term borrowings. Cash
balances, if any, are invested in high quality hhidiquid investments.

We are offering 1,700,000 of our common shdoe sale under this prospectus. We intend tahms@et proceeds from this offering to
repay a portion of the amounts outstanding undecthdit facilities that are part of the refinarcime completed in December 2003. Any
remaining net proceeds will be used for workingitzd@and general corporate purposes, includingtabpkpenditures, acquisitions of
businesses or assets and investments. Althoughtesedi to use a substantial portion of the net mds®f the offering to repay a portion of
the amounts outstanding under the credit facilitiess expect to maintain sufficient liquidity for femtial acquisitions or investments because
the paydown of these credit facilities from the pietceeds will provide more borrowing availabiliys part of this offering, the selling
shareholders are selling 115,000 of our commoresharhich were issued upon exercise of warrantsat@ee issued in connection with our
December 2003 refinancing. The issuance of our comshares upon exercise of the warrants does retially change our total sharehol
equity, although it does increase the total nunalb@ur common shares outstanding.

As a result of this offering and the repaytr@frour debt, our liquidity, debt-to-equity ramd available unused debt capacity will
increase, while our future mandatory debt repaymetilt decline. The issuance of our common shardhis offering and subsequent debt
reduction should also result in a lower interegtesmse in 2004 than it would have been otherwise.

Environmental

We have an active program of environmentatance. We estimate the probable cost of idexttiinvironmental remediation projects
and establish reserves accordingly. The environaheatediation reserve balance was $6.9 millioRetember 31, 2003 and $7.7 million at
December 31, 2002. The reserve was reduced in20@Banges in the estimated cost for various ptsjpased on analyses of the projected
required remediation effort and payments for curestivity. See Note L to the audited consoliddtadncial statements included elsewher
this prospectus.

Ore Reserves

Our reserves of bertrandite ore are locatellab County, Utah. An ongoing drilling prograns lggnerally added to proven reserves.
Proven reserves are the measured quantities abonenercially recoverable through open pit miningwhich an excavation or cut is mad:
the surface of the ground for the purpose of ekitrg@re. The mine is open to the surface for tlniation of its life. Probable reserves are the
estimated quantities of ore known to exist, priadlipat greater depths, but prospects for commerecvery are indeterminable. Ore dilut
that occurs during mining is approximately severceet. Approximately 87% of beryllium in ore is oaered in the extraction process. We
augment our proven reserves of bertrandite orautfirahe purchase of imported beryl ore, approxitmat& beryllium, which is also
processed at the Utah extraction facility.

We use computer models to estimate ore resewhich are subject to economic and physicalueiain. Development drilling can also
affect the total ore reserves to some degree. 8dpgirement that reserves pass an economic testapen-pit mineable ore to be found in
both proven and probable geologic settings. Progserves decreased slightly and probable reserasunchanged in 2003 while proven
reserves decreased and probable reserves incliea@@?. We own approximately 95% of the
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proven reserves and lease the balance. Based upmyga production levels in recent years, provearkes would last approximately
100 years. Ore reserves classified as possiblexafaded from the following table.

2003 2002 2001 2000 1999
Proven bertrandite ore reserves at year end (thdssaf dry tons 6,687 6,73( 7,27(C 7,69( 7,76¢
Grade % berylliun 0.261% 0.267% 0.26t% 0.262%  0.26%%
Probable bertrandite ore reserves at year endg#muis of dry tons 3,51¢ 3,51¢ 3,081 3,16¢ 3,081
Grade % berylliun 0.23% 0.232% 0.21% 0.21% 0.21%%
Bertrandite ore processed (thousands of dry tahaed) 41 40 48 84 93
Grade % beryllium, dilute 0.22% 0.219% 0.22% 0.239% 0.24(%

Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of consolidated financialesteents requires the inherent use of estimatesramagement’s judgment in establishing
those estimates. The following are the most sigaiift accounting policies used by us that rely upanagement’s judgment.

Accrued LiabilitiesWe have various accruals on our balance sheeatbdtased in part upon management’s judgment,dimgjuaccruals
for litigation, environmental remediation and warKecompensation costs. We establish accrual bataatthe best estimate determined by a
review of the available facts and trends by manag¢rand independent advisors and specialists asgite. Absent a best estimate, the
accrual is established at the low end of the eséicheeasonable range in accordance with SFAS Nécsounting for Contingencies.”
Accruals are only established for identified an@sserted claims; future claims, therefore, could gse to increases to the accruals. The
accruals are adjusted as the facts and circumstahesge. The accruals may also be adjusted foigelsan our strategies or regulatory
requirements. Since these accruals are estimhtesjtimate resolution may be greater or less tharestablished accrual balance for a va
of reasons, including court decisions, additioristadvery, inflation levels, cost control effortstaresolution of similar cases. Changes to the
accruals would then result in an additional changeredit to income. See Note L to the audited obidated financial statements included
elsewhere in this prospectus.

The accrued legal liability only includes #imated indemnity cost, if any, to resolve tlaéne through a settlement or court verdict. The
legal defense costs are not included in the acemlare expensed in the period incurred, withehel of expense in a given year affected by
the number and types of claims we are activelyritifgy. Certain legal claims are subject to padiatomplete insurance recovery. The
accrued liability is recorded at the gross amotithe estimated cost and the insurance recoverdlary, is recorded as a separate asset and
is not netted against the liability.

We believe that our accruals are reasonagedupon our history and the facts and circumstarndowever, if the December 31, 2003
environmental reserve, workers’ compensation resand the accrued CBD legal liability were undeestdny 10% for any reason, including
the above identified causes, and assuming no iseri@ansurance coverage, then our future expeosédvincrease and our cash flow from
operations would decrease by approximately $1.BamilSimilarly, if these reserves were overstaigd 0%, then the expense would
decrease and cash flow would increase by $1.2amilli

Settlements for CBD litigation claims haveeeged approximately $0.1 million per claim over #0901 to 2003 time period while eleven
new claims were filed per year on average overtitne frame. Assuming we receive eleven new casgsyear and establish reserves for
those cases at the average cost of $0.1 milliortlzere is no insurance coverage for these casewpowigl record an increase to the reserve
and an expense of $1.1 million. Assuming the casesiltimately settled for the average cost, oshdibow would be reduced by $1.1 million
at that time.
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PensionsWe have a defined benefit pension plan that coadasge portion of our current and former domestiployees. We account
this plan in accordance with SFAS No. 87, “Emplayérccounting for Pensions.” Under Statement Nq.tB& carrying values of the
associated assets and liabilities are determinexthactuarial basis using numerous actuarial arahéial assumptions. Differences between
the assumptions and current period actual reswdtisbe deferred into the net pension asset valuaamitized against future income under
established guidelines. The deferral process giyeealuces the volatility of the recognized nehgien asset or liability and current period
income or expense. The actuaries adjust their gasoms to reflect changes in demographics and dédwors, including mortality rates and
employee turnover, as warranted. We periodicalyesg other key assumptions, including the expeottdrn on plan assets, the discount rate
and the average wage rate increase, against aetudds, trends and industry standards and makestaggnts accordingly. These adjustments
may then lead to a higher or lower expense inaréuperiod.

We maintained our expected long-term ratetfrn on plan assets assumption at 9.0% as ofrilee31, 2003, unchanged from the
previous year end. While our pension assets eame#idn excess of 9.0% in 2003, the plan underpentd this level for several years priol
2003. However, our long-term experience indicatas & 9.0% return is reasonable. Our pension plagsiment strategies are governed by a
policy adopted by the Retirement Plan Review Corsmibf the Board of Directors. The future returmpension assets is dependent upon the
plan’s asset allocation, which changes from timénie, and the performance of the underlying investts. Should the assets earn an averag
return less than 9.0% over time, in all likelihabe future pension expense would increase. Invedtesnings in excess of 9.0% would tend
to reduce the future expense. We establish theudmitcate used to determine the present valueegbtbjected and accumulated benefit
obligation at the end of each year based uponuhiable market rates for high quality, fixed inceimvestments. An increase to the discount
rate would reduce the future pension expense amdecsely, a lower discount rate would raise tharfipension expense. As of
December 31, 2003, we elected to use a discounbfd.375% compared to a rate of 6.75% as of Dbeedil, 2002. We estimate that the
change in the discount rate and other actuariainagsons and valuations combined with the amoiitredf prior differences between actual
and expected results will result in a $1.0 millinorease in the net expense from our qualified ipenslan in 2004 over 2003 with the 2005
expense estimated to be an additional $1.1 milligher than the 2004 expense. If the expectedofateturn assumption was changed by 50
basis points (0.50%) and all other pension assum@tiemained constant, the 2004 projected expeasklwhange by approximately
$0.5 million. If the December 31, 2003 discounenaere reduced by 25 basis points (0.25%) andfadirgpension assumptions remained
constant, the 2004 pension expense would increaagroximately an additional $0.3 million.

The $9.6 million additional minimum pension liahilrecorded as of December 31, 2003 does not by italicate that a cash contributi
to the plan is required. This liability was recaddeecording to SFAS No. 87, while cash contribugiand funding requirements are governed
by ERISA and IRS guidelines. Based upon these §jnaeand current assumptions and estimates, wallyianticipated that a cash
contribution to the pension plan of approximately7million may be required in 2004. The intetationship of the many factors affecting
plan assets and liabilities makes it difficult tmject contributions beyond one year out; howeaarntribution may be required in 2005 that
is greater than the 2004 projected contributiore United States Congress passed legislation il 2p8i4 designed to establish a new inte
rate assumption for calculation of required pengilam contributions. While we have not yet fullyadvated the impact of this legislation on
our defined benefit pension plan, it is possibkg thur contribution to the plan in 2004 may be Iotian initially estimated. The minimum
pension liability under SFAS No. 87 will be recdated at the measurement date, December 31 ofyeachand any adjustments to this
account and other comprehensive income within $lwéders’ equity will be recorded at that time acogly. See Note K to the audited
consolidated financial statements included elsea/frethis prospectus for additional details on pemsion plan.

LIFO Inventory.The prices of certain major raw materials, inclgd@opper, nickel, gold, silver and other preciowats purchased by t
fluctuate during a given year. Such changes inscas generally reflected in selling price adjusttaeThe prices of labor and other factors of
production generally increase
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with inflation. Additions to capacity, while morgmensive over time usually result in greater praigitg or improved yields. However,

market factors, alternative materials and competitiricing affect our ability to offset wage, beihahd other cost increases. Therefore, we
use the last-in, first-out, or LIFO, method for tieg the majority of our domestic inventories. Untlee LIFO method, inflationary cost
increases are charged against the current costoofsgsold in order to more closely match the cast kevenue. The carrying value of the
inventory is based upon older costs and as a résaltIFO cost of the inventory on the balanceesleetypically lower than it would be unc
most alternative costing methods. The LIFO impacthe income statement in a given year is dependgmni the inflation rate effect on raw
material purchases and manufacturing conversiots ctie level of purchases in a given year andnyentory mix and balance. In 2003, the
average inflation rate was low, and we reducedrmuentories. As a result, LIFO inventory layers eéquidated that reduced cost of sales by
$3.6 million in 2003. However, the cost of varigasv materials, including copper and nickel, inceshsear the end of the fourth quarter
2003, and prices continued to rise in the earlyipowof 2004.

Assuming no change from the December 31, 20@htory quantity or mix, each percentage poi@rge in the average annual inflation
factor would result in an approximately $0.3 mifliohange in our LIFO inventory value.

Deferred Tax Asset®Ve record deferred tax assets and liabilities soetance with SFAS No. 109, “Accounting For Incofexes.” The
deferrals are determined based upon the tempoiffeyethce between the financial reporting and tagds of assets and liabilities. We review
the expiration dates of the deferrals against ptegeincome levels to determine if the deferral wilcan be realized. If it is determined that it
is not probable a deferral will be realized, a a#ilon allowance would be established for that it@®rtain deferrals, including the alternative
minimum tax credit, do not have an expiration d8&e Note | to the audited consolidated finan¢atksents included elsewhere in this
prospectus for additional deferred tax details.

In addition to reviewing the deferred tax assetsrag) their expiration dates, we evaluated ourrdefetax assets for impairment due to
recent operating losses, as previously describ@tirecorded valuation allowances of $7.2 millior2003, with $5.3 million charged to
expense and $1.9 million charged to other comprgtierincome, and $27.2 million in 2002, with $1eBlion charged to expense and
$7.3 million charged to other comprehensive incoBteuld we generate a domestic pre-tax profit bsequent periods, the valuation
allowance will be reversed against the currentqoedomestic federal tax expense, resulting in higle¢ income and net income per share for
that period. Once we establish a trend of condistetual and projected positive earnings, signifigzortions or all of the remaining valuation
allowance may be reversed back to income. Shouldemerate domestic pre-tax losses in subsequentpea domestic federal tax benefit
will not be recorded, and the valuation allowaneeorded against the net deferred tax assets wik@se. This will result in a larger net loss
and net loss per share for that period versus gaable period when a favorable tax benefit wasrded. We will continue to record tax
provisions or benefits as appropriate for statelaadl taxes and various foreign taxes regardlé#iseostatus of this valuation allowance.

The valuation allowance available to be regdrto offset future tax expense was $25.2 milisof December 31, 2003. Changes in the
deferred tax valuation allowance do not impact dbsks.

Derivatives We may use derivative financial instruments to leedgr foreign currency, commodity price and interate exposures. We
apply hedge accounting when an effective hedgéioakhip can be documented and maintained. If g&ésldeemed effective, changes in its
fair value are recorded in other comprehensiverimeantil the underlying hedged item matures. ledde does not qualify as effective,
changes in its fair value are recorded againstecin the current period. We secure derivativeh tie intention of hedging existing or
forecasted transactions only and do not engageeiouative trading or holding derivatives for intraent purposes. Our annual budget and
quarterly forecasts serve as the basis for detémmforecasted transactions. The use of derivaivgeverned by policies established by the
Board of Directors. The level of derivatives outgting may be limited by the availability of cre@tivom financial
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institutions. See “— Market Risk Disclosures” andt® G to the audited consolidated financial stateémimcluded elsewhere in this
prospectus for more information on our derivatives.

Market Risk Disclosures

We are exposed to precious metal and commnpdite, interest rate and foreign exchange rdterénces. While the degree of exposure
varies from year to year, our methods and polidessigned to manage these exposures have remairgadasistent. We attempt to
minimize the effects of these exposures througbnabination of natural hedges and the use of devesit Our use of derivatives is governed
by policies adopted by the Board of Directors.

We use gold and other precious metals in rizatwring various Microelectronics Group and Mé&gktems products. To reduce the
exposure to market price changes, certain amodiqisoious metals are maintained on a consigneehitory basis. The metal is purchased
out of consignment when it is ready to ship to stemer as a finished product. Our purchase pricaddhe basis for the price charged to the
customer for the precious metal content and, tbezethe current cost is matched to the sellingepaind the price exposure is minimized. We
bear the risk of loss for precious metals lostmyithe production process as well as physical itorgrshortages and similar adjustments. We
maintain a certain amount of gold in our own inwent which is typically balanced out by having arladenominated in gold for the same
number of ounces. Any change in the market pricgotd, either higher or lower, will result in anuad change in the fair value of the asset
and liability recorded on the balance sheet.

We are charged a consignment fee by the diahmstitutions that actually own the precioustat® This fee, along with the interest
charged on the gold-denominated loan, is parte@fiynction of the market price of the metal. Beeaofmarket forces and competition, the
fee, but not the interest on the loan, can be &thrg customers on a case-by-case basis. To fuirtieprice and financing rate exposures,
under some circumstances we will require custortefigrnish their own metal for processing. Thisqtiee is used more frequently when the
rates are high and/or more volatile. Should theketgprice of precious metals used by us increasksby from the prices on December 31,
2003, the additional pre-tax cost to us on an arimasis would be approximately $0.2 million. Tha@aulation assumes no changes in the
quantity of inventory or the underlying fee anceigist rates and that none of the additional febasged to customers.

We also use base metals, primarily coppesuimproduction processes. Fluctuations in the etgrkice of copper are passed on to
customers in the form of price adders or reductfonshe majority of the copper sales volumes. Heevewhen we cannot pass through the
price of copper, margins can be reduced by inceeimstne market price of copper. To hedge this sxp®m we may enter into copper swaps
with financial institutions that exchange a vareptice of copper for a fixed price. By so doirtgg tifference between our purchase price
selling price of copper will be a known, fixed valfor the quantities covered by the swaps. We dtchave any copper swaps outstanding as
of December 31, 2003, in part due to credit con#aThe notional value of the outstanding coppeaps was $1.8 million as of
December 31, 2002. We estimate that a 10% inciieake price of copper from the December 31, 200@&pw~ould result in approximately
$0.9 million increase in the annual cost of goauld as a result of the limited ability to pass thgh all copper price increases to customers.
This calculation assumes no change in the annlaineof copper-containing products sold that atesnbject to a copper price pass through
to customers, no other selling price or cost chamge no changes in inventory from the 2003 levels.

We are exposed to changes in interest rat@siodebt and cash. This interest rate exposuraigged by maintaining a combination of
short-term and long-term debt and variable anddfvade instruments. We also use interest rate stedfpsthe interest rate on variable debt
obligations, as we deem appropriate. Excess ciahyj is typically invested in high quality instnents that mature in seven days or less. We
had $95.2 million in variable rate debt and vamata-fixed interest rate swaps with a notional eadfi $55.9 million outstanding at
December 31, 2003. If interest rates were to irsr&@90 basis points (2.0%) from the December 313 28tes and assuming no changes in
debt or cash from the December 31, 2003 levelsadidiional annual net expense would be $0.8 milba a pre-tax basis. The calculation
excludes
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any additional expense on fixed rate debt that upaturity may or may not be extended at the pragaihterest rates.

Our international operations sell producisaat in foreign currencies, mainly the euro, yed aterling, while the majority of these
products’ costs are incurred in United States dalld/e are exposed to currency movements in thhaeitJnited States dollar strengthens, the
translated value of the foreign currency sale &edr¢sulting margin on that sale will be reduce@. tWically cannot increase the price of our
products for short-term exchange rate movementasusecof our local competition. To minimize this espre, we may purchase foreign
currency forward contracts, options and collarsauth the dollar strengthen, the decline in theglated value of the margins should be offset
by a gain on the contract. A decrease in the valdke dollar would result in larger margins butguially a loss on the contract, depending
upon the method used to hedge the exposure. Thanabtalue of the outstanding currency contracs %39.8 million as of December 31,
2003 compared to $26.4 million as of December 8022 If the dollar weakened 10% against all curiesifrom the December 31, 2003
exchange rates, the increased loss on the outstandntracts as of December 31, 2003 would redteégx profits by approximately
$4.5 million. This calculation does not take intmaunt the increase in margins as a result of lxting foreign currency sales at the more
favorable exchange rate, any changes in margins firatential volume fluctuations caused by curremoyements or the translation effects
on any other foreign currency-denominated incoratestent or balance sheet item.

We record the fair values of derivatives an loalance sheet in accordance with SFAS No. 188¢dunting for Derivative Instruments
and Hedging Activities” and SFAS No. 138, “Accoungtifor Certain Derivative Instruments and Certagdting Activities.” The fair values
are determined by financial institutions and repntshe market price for the instrument betweenwaiing parties as of the balance sheet
dates. Changes in the fair value of outstandingydtives are recorded in equity or against income@propriate under the statement
guidelines. The fair value of the outstanding fgnecurrency contracts was a liability of $2.9 roifliat December 31, 2003, indicating that the
average hedge rates were unfavorable comparee tcthal year-end market exchange rates. Thedhiewf the interest rate swaps was a
loss of $5.3 million as the available interest satere lower than the rates fixed under the swagracts. The net derivative loss recorded in
other comprehensive income within shareholdersitequas $3.2 million as of December 31, 2003 coregddo $7.8 million at December 31,
2002.

Outlook

Sales trends remained strong in the earltigroof the second quarter 2004. Key markets setimetliding telecommunications and
computer, have improved while our application depeient efforts are also contributing to the saltesvth potential. We also continue to
press forward with efforts to further develop theernational markets. As a result, we estimateshbs in the second quarter 2004 may be
15% to 25% higher than sales in the second qu20@3.

Operational efficiencies and manufacturingriavements developed over the last several yearsanbining to increase margins, and our
facilities generally have sufficient capacity taisgy the current demand.

Our business plan currently calls for bottereables and inventory levels to stabilize in tbening quarters. Capital expenditure levels
may start to rise in subsequent quarters, but weotibelieve there will be a significant increaséhe near term. We believe cash flows from
operations should be sufficient to start reduciabtaccordingly in subsequent periods. The suaglessimpletion of this offering would also
improve our liquidity and financial flexibility.

We made additional progress on our CBD lit@gain 2003, reducing the number of outstandiragnas without a material impact on cash
flows or financial position. We are encouraged ig progress but caution that it is difficult teegict the outcome of the remaining claims or
the probability and the potential impact of futetaims. The progress made thus far is a testaroanirthealth and safety measures and our
investment in worker protection, education and ro&diesearch.

49




BUSINESS
Overview

We are a leading global provider of high-parfance engineered materials for a growing vanégommercial and industrial applications
where superior performance and reliability are iet$ake Our engineered materials are critical comgras of many high-technology or high-
performance products and enable those products todae stronger, smaller and lighter, with impropedormance characteristics. We
produce and distribute high-performance beryllimodoicts, alloy products, electronic products, presimetal products and engineered
material systems. Our engineered materials havdupt@pplications in a variety of end-use markietduding telecommunications and
computer, automotive electronics, optical medidustrial components, appliance, aerospace andskefen

Beryllium is a key raw material in many ofrqaroducts. Beryllium is a naturally occurring elemh—number four on the periodic table
elements, with the symbol “Be” — and is the light&suctural metal on Earth. It is stiffer thanedtdighter than aluminum and possesses
other unique mechanical and thermal propertiesylBan is extracted from bertrandite and beryl ord& operate the only active bertrandite
ore mine in the developed world, located on 7,58@sin Juab County, Utah. Through our subsididBiesh Wellman Inc., Brush Resources
Inc. and Brush Ceramic Products Inc., we are thddigoonly fully integrated provider of berylliunberyllium-containing alloys and beryllia
ceramics.

We were organized as a holding company forvatious businesses in 2000. Our subsidiary Bisliman Inc. was founded in 1931 as
The Brush Beryllium Company, was publicly trademcsi 1956 and was listed on the NYSE in 1972. Weeatly operate 16 manufacturing
facilities located in the United States, Singapeord the Philippines. We also have global servickdistribution centers in Germany, Japan,
Singapore, England and the United States, and sfiless throughout the United States, China angvaa.

We have two business segments: Metal Sys@msp and Microelectronics Group. Our Metal Syst&@nsup accounted for
approximately 60% of our sales during 2003, and\igroelectronics Group accounted for approxima®996 of our sales during 2003. The
balance of our sales during 2003 were from BrustbReees, which sells beryllium hydroxide produdedagh its Utah operations to
businesses within our Metal Systems Group and tsideicustomers.

Metal Systems Group
Our Metal Systems Group includes Alloy PraduBeryllium Products and Technical Materials Jrmc. TMI.

Alloy Products, our largest business, martufes and sells copper and nickel-based alloy systenost of which incorporate beryllium.
These beryllium alloys exhibit high strength anddm&ss, good formability and excellent resistaonoeotrosion, wear and fatigue, while
retaining good thermal and electrical conductivitiiey often are the material of choice for criticamponents in cell phones and wireless
communications equipment, notebook and network ederp and web servers, PDAs, automotive electramdsindustrial products. Alloy
Products also manufactures non-beryllium-contaimithgys — including ToughMet®, a copper-nickel-titloy — which are corrosion and
wear resistant, have excellent lubricity propertéiad are used in plastic mold tooling, aerospatand gas and heavy equipment product
applications.

Beryllium Products manufactures pure bergiliand aluminum-beryllium composites that are usetdany high-performance
applications, primarily for the defense and aerospadustries. Beryllium’s unique properties —fgtifss, strength, lightweight, temperature
resistance and reflectivity — are critical to a fnenof NASA programs.

TMI produces engineered material systemsuidiol clad metals, plated metals and electron bealted, solder coated and reflow
materials. Clad metals are a combination of twmore metals that are bonded to enhance performanperties. Plated metals are metals
that are electroplated, or coated, with gold, sjlpalladium-nickel, tin, tin-lead or nickel. Eleah beam welded materials are precious and
non-
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precious metals of varying thickness, strengthdaativity and other properties that are welded gisin electron beam. Solder coated
materials are metals coated with a layer or stfpolder. Reflow materials are soldered usingntass heating of solder or solder paste to
form solder strips at metallized areas. These emgéed material systems are produced by combiniegjqurs and non-precious metals in
continuous strip form, which provide a variety loétmal, electrical or mechanical properties oveurdiace area or particular section of the
material. TMI's products are used in complex eleatrcomponents in telecommunications systems naotioe electronics, semi-conductors
and computers, as well as other high-technolog{icgifns.

Microelectronics Group

Our Microelectronics Group includes Williashdvanced Materials Inc., or WAM, and Electronic &uots, which consists of Brush
Ceramic Products and Zentrix Technologies Inc.

WAM manufactures precious metal and specllty products specifically fabricated to meet éxacting standards required in high
reliability applications for the microelectronicemi-conductor, optical media, including DVDs, #&len tube, magnetic head, aerospace and
performance film industries.

Brush Ceramic Products produces berylliaro@ranaterials used in wireless telecommunicatitaser, medical and defense applications.
Zentrix manufactures electronic packaging and dirgused in wireless telecommunications, autonetiwedical, aerospace and defense
applications.

Our Financial and Operational Initiatives

After generating record sales of $147.2 wmllduring the fourth quarter of 2000 and strongsaf $145.5 million during the first quarter
of 2001, we experienced a dramatic and sustainelthden sales. Our quarterly revenue has rangéddmn approximately $89 million and
$106 million since the second quarter of 2001. ‘Bnip in sales levels was primarily due to theaqmdk of the global telecommunications and
computer market, which accounted for approxima®®§6 of our sales in 2000 and approximately 35%atdssin 2003. As a result, we
recorded significant operating losses in 2001, 2082 2003.

In 2001, we implemented several financial apdrational initiatives designed to return usdosistent profitability. These initiatives are
focused on five key areas: reducing debt, reduoireghead, improving margins, broadening our revdrase and positioning ourselves to
capitalize on a general economic recovery, inclgdimecovery in the telecommunications and computeket.

Through these initiatives, we have reduceal @ebt, offbalance sheet financing and precious metal consgghobligations by more th:
$66.7 million from the end of 2000 to the end af fitst quarter 2004. In December 2003, we comglatéve-year, $147.5 million debt
refinancing that lowered costs compared to aniegigtredit and lease facility. We used the procdemta the transaction to retire existing
debt and terminate an existing key off-balance tsbiekigation through the purchase of certain leasskts. The refinancing also provides
increased liquidity to support working capital regments for future growth. We achieved targeteerbgad cost reductions through, among
other things, improved efficiencies, a 27% reduciimheadcount from 2000 year-end levels, a wagezfx and fringe benefit reductions.
Despite a decline in revenue, our gross marging fraproved approximately 3.8 percentage pointsesBi01. In 2003, Alloy Products
reduced manufacturing cycle times for our alloyduats by 18%, improved manufacturing inventory suioy 48%, raised yields by 11% and
shipped 23% more pounds per manufacturing empldjeealso broadened our revenue base through tleelirdtion of several new products
for existing and new markets and positioned ouesete capitalize on growth in Asia by developingsamarketing and distribution
capabilities in a number of markets in the region.

Our Competitive Strengths

Unique Status as a Fully Integrated Provider of Bélium Products

We operate the only active bertrandite oneenimn the developed world and are the world’s dually integrated provider of beryllium,
beryllium-containing alloys and beryllia ceramige mine bertrandite ore

51




at our 7,500-acre mine in Juab County, Utah andhexberyllium from that ore at our processing Ifgcin Delta, Utah. Based on average
production levels in recent years, our proven bedite ore reserves would last approximately 1@G0s/eAs a fully integrated provider, we
offer our customers the convenience and securigysifngle supply chain source for critical engireeematerials.

High Barriers to Entry

Our vertical integration, access to beryllitesources, know-how and expertise in refining radtessing beryllium and beryllium-
containing materials, and the capital investmequired in the plant, equipment and health and gafétastructure for our business establish
high barriers to entry for potential competitors.

Product Breadth Within Existing Market:

Each of our businesses provides a diversetah of products. Product breadth is an importansideration for many customers and
distributors in their selection of suppliers. Outemsive product offerings provide an advantagaeiveloping and maintaining relationships
with OEMs and in establishing partnerships withrdisitors.

Global Distribution Network

Our global distribution network allows usactively market our products and effectively regbtmour customers’ needs throughout the
world. This network includes sales, service antrithistion centers in the United States and in kayopean and Asian markets, as well as
sales offices throughout the United States, ChinthTaiwan. We augment our internal distributionataifities with a worldwide network of
independent distributors.

Strategic Customer Relationshiy

We have established long-term relationshijls & variety of customers in key growth end mask&hese relationships allow us to work
cooperatively with customers in their new produetelopment activities, which often results in otwducts being included in design
specifications for a customer’s new product. Wedvel that these relationships have resulted frontesponsiveness, our ability to meet
special customer requirements based on innovatienblogy, the quality of our products and the dpfeour delivery.

Technological Capabilities and Product Quali

We believe that our precious and base métglsa precious metal products, precious metahiefj, precious metal plating technologies,
customized machinery, processes and attentiondlityjare competitive advantages. A portion of ptoducts and processes are proprietary.
We believe that our products’ superior charactiesgsind performance tolerances provide an impodamipetitive advantage, particularly in
the sophisticated alloys required for the most deditey end user applications.

Capacity to Support Profitable Market Grow!

As the market’s demand for engineered mdseinareases, we are well-positioned to expandhwamufacturing output without significant
incremental cash investment. In addition to martuféiny capacity, our focus on Six Sigma and leanuf&cturing techniques and emphasis
on worker productivity have significantly improvedr manufacturing efficiency and have positionedouisnprove our profitability. Six
Sigma is an analytical process that helps compaaigsprove efficiency, quality and customer satition while reducing cycle time and
operating costs.
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Significant Operating Expertist

Our senior managers have significant experientedrengineered materials industry. We believedbaimanagement team is success
implementing our financial and operational initi&@s to return us to profitability. We also belighat our management team’s extensive
experience positions us to identify and capitatineemerging growth opportunities.

Our Growth Strategy

Our objective is to grow our business prafigavhile strengthening our position as a leaditabgl provider of high-performance
engineered materials. Key elements of our growtitey are to:

Capture Improved Demand in Telecommunications andr@puter Market

We are positioned to benefit from an increéassquipment spending and a general improvemethisirconditions of the
telecommunications and computer market. During 28@&and for telecommunications and computer prisduegan to improve as
commercial and industrial users began to make msigréficant expenditures on information and comngation systems. This increasing
demand among commercial customers was augmentiegieasing consumer demand for cellular phonegl@ss communication systems
and other communication products. We are well poed in these markets and expect to benefit froprovements in market conditions.

Capitalize on the Trend Towards Higher Performanaad Miniaturization of Electronic Components

We seek to capitalize on our ability to pdeviour customers with engineered materials thatvatiesuited to meet the demanding
standards associated with the trend towards higdrdormance and miniaturization of electronic comgrats. New electronic components
must meet enhanced performance requirements, whicin require materials that can meet demandiaghanical, electrical and thermal
properties. These demands for heightened perforenareccoupled with ongoing efforts to make thesepmments stronger, smaller and
lighter. As manufacturers continue to miniaturilzeit products, more high-performance engineere@mads capable of meeting stringent
performance and reliability standards need to blided in those products.

Expand and Diversify Our Revenue Ba

We seek to build on existing customer refetiaps and our core manufacturing competenciescrease the breadth of our product
offerings in existing markets and diversify intadéttbnal markets. We intend to reduce our suscéjtyillo economic cycles and increase our
prospects for profitable growth by continuing tgpard the markets and customers we serve and psodeabffer.

Today, the telecommunications and computekaetaomprises approximately 35% of worldwide salesus nearly 50% in 2001. We are
not content to “wait it out” until there is a rothuscovery in the telecommunications and compuiarket. Although we remain well-
positioned in existing markets, efforts are coritiguto broaden the product base and diversify ath@r potential long-term growth markets.
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Some examples of our new products and tipgliGations and markets include:

Product Application/Market
Strip New Product Formr Tubing, Bearings and Oth
* Oil and Gas

« Instrumentatior
* Transportatior

New Strip AlloysAlloy 390 Electronics Marke
MoldMAX ® XL Plastic Tooling

ToughMe® Bearings and Wear Applicatiol
Undersea Housing Marine and Power Syster
New Silver Alloy Optical Media

The following charts indicate our percentafieales by market for years 2000 and 2003:

2000

Increase Our Global Presenc

We support our customers in their geograpiackets throughout the world. As the trend towdnidé-performance materials and
miniaturization continues, we believe that new neadpportunities and new potential customers wileege. We intend to continue to expi
our sales, marketing and service capabilities imi@rnational markets in response to our existimgt@mers’ needs and new business
opportunities. Our presence in the local marketsunfcustomers allows us to quickly respond tortheeds and requests, which we believe
provides us with a key competitive advantage. ikan®le, Alloy Products is focused on expandindatthold in the high growth China and
other Asian markets where consumer, personal canpad wireless applications are key drivers tarkidevelopment. Alloy Products’
focus in this region complements the solid fourataiit has already established in Europe.

Increase Operational Efficienc

We intend to build upon the success of our existiogf reduction and manufacturing efficierinitiatives to improve margins and positi



ourselves for profitable growth in both strong avehk economic environments. Despite the fall irergie, gross margins have improved
approximately 3.8% since 2001.

In 2003, for example, Alloy Products reduceginufacturing cycle times by 18%, improved manufidey inventory turns by 48%, raised
yields by 11% and shipped 23% more pounds per raatwing employee. At TMI, margins improved andngags increased despite low
sales. At WAM,
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after considering metal prices, operating marganeased approximately 10%. In 2003, margins algoaored in all of our other units.

We have programs in place, including Six Sigand lean manufacturing techniques, to addresgvgmdve costs, manufacturing
processes and inventory utilization on an ongoiagj$

Pursue Selective Acquisitions in Our Selective Mat&

We intend to selectively pursue acquisitidrat can extend our geographic reach, expand amdsifiy our customer base or increase the
breadth of our product and services offerings.

Segment Reporting

Our operations are organized under two reptetsegments, the Metal Systems Group and theoBlextronics Group, as follows:

Birwgh Engimeened hasterials e

Metal Systems Group Micrmelectronies CGroup All Cither
] — '—l—l
[ [ ]
Alloy Beryllinm Techical fﬂlim; Hectmmic EEM Services Inc. Birush
Froducts Producis hintenals, Ing, ]‘q.-!'.aien':rI.: e Products ’ Fesources Inc

The Metal Systems Group includes Brush Watlime. (Alloy Products and Beryllium Products) ardl. The Microelectronics Group
includes WAM and Electronic Products, which in tuconsists of Zentrix and Brush Ceramic Produatstiéhs of Brush International, Inc.
are included in both segments. Included in “All &thin our consolidated financial statements ineldi@lsewhere in this prospectus are the
operating results from BEM Services, Inc. and BrRsisources Inc., two of our wholly owned subsigisrBEM Services charges a
management fee for services, such as administratigeinancial oversight, to the other businessésinvour company on a cost-plus basis.
Brush Resources sells beryllium hydroxide produbedugh its Utah operations to outside customedstarbusinesses within the Metal
Systems Group.

Metal Systems Grou

The Metal Systems Group is comprised of ARypducts, Beryllium Products and TMI. In 2003, 66f@ur sales were from this segment
(61% in 2002 and 63% in 2001). As of December 83D32the Metal Systems Group had 1,125 employees.

Alloy Products

Alloy Products, the largest unit within owngpany and this segment, manufactures and selfgcemd nickel-based alloy systems, the
majority of which also contain beryllium. These guats are metallurgically tailored to meet spedifistomer performance requirements.
Copper-beryllium alloys exhibit high electrical athetrmal conductivities, high strength and hardngsed formability and excellent
resistance to corrosion, wear and fatigue. Thdegsalsold in strip and bulk form, are ideal chasi¢er demanding applications in the
following markets:

« telecommunications and computer;

* automotive electronics;

* aerospace;

« oil and gas;

« undersea housings for electronics equipment;
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« foundry;
- appliances; and
« plastic mold tooling.

Copper-beryllium strip is an ideal electronic coctoe material for telecommunications and computet automotive electronic product
applications. As electronic components require atimization, thinner connector design, lighter mateand faster processing, copper-
beryllium can provide the appropriate level of ghgbproperties for applications such as electramesig imaging shieldings, burn-in test
sockets, modular jacks, processor sockets andpaitel subscriber identity module, or SIM, cardtects. Alloy Products recently introduc
Alloy 390™ specifically designed for higewer applications, providing a unique combinatidhigh strength and high thermal and elect
conductivity.

Alloy Products also manufactures non-bergiliaontaining alloys including ToughMet®, a coppéckel-tin alloy. Bearings made with
ToughMet® last longer and require less frequennteaiance and lubrication while significantly recigcunplanned downtime. These alloys
are corrosion and wear resistant and have excdlibritity properties and are used in plastic ntololing, heavy equipment, aerospace and
oil and gas product applications.

Alloy products are sold domestically througir distribution centers and internationally thrbwayr independent distribution centers and
independent sales representatives. NGK Insuldttdsof Nagoya, Japan, with subsidiaries in theteohiStates and Europe, competes with
beryllium alloy strip products and beryllium prodsicAlloy Products also competes with alloy systemasufactured by Olin Corporation,
Wieland Electric, Inc. and Stolberger MetallwerkankgH, Nippon Mining, PMX and other generally lespexsive materials, including
phosphor bronze, stainless steel and other specigfiper and nickel alloys that are produced bgréety of companies around the world. In
the area of beryllium alloy bulk products (bar,tplaube and rod), in addition to NGK Insulatorg eompete with several smaller regional
producers such as Freedom Alloys in the UnitedeStdtaBronze Industriel in Europe and Young Il isigA

The following charts highlight the marketslapplications for Alloy Products:

Alloy Strip Products

Market Application

Automotive Power, communication, and signal distribution comgrds such as connectors, switches
and relays used in cars and light truc

Telecommunications Strip and wire components used as connectors, @snthielding, switch on cell phones,
pagers, wireless base stations, transmission eguipand other communication networ

Computers Strip and wire components used as connectorsdéiieadnd contacts on desktop
computers, PDAs, workstations, servers and other starage devices made by major
brands such as Sun, HP, Compaq and |

Appliance Strip and wire components for power delivery andtoas.
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Alloy Bulk Products

Market Application

Automotive Plate and bar products for tooling for plastic nedldomponents resistance welding
equipment, valve and suspension compont

Oil & Gas Rod and tube product for instrumentation housingstrol valves and drilling componer

Aerospace Rod and tube products for bushings and bear

Foundry Cas_ting products for power delivery systems, autbracastings, and industrial
equipment

Marine Rod, tube, and custom engineered products for kigar@mission and amplificatio

Consume Plate and rod products for containe

Beryllium Products

Beryllium Products manufactures products ihetide beryllium, AIBeMet® and E-materials. Bdiyin is a lightweight metal possessing
unique mechanical and thermal properties. Its §ipestiffiness is much greater than other enginestagttural materials such as aluminum,
titanium and steel. Beryllium is extracted fromtbbertrandite and beryl ores.

In September 2003, beryllium was chosen bgtiop Grumman Space Technology as the materiah#Bd8 segment, 6.5-meter primary
mirror of NASA’s James Webb Space Telescope. Thieof-the-art lightweight beryllium mirror willlaw scientists to see ten to eleven
billion light years away. We expect this applicatio add approximately $15 million in sales of optigrade beryllium over the next two to
three years.

Beryllium-containing products are sold thrbagt the world through a direct sales organizadind through our independent distribution
centers. While Beryllium Products is the only dotieegroducer of metallic beryllium, it competesrparily with engineering designs utilizii
other materials. Our Beryllium Products include:

* Beryllium metal — One of the lightest, low dengityetals, beryllium metal is a vacuum cast and hlat/smstatically pressed powder-
derived metal. Beryllium metal exhibits high stiégs, thermal conductivity and low thermal expansBetyllium metal is transparent
and is a neutron reflectc

» AIBeMet® — These lightweight aluminum/beryllium cposites are powder-derived metals and are eithewded, rolled sheet or
isostatically pressed. AIBe® exhibits many of the same properties as berylliuatainbut is easier to fabrica

» E-Materials — These low expansion, lightweight &i@aic packaging materials are composites of bieirplimetals and beryllium oxide.

« Beryllium oxide and chemicals — Beryllium oxide acftemicals are specialty beryllium-containing cheats and ceramic-grade
beryllium oxide powder
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The following chart highlights the marketslapplications for our Beryllium Products:

Beryllium Products

Market Application

Optics Optical substrate and support structures for viandlinfrared target acquisition systems in
fighter aircraft, helicopters and tanks, surveidlarsystems and astronomical telesco

Aerospace/Defens Structures and sensors for defense and commest@abimmunications satellite

Electronics Electronic packaging, including circuit boards, emsvand packages, for defense avionics,
radar and electronic countermeasures systems lioopeers and fighter aircral

Medical Radiographic tube components for medical diagn@&stigpment such as x-ray,
mammography and C/-scan equipment and industri-ray equipment

Optical Scanning Mirrors for laser scanners used in reprographicathdr higl-performance laser applicatior
Motion Control Structural components for high-precision semi-canidluprocessing and industrial robotic
equipment
T™I

TMI manufacturers engineered material systdrasare combinations of precious and poeeious metals in continuous strip form anc
used in complex electronic and electrical componéntelecommunications systems, automotive eleitsg semi-conductors and computers.
TMI's products are sold directly and through ittesaepresentatives. TMI has limited competitiothi@ United States and several European
manufacturers are competitors for the sale ofdnaiip. Strip with selective electroplating is@mpetitive alternative as are other design
approaches. Additional competition for TMI exigtsthe plating area in North America and worldwidlbe following chart indicates some of
the applications of TMI products:

TMI Product Applications

* Capacitors * Leadframes * Relays » Medical Devices

» Connectors » Micro Motors * Sensor: *» Heat Transfer Application
« Contact Probe » Microwaves « Solder Clips * Fuel Cells

* Fuses * Potentiometer » Switches » Computer Disk Drive Arm

Sales and Backlo

The backlog of unshipped orders for the M8gtems Group as of December 31, 2003, 2002 &bl \28s $47.7 million, $35.1 million
and $61.0 million, respectively. Backlog is genlgra¢presented by purchase orders that may bertated under certain conditions. We
expect that substantially all of our backlog ofensifor this segment at December 31, 2003 willilkedfduring 2004.

Sales are made to approximately 1,700 cuswr®vernment sales, principally subcontractspact=d for about 7.9% of Metal Systems
Group net sales in 2003 as compared to 9.3% in 26623.3% in 2001. Sales outside the United Stptewipally to Western Europe,
Canada and the Pacific Rim, accounted for appraeiind2% of the Metal Systems Group sales in 2883 in 2002 and 38% in 2001.
Other segment reporting and geographic informatiaet forth in Note M to the audited consoliddiedncial statements included elsewhere
in this prospectus.
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Research and Developme

Active research and development programs seekproduct compositions and designs as well @sgss innovations for the Metal
Systems Group. Expenditures for research and dewednt amounted to $2.8 million in 2003, $2.5 miilio 2002 and $4.7 million in 2001.
A staff of 21 scientists, engineers and techniciaas employed in this effort as of year end 20@8n& research and development projects,
expenditures for which are not material, were exdhy sponsored.

Microelectronics Groug

The Microelectronics Group is comprised of W/And Electronic Products, which consists of Zerdnd Brush Ceramic Products. In
2003, 39% of our sales were from this segment, evethto 37% in 2002 and 36% in 2001. As of Decer3thieR003, the Microelectronics
Group had 552 employees.

WAM

WAM manufactures and fabricates precious haetd specialty alloy metal products for the odtioadia, magnetic head, including
magnetic resistive, or MR, and giant magnetic tegisor GMR, materials, electron tube, performafiloe and the wireless, semi-conductor,
photonic and hybrid segments of the microelect®niarket. WAM’s major product lines include vapepdsition plating materials, clad and
precious metals preforms, high temperature brazenmabs, ultra fine wire, sealing lids for the sewoinductor/hybrid markets and restorative
dental alloys. The following chart indicates thesibesses, markets and end uses for WAM products:

Williams Advanced Materials

Business Market Example of End Use
Physical Vapor Deposition Products * Wireless microelectronics Wireless and photonic components;
* Optical media recordable CDs; DVDs; and faucets.
* Photonics

» Glass decorative
* Wear resistance materiz

Packaging Material Products * Wireless Cellular phones, LEDs; fiber-optic
* Photonics networks; personal computers; military
 Hybrid microelectronic devices electronics; avionics; medical electronics;

and appliances

Specialty Alloy Products « Electron tubing Cellular base stations; lasers; x-ray
* Photonics machines; and industrial microwaves.
* Aerospace
* Microelectronic packagin

WAM's products are sold directly from WAM’adilities in Buffalo, Brewster and Wheatfield, N&erk, Singapore, Taiwan and the
Philippines, as well as through direct sales offiaad independent sales representatives througmutorld. Principal competition includes
companies such as Sumitomo Metals, Praxair, Inmewell International Inc. and a number of smakgyional and national suppliers.

Electronic Product:

Electronic Products has two business grodestrix and Brush Ceramic Products. Zentrix proessdectronic packages at our production
site in Newburyport, Massachusetts. Its produasuaed in wireless,
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telecommunications, fiberoptic, automotive and dséeapplications. Zentrix competes with other eteit packaging suppliers, including
Kyocera Corporation.

Circuits Processing Technology Inc., or CRBubsidiary of Zentrix, manufacturers electromicustry and circuit components at its
production site in Oceanside, California. Its pratdiare used in defense and wireless telecommionsatpplications. CPT competes with
other circuitry suppliers, including Anaren Microveaand Aeroflex, Inc.

Brush Ceramic Products, located in Tucsolizoha, produces beryllia ceramics used in wireleecommunications, laser, automotive
and defense product applications. Principal cortgrstinclude CBL Ceramics Ltd. and American Begyllinc. Competitive materials include
aluminum nitride and metal matrix composites.

The following chart indicates the businessad applications for Electronic Products:

Electronic Products Group

Business Application
Electronic Packaging Products * RF power packages for cellular base stationsndareless data networks, cellular
(Zentrix) handsets and military radar applicatic

» Automotive components for ignition systems in camg trucks
» Power circuit assemblies for DC motor contr

Circuit Processing Technology * High frequency military and aerospace circuioy filitary radar and missile
(Zentrix) guidance
* High frequency wireless circuitry for satellite comnications
» Package components for amplifiers in fiber optitvoeks.

Brush Ceramic Products * RF power package components for cellular bag®staand high reliability
military applications
» Package components for amplifiers in fiber optitvoeks.
» Components for medical laser applicatic
» Automotive components for ignition systems in camg trucks

Sales and Backlo

The backlog of unshipped orders for the Microetatizs Group as of December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2@81$13.7 million, $19.8 millio
and $20.5 million, respectively. Backlog is genlgra¢presented by purchase orders that may bertated under certain conditions. We
expect that substantially all of our backlog ofensifor this segment at December 31, 2003 willilkedfduring 2004.

Sales are made to approximately 1,700 cuswr@®vernment sales, principally subcontractsoacted for less than 1% of
Microelectronics Group net sales in 2003 as conmpardess than 1% in 2002 and 2.8% in 2001. Saleside the United States, principally
Western Europe, Canada and the Pacific Rim, acedunt approximately 15% of Microelectronics Gragd sales in 2003, 18% in 2002 ¢
13% in 2001. Other segment reporting and geograpfaemation is set forth in Note M to the auditemhsolidated financial statements
included elsewhere in this prospectus.

Research and Developme

Active research and development programs seekproduct compositions and designs as well @sgss innovations for the
Microelectronics Group. Expenditures for Microetectics Group research and development amountedl.forffillion for 2003, $1.7 million
for 2002 and $1.6 million in 2001. A staff of 6 setists, engineers and technicians was employ#dsreffort as of year end 2003.
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Raw Materials

Our principal raw materials are beryllium tfexted from both imported beryl ore and bertrandiined from our Utah properties), copper,
gold, silver, nickel, platinum, palladium and alumin. See ore reserve data in “Management’s Diszugsid Analysis” included elsewhere
in this prospectus. We have agreements to purdtated quantities of beryl ore, beryllium metal &edyllium-copper master alloy from the
Defense Logistics Agency of the United States gowemnt. In addition, we have a long-term supplyregesment with Ulba/ Kazatomprom of
the Republic of Kazakhstan and its marketing regoretive, Nukem, Inc. of New York, to purchase diti@s of beryllium-copper master and
beryllium vacuum cast billet. The availability dfese raw materials, as well as other materials bigers, is adequate and generally not
dependent on any one supplier.

Patents and Licenses

We own patents, patent applications and fiesmelating to certain of our products and praesed&/hile our rights under the patents and
licenses are of some importance to our operatimnsbusiness is not materially dependent on anypaitent or license or on all of our patents
and licenses as a group.

Regulatory Matters

We are subject to a variety of laws whichutate the manufacture, processing, use, handliotage, transport, treatment, emission,
release and disposal of substances and wastesugederated in manufacturing. For decades, we bperated our facilities under applice
standards of inplant and outplant concentratiortseofllium in the air. The inhalation of airbornerpllium particulate may present a health
hazard to certain individuals. The Occupationak8afnd Health Administration is currently reviewiits beryllium standards.

Properties

We have 16 milling and manufacturing facitj which are located in Arizona, California, Ma$assetts, New York, Ohio, Pennsylvania,
Rhode Island, Utah, the Philippines and Singaptte also have global service and distribution ceniteEngland, Germany, Japan,
Singapore and the United States, and sales otficeaghout the United States, China and Taiwan.@aoperties, all of which are owned in
fee except as otherwise indicated, are as follows:

Manufacturing Facilities
« Brewster, New York — A 35,000-square-foot leasedlityt on a 6.0-acre site for manufacturing sergicelating to nomprecious metal:

« Buffalo, New York — A complex of approximately 9D® square feet on a 3.8-acre site providing féedlifor manufacturing, refining
and laboratory services relating to high puritygiwas metals

* Delta, Utah — An ore extraction plant consisting36f000 square feet of buildings and large outdaditities situated on a 4,400-acre
site. This plant extracts beryllium from bertraeditre from our mines as well as from imported bergl

« Elmore, Ohio — A complex containing approximate56800 square feet of building space on a 439-aart site. This facility
employs diverse chemical, metallurgical and metaking processes in the production of beryllium ylarm oxide, beryllium alloys
and related product

» Fremont, California — A 16,800-square-foot leasaallity for the fabrication of precision electrordm welded, brazed and diffusion
bonded beryllium structure

« Juab County, Utah — 7,500 acres with respectiveerairrights from which the beryllium-bearing orertrandite, is mined by the open
pit method. A portion of the mineral rights is helidder lease

« Lincoln, Rhode Island — A manufacturing facilityristing of 140,000 square feet located on 7.5sadreis facility produces reel-to-
reel strip metal products which combine precious @or-precious metals in continuous strip form and relatetal systems produc
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« Lorain, Ohio — A manufacturing facility consistimd 55,000 square feet located on 15 acres. Thibt§geroduces norberyllium meta
alloys in electronic induction furnaces which aoatinually cast into bar stock and heat trea

« Newburyport, Massachuse— A 30,000-square-foot manufacturing facility ofoar-acre site that produces alumina, beryllia ggca
and direct bond copper produc

» Oceanside, California — Two leased facilities tioigl20,200 square feet on 1.25 acres of leased @wver three-quarters of these
facilities are comprised of clean rooms for thedoretion of thicl-film circuits and other complex circuit

« Santa Clara, California — A 5,800-square-foot leafseility that provides bonding services relatiogohysical vapor deposition
materials.

« Shoemakersville, Pennsylvania — A 123,000-squan¢fitant on a 55-acre site that produces thin piagistrips of copper beryllium
and other alloys and copper beryllium rod and v

« Singapore — A 4,500-square-foot leased facilitytfar assembly and sale of precious metal hermediling lids.

« Subic Bay, Philippines — A 5,000-square-foot leafsmility that manufactures Combo-Lid&d performs preform assembly, inspec
and packaginc

« Taipei, Taiwan — A 5,000-square-foot leased serbimeding center supporting the physical vapor ditiposproduct market in Asia.

« Tucson, Arizona — A complex containing approximgat@B,000 square feet of building space on a tea-site for the production of
beryllium oxide ceramic substrate

* Wheatfield, New York — A 29,000-square-foot fagilin a 10.2-acre site for manufacturing servicésirg to braze material and
specialty alloys

Research Facilities and Administrative Office

« Cleveland, Ohio — A 110,000-square-foot buildingaam18-acre site housing corporate and adminigérafifices, data processing and
research and development faciliti

Service and Distribution Center
« Elmhurst, lllinois — A 28,500-square-foot leasediligy principally for distribution of copper beryim alloys.
« Fairfield, New Jersey — A 24,500-square-foot leasedity principally for distribution of copper lpglium alloys.

* Fukaya, Japan — A 35,500-square-foot facility dhdcres of land in Saitama Prefecture principalydistribution of copper beryllium
alloys.

« Singapore — A 2,500-square-foot leased sales dfffiaehouses employees of Alloy Products and WANMEzst.
« Stuttgart, Germany — A 24,750-square-foot leaseditiaprincipally for distribution of copper bedim alloys.
 Theale, England — A 19,700-square-foot leasedifagitincipally for distribution of copper berylla alloys.

* Warren, Michigan — A 34,500-square-foot leasedlitggdrincipally for distribution of copper beryllim alloys.
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MANAGEMENT

The following table sets forth the names agds of our directors and executive officers, aagthe positions and offices held by those
persons.

Name Age Position
Gordon D. Harnet 61 Chairman of the Board, President, Chief Executiffic€ and Directol
John D. Gramp 56 Vice President Finance and Chief Financial Off
Daniel A. Skoct 55 Senior Vice President Administratic
Albert C. Bersticke 70 Director
David H. Hoac 64 Director
Joseph P. Keithle 55 Director
William B. Lawrence 59 Director
William P. Madar 64 Director
William G. Pryor 65 Director
N. Mohan Redd 50 Director
William R. Robertsor 62 Director
John Sherwin, Jr 65 Director

Set forth below is biographical informatiar bur directors and executive officers.

Gordon D. Harnett.Mr. Harnett was elected our Chairman of the Bo@tuef Executive Officer and Director effective Janyi1991. In
addition, Mr. Harnett has served as our Presidem flanuary 1991 to May 2001 and from May 200héogdresent. He is a director of
Lubrizol Corporation, EnPro Industries, Inc. andy®me Corporation.

John D. GrampaMr. Grampa was elected our Vice President FinandeGhief Financial Officer in November 1999. He fsatved as
our Vice President Finance since October 1998r Ruithat, he had served as Vice President, Fintoradbe Worldwide Materials Business
Avery Dennison Corporation since March 1994 and lo¢her various financial positions at Avery DemsCorporation from 1984.

Daniel A. SkochMr. Skoch was elected our Senior Vice President iibtration in July 2000. Prior to that time, hedtserved as our
Vice President Administration and Human ResouraeedMarch 1996.

Albert C. BerstickerMr. Bersticker has been a Director since 1993. lde elected Chairman of Ferro Corporation, a pradoica divers
array of performance materials, in February 199b6ratired in 1999. He served as Chief Executived®ffof Ferro Corporation, a producel
performance materials, from 1991 until January 1899 as its President from 1988 until February 19886 Bersticker is the non-executive
Chairman of the Board of Oglebay Norton CompanyleBay Norton Company filed for chapter 11 bankrypgimtection in February 2004.
He is currently Secretary, Treasurer and a memiiredBoard of Directors of St. John’s Medical Garih Jackson, Wyoming.

David H. Hoag.Mr. Hoag has been a Director since 1999. He retie@hairman of the Board of The LTV Corporatiodamuary 1999.
He had served as its Chairman since June 1991hia$ Executive Officer from February 1991 until $spber 1998 and as President from
January 1991 until July 1997. The LTV Corporatitded for chapter 11 bankruptcy protection in Decem®000. Mr. Hoag is a director of
Lubrizol Corporation, NACCO Industries, Inc., Poly®©Corporation and The Chubb Corporation. He is alsiember of the Boards of
Trustees of Allegheny College and University Haaigibf Cleveland.

Joseph P. KeithleyMr. Keithley has been a Director since 1997. Heli®n Chairman of the Board of Keithley Instrumghts., a
designer, developer, manufacturer and marketeomftex electronic instruments and systems, sin®d 1de has served as Chief Executive
Officer of Keithley Instruments, Inc. since Novemii®93 and as its President since May 1994. Halisegtor of Keithley Instruments, Inc.
and Nordson Corporation, a designer, manufacturgmaarketer of precision dispensing systems.

63




William B. Lawrence.Mr. Lawrence has been a Director since 2003. Heeslestls Executive Vice President, General Counsgééretary
of TRW Inc., an automotive, defense, aerospacdrdndnation technology company, from 1997 until #ae of TRW to Northrop Grummi
Corporation in December 2002. Prior to 1997, he hid various other positions at TRW since 1976.[Mwrence has been a director of
Ferro Corporation since 1999.

William P. Madar.Mr. Madar has been a Director since 1988. He it Chairman of the Board of Nordson Corporatitectve
March 2004, a position he held since December 1Bé@r to that time, he served as Vice ChairmaNafdson Corporation from
August 1996 until October 1997 and as Chief Exeeudfficer from February 1986 until October 19970 February 1986 until
August 1996, he also served as its President. Heliector of Lubrizol Corporation and Nordson @anation.

William G. Pryor.Mr. Pryor has been a Director since 2003. He seagcresident of Van Dorn Demag Corporation, a fisatwrer of
plastic injection molding equipment, from 1993 02 when he retired. He had also served as PreésiddrChief Executive Officer of Van
Dorn Corporation, predecessor to Van Dorn Demagy@ation. Mr. Pryor is a director of Oglebay NortBompany and Oxis International,
Inc., a biopharmaceutical/nutraceutical/diagnosti;pany.

Dr. N. Mohan ReddyDr. Reddy has been a Director since 2000. He hais agrofessor at the Weatherhead School of Managfei@as:
Western Reserve University for the past five yeBrsReddy is a director of Keithley Instrumentss.|

William R. RobertsonMr. Robertson has been a Director since 1997. ldébban a Managing Partner of Kirtland Capital Ragna
private venture capital fund business, since Sepeerfi997. Prior to that time, he was presidentaadatector of National City Corporation
from October 1995 until July 1997. He also serve@®aputy Chairman and a director of National Citrfidration from August 1988 until
October 1995. Mr. Robertson is a member of the @o&Managers of the Prentiss Foundation and a reewofland a vice president of the
Board of Trustees of the Cleveland Museum of Ag.igla director of Gries Financial LLC, Fairportsés Management LLC, and Instron
Corporation, a designer, manufacturer, marketersangicer of materials and structural testing systesoftware and accessories.

John Sherwin, Jr.Mr. Sherwin has been a Director since 1981. Hebleas President of Mid-Continent Ventures, Inc.riggbe venture
capital fund business, during the past five yddirs.Sherwin is a director of John Carroll Univeysitnd Shorebank Cleveland, a trustee of
Cleveland Clinic Foundation and Chairman of Thev€lend Foundation.
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SELLING SHAREHOLDERS

In connection with the debt refinancing we complete December 4, 2003, we issued warrants to psecha5,000 common shares to
subordinated lenders as part of the consideration $35.0 million subordinated loan. One of th@aerants to purchase 16,429 of our
common shares was issued to Bank One, NA, whickezjtently transferred the warrant to one of itiat#s, First Chicago Capital
Corporation. In addition, one of the warrants toghase 20,000 of our common shares was issuedzté\ttjuisition Partners LLC, which
subsequently transferred the warrant to one affiisates, Cochran Road, LLC. The common shargsstered for sale by the selling
shareholders in the registration statement of wthichprospectus is a part are the common shaeeselting shareholders have acquired upon
exercise of those warrants. The table below sets fioformation regarding ownership of our commabares by the selling shareholders and
the number of shares that may be sold by them uh@eprospectus.

None of the selling shareholders has hadpasition or office or material relationship with dsring the past three years, other than as a
security holder, except that certain affiliateghaf selling shareholders are lenders under theeab@ntioned subordinated loan and/or our
$105.0 million senior secured credit facility. TH&5.0 million subordinated loan and the $105.0iomilsenior secured credit facility are
described in the notes to our consolidated findstéements included elsewhere in this prospectus.

Shares beneficially
owned prior to

this offering Shares to be
Shares offered beneficially owned
Name Number Percent in this offering after this offering
First Chicago Capital Corporatic 16,42¢1) * 16,42¢ 0
Cochran Road, LL( 20,00((2) * 20,00( 0
Upper Columbia Capital Company, LL 78,57(3) * 78,57 0

* Less than 1% of outstanding common she

(1) Includes 16,429 common shares issued upon exaftctbe warrants
(2) Includes 20,000 common shares issued upon exercike warrants
(3) Includes 78,571 common shares issued upon exatctbe warrants
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DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK

Upon completion of this offering, there vk 18,587,264 common shares issued and outstatdisgd on the number of shares
outstanding as of June 1, 2004, and no sharesf#rped stock issued and outstanding.

As of June 1, 2004, our authorized capitatlstonsisted of 60,000,000 common shares, noglaeyof which 16,887,264 shares were
issued and outstanding, and 5,000,000 shares fefrprd stock, no par value, of which no shares wsmeed and outstanding.

Common Shares

Each outstanding common share is entitlezh®vote on all matters submitted to a vote ofednaliders. Pursuant to Ohio law, holders of
our common shares have the right to cumulativengot©ur articles of incorporation provide for owalod to be divided into three classes of
directors, as nearly equal in number as possiblejrgy staggered terms. Approximately one-thirdwf board will be elected by the
shareholders each year.

Subiject to any superior rights of any hold#rpreferred stock, each outstanding common shékée entitled to such dividends as may
be declared from time to time by our board of divex out of legally available funds. We have naent intention to declare dividends on our
common shares in the near term. Our current p@ity retain all funds and earnings for use indperation and expansion of our business,
and our ability to pay dividends is restricted bg terms of our credit facilities. In the evenbof liquidation, dissolution or winding up,
holders of our common shares will be entitled ®irthroportionate share of any assets remainirgg pityment of liabilities and any amounts
due to the holders of preferred stock. Holdersusfammmon shares have no preemptive rights anéghbto convert or exchange their
common shares into any other securities. No redempt sinking fund provisions apply to our commsirares. All outstanding common
shares are, and all common shares to be outstangdorgcompletion of this offering will be, fully thband non-assessable.

Under the terms of our shareholder rightsiptee preferred share purchase right is assoandthceach of our outstanding common
shares. One right will also be issued in respeeach common share issued in this offering. Un&lDistribution Date, the rights are not
exercisable, are evidenced by the certificate@fmrcommon shares and may be transferred onlyautttommon shares. The rights plan
defines the “Distribution Date” as the earlier of:

« the close of business on the tenth calendar déywiivlg the date of our announcement that a persgmaup has become the beneficial
owner of 20% or more of the th-outstanding common shares; ¢

« ten business days (or a later date determined bigaard of directors) after a person or group comgae a tender or exchange offer
that, if completed, would result in that persorgmup becoming the beneficial owner of 20% or mafrthe then-outstanding common
shares

The rights will expire on May 16, 2010. See alsis¥R-actors — The Ohio takeover statutes, our dmmestt documents and rights plan could
deter, delay or prevent a third party from acqgjns, which could deprive you of an opportunityphtain a takeover premium for our
common shares.”

Additional information relating to the commshares and the preferred share purchase rightseceound in the Form 8-A we filed on
May 16, 2000, which is incorporated into this doemtby reference.

Preferred Stock

Our board of directors is authorized, withshiareholder approval, to issue up to 5,000,006esha preferred stock in one or more series
and to fix the rights, preferences, privileges egslrictions granted to or imposed upon the pretestock, including voting rights, dividend
rights, conversion rights, terms of redemptionyiliation preference, sinking fund terms and the lmemof shares constituting any series or
the designation of a series. Our board of direatars without shareholder approval, issue prefestedk with
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voting and conversion rights that could adverséfigca the voting power of the holders of commonrskaAny preferred stock issued would
also rank senior to our common shares as to rightsn liquidation, winding-up or dissolution. Thesuance of convertible preferred stock
could have the effect of delaying, deferring orvergting a change in control of our company. We haveresent plan to issue any shares of
preferred stock.

Warrants

In connection with the debt refinancing coetptl on December 4, 2003, we issued warrants thase 115,000 common shares to our
subordinated lenders as part of the consideration $35 million subordinated loan. One of theseravds to purchase 16,429 of our common
shares was issued to Bank One, NA, which subselguesmsferred the warrant to one of its affiligtEg'st Chicago Capital Corporation. In
addition, one of the warrants to purchase 20,008uocommon shares was issued to H/Z Acquisitiain@es LLC, which subsequently
transferred the warrant to one of its affiliatescfiran Road, LLC. The exercise price of the wasaras $0.01 per share. All of the warrants
have been exercised.

Registration Rights

The selling shareholders have demand retjmtraights with respect to common shares that visseed upon exercise of the warrants
pursuant to the terms of their warrants. Pursuattidse rights, we are required, upon requestlgt@ fregistration statement relating to the
common shares as expeditiously as possible affilitg of our annual report on Form 10-K for tligcal year ending December 31, 2003.
We are also required to use our commercially reglslerefforts to cause such registration statentebétome and remain effective for a
period of time not to exceed 120 days. We have@ilanted the selling shareholders “piggyback” region rights pursuant to the warrants,
which entitle the selling shareholders to noticd tminclude, at our expense, their common sharssine registrations of our common
shares. The selling shareholders have exerciseditjas to include in this offering the commonrasés they have received upon exercise of
the warrants described above.

Ohio Control Share Acquisition Statute

Section 1701.831 of the Ohio Revised Codeireg the prior authorization of the shareholdérseotain corporations in order for any
person to acquire, either directly or indirectlgages of that corporation that would entitle thguaing person to exercise or direct the
exercise of 20% or more of the voting power of t@poration in the election of directors or to @xd specified other percentages of voting
power. In the event an acquiring person proposesaike such an acquisition, the person is requoekbliver to the corporation a statement
disclosing, among other things, the number of shavened, directly or indirectly, by the person, taege of voting power that may result
from the proposed acquisition and the identityhaf &cquiring person. Within 10 days after receiffhis statement, the corporation must call
a special meeting of shareholders to vote on thpgsed acquisition. The acquiring person may cotaplee proposed acquisition only if the
acquisition is approved by the affirmative voteaahajority of the voting power of the corporatiorthe election of directors represented at
the meeting and a majority of the portion of théing power of all shares entitle to vote in thecéten of directors represented at the meeting
excluding the voting power of all “interested siginepresented at the meeting. Interested shackslimany shares held by the acquiring
person and those held by officers and directoth@torporation as well as by certain others, iiclg many holders commonly characterized
as arbitrageurs. Section 1701.831 does not ap@yctorporation if its articles of incorporationawde of regulations state that the statute does
not apply to that corporation. Neither our artiabésncorporation nor our regulations contain avismn opting out of this statute.
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Ohio Interested Shareholder Statute

Chapter 1704 of the Ohio Revised Code prtditgrtain corporations from engaging in a “chafpi&4 transaction” with an “interested
shareholder” for a period of three years afterdhie of the transaction in which the person becamiaterested shareholder, unless, among
other things:

« the articles of incorporation expressly providet tha corporation is not subject to the statute lfaee not made this election); or

« the board of directors of the corporation appraheschapter 1704 transaction or the acquisitioth@fshares before the date the shares
were acquired

After the three-year moratorium period, tbeporation may not consummate a chapter 1704 tcéinsaunless, among other things, it is
approved by the affirmative vote of the holdersibleast two-thirds of the voting power in the &fat of directors and the holders of a
majority of the voting shares, excluding all shaveseficially owned by an interested shareholdeoaffiliate or associate of an interested
shareholder, or the shareholders receive certaiimmim consideration for their shares. A “chapted4 #ansactionincludes certain merget
sales of assets, consolidations, combinations ajdrity share acquisitions involving an interessédreholder. An “interested shareholdsr”
defined to include, with limited exceptions, anygmn who, together with affiliates and associatet)e beneficial owner of a sufficient
number of shares of the corporation to entitleghieson, directly or indirectly, alone or with otheto exercise or direct the exercise of 10% or
more of the voting power in the election of direstafter taking into account all of the person’adficially owned shares that are not then
outstanding.

Related Party Transactions

Pursuant to our articles of incorporatiotated party transactions require the affirmativeevaf both a majority of our outstanding voting
stock and a majority of the portion of our outstagdvoting stock not including the voting stock ayanby the related party involved in the
related party transaction. A “related party” meang party, together with its affiliates or assoegathat is the beneficial owner of 10% or
more but less than 90% of our voting stock. A “retbparty transaction” means:

* any merger or consolidation between us or a sulryidvith a related party;

« any transaction outside the ordinary course ofrimssi between us or a subsidiary and a related ipadlving the acquisition or
disposition of assets for $5 million or more inue|

« the issuance or transfer of any of our securitighat of our subsidiaries to a related party, adirig pro rata distributions to all of
our shareholder:

* any reclassification of our securities or any rétdigation or other transaction that would incredise voting power of a related
party; anc

« the adoption by us of any liquidation or dissolatfdan or proposal which the related party votefauor of.
Transfer Agent and Registrar
National City Bank, N.A. is the transfer agand registrar for our common shares.
Listing
Our common shares are listed on the New Yaock Exchange under the symbol “BW.”
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UNDERWRITING

Subject to the terms and conditions set fortén underwriting agreement by and among théngethareholders, KeyBanc Capital
Markets, a division of McDonald Investments Ineffdries & Company, Inc., BB&T Capital Markets, iaidion of Scott & Stringfellow, Inc
and Wm Smith Securities, Incorporated, as repratigas for the underwriters named in the agreenaamt,us, we and the selling sharehol
have agreed to sell to each underwriter, and eadbrwriter has severally agreed to purchase fravsétling shareholders and us, the nun
of common shares set forth opposite its name iiathie below.

Underwriter Number of Shares

KeyBanc Capital Markets, a division of McDonald éstments Inc.
Jefferies & Company, Inc

BB&T Capital Markets, a division of Scott & Strirgjfow, Inc.
Wm Smith Securities, Incorporat

Total 1,815,001

Under the terms of the underwriting agreenirt underwriters are committed to purchase athee common shares if any shares are
purchased. If an underwriter defaults, the undeingriagreement provides that the purchase commisradrihe nondefaulting underwriters

may be increased or the underwriting agreementhmagrminated.

We and the selling shareholders have ageeewiemnify the underwriters against certain lidili$, including liabilities under the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or to conteilbaipayments the underwriters may be requiredakenbecause of any of those liabilities.

The underwriting agreement provides thatuth@erwriters’ obligations to purchase the commaaret depend on the satisfaction of the
conditions contained in the underwriting agreem&he conditions contained in the underwriting agreet include the requirement that the
representations and warranties made by the sallingeholders and us to the underwriters are tnaethere is no material change in the
financial markets and that we deliver to the und#ens customary closing documents.

The underwriters propose to offer the selbhgreholders’ and our common shares directlya@tiblic at $ per share and to certain
dealers at such price less a concession not irsexifeb per share. The underwriters miyaland such dealers may reallow, a
concession not in excess of $ per shaother dealers. If all of the shares are not sbtti@public offering price, the representatives of

the underwriters may change the public offeringgand the other selling terms.

We intend to distribute and deliver this prestus by hand or by mail only and not by electrafglivery. Also, we intend to use printed
prospectuses only and not other forms of prospestus
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The following table shows the per share atal inderwriting discount that the selling shatdas and we will pay to the underwriters.
These amounts are shown assuming both no exeraistilhexercise of the underwriters’ option to pliase 272,250 additional common
shares.

Total Without Option Total With Option
Per share Exercised Exercised

Public offering price $ $ $
Underwriting discount(1

Payable by u $ $ $

Payable by the selling sharehold $ $ $
Proceed:

Proceeds to us (before expens $ $ $

Proceeds to the selling shareholders (before ergg $ $ $

(1) The underwriting discount is %, or$ per share

We estimate that the total expenses relat¢his offering payable by us, excluding undenmgtdiscounts and commissions, will be
approximately $925,000.

We have granted the underwriters an optiquurghase up to 272,250 additional common sharieaiublic offering price less the
underwriting discount. The underwriters may exexdfse option for 30 days from the date of this peatus solely to cover any over-
allotments. If the underwriters exercise this optieach will be obligated, subject to conditionataied in the underwriting agreement, to
purchase a number of additional common shares piopate to that underwriter’s initial amount refled in the above table.

We, our executive officers and directors #ralselling shareholders have agreed with the wniers, for a period of 90 days after the
date of this prospectus, subject to certain exoepfinot to offer, sell, hedge or otherwise dispafsEny common shares or any securities
convertible into or exchangeable for common shawéhput the prior written consent of McDonald Isteents Inc. As of February 16, 20
661,955 common shares (including shares underbytipns exercisable within 60 days) were beneficialvned by our executive officers
and directors. The only shares owned by the sedliveggeholders are being offered hereby. HoweveDdhald Investments Inc. may, in its
sole discretion and at any time without noticegask all or any portion of the securities subj@thése lock-up agreements.

Until the distribution of common shares isngeted, Securities and Exchange Commission rubgslimit the underwriters and selling
group members from bidding for and purchasing ammon shares. However, the underwriters may enigeilgansactions that stabilize the
price of the common shares, such as bids or pugshafsshares in the open market while the offeisng progress to peg, fix, or maintain tl
price. These transactions also may include shta$ sad purchases to cover positions created by shies. Short sales involve the sale b
underwriters of a greater number of shares thanahe required to purchase in the offering. “Codérghort sales are sales made in an an
not greater than the underwriters’ option to pusehadditional shares from the selling shareholitettse offering. The underwriters may
reduce that short position by purchasing sharéiséropen market and/or by exercising all or pathefoverallotment option described abo
In determining the source of shares to close aittvered short position, the underwriters will gider, among other things, the price of
shares available for purchase in the open marked@pared to the price at which they may purchdséianal shares pursuant to the option
granted to them. “Naked” short sales are any salescess of such option. The underwriters musteclout any naked short position by
purchasing shares in the open market. A naked ghsition is more likely to be created if the undéters are concerned that there may be
downward pressure on the price of the common shiaithe open market after pricing that could adebraffect investors who purchase in
the offering.
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The underwriters may also impose a penatty Binis occurs when a particular underwriter regaythie underwriters a portion of the
underwriting discount received by it because tlpeesentative has repurchased shares sold by tird@ccount of such underwriter in
stabilizing or short covering transactions.

Neither we nor the underwriters makes anyasgntation or prediction as to the effect thedaations described above may have on the
price of the common shares. Any of these activitiay have the effect of preventing or retardingeelide in the market price of our common
shares. They may also cause the price of our consinares to be higher than the price that wouldrefise exist on the open market in the
absence of these transactions. The underwriterscor@guct these transactions on the New York Stoah&nge or in the over-the-counter
market, or otherwise. If the underwriters commeauog of these transactions, they may discontinue twéhout notice at any time.

KeyBank National Association and other afilis of McDonald Investments Inc. have investmétrdtion over accounts holding 22,398
of our common shares as of May 28, 2004. In addisome of the underwriters and their affiliategehangaged in, and may in the future
engage in, investment banking and other transactioin us and perform services for us in the ondiremurse of their business. They have
received customary fees and commissions for thassactions.

LEGAL MATTERS

Jones Day, Cleveland, Ohio, will pass upeamalidity of the issuance of the shares being sottis offering. Certain matters will be
passed upon for the underwriters by Calfee, H&8lt&riswold LLP, Cleveland, Ohio.

EXPERTS

Ernst & Young LLP, independent auditors, haudited our consolidated financial statementdyifing a schedule incorporated by
reference) at December 31, 2003 and 2002, andhfidr ef the three years in the period ended DeceBihet003 as set forth in their reports
included herein and incorporated by reference mAmnual Report on Form 10-K, which is incorporabgdreference in this prospectus and
elsewhere in the registration statement. Our firstatements are included and incorporated lereete in this prospectus and registration
statement in reliance on Ernst & Young LLP’s repgiten on their authority as experts in accounting auditing.
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WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

We are subject to the informational reportiaguirements of the Securities Exchange Act o#4198e file reports, proxy statements and
other information with the Securities and Excha@genmission. These reports, proxy statements aret otformation can be read and cog
at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at Room 102{iciduly Plaza, 450 Fifth Street, N.W., WashingtbrnC. 20549. Please call the SEC at 1-
800-SEC-0330 for further information on the Pulbtieference Room. The SEC maintains a website at e@osgov that contains reports,
proxy and information statements and other inforomategarding issuers that file electronically witle SEC, including Brush Engineered
Materials Inc. Our website is www.beminc.com. Thi®imation on our website is not a part of thisgpectus.

INCORPORATION OF DOCUMENTS BY REFERENCE

The SEC allows us to “incorporate by refeegrntbe documents that we file with the SEC. Thisanethat we can disclose important
information to you by referring you to those documserather than repeating them in full in this pestus. The information incorporated by
reference into this prospectus includes importasirtess and financial information. Any informatiwe incorporate in this manner is
considered part of this prospectus except to thengéxipdated and superseded by information cortaimghis prospectus. Some information
we file with the SEC after the date of this progpe@nd until this offering is completed will autatically update and supersede the
information contained in this prospectus.

We incorporate by reference the following wiments (Commission File No. 1-15885) that we hdled fwith the SEC and any filings that
we will make with the SEC in the future under Saxeti3(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the Securities Bxaye Act of 1934 until this offering is
completed:

» Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended Ddzamn31, 2003;
* Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter endpd| 2, 2004;
« the “Description of the Common Shares” and the ‘Digsion of the Rights” contained in the Form 84ifefl on May 16, 2000; and

« Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 12, 2004.

We will provide without charge, upon writtenoral request, a copy of any or all of the docnta¢hat are incorporated by reference into
this prospectus. Requests should be directed to:

Brush Engineered Materials Inc.
Attention: Michael C. Hasychak
Vice President, Treasurer and Secretary
17876 St. Clair Avenue
Cleveland, Ohio 44110
Telephone number: (216) 486-4200
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Shareholders
Brush Engineered Materials Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidaémhce sheets of Brush Engineered Materialsaimd.subsidiaries as of December 31,
2003 and 2002, and the related consolidated statsrmé&income, shareholdersjuity, and cash flows for each of the three yaatise perioc
ended December 31, 2003. These financial stateraemthe responsibility of the Company’s managem@ut responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements based omodits.

We conducted our audits in accordance wighstandards of the Public Company Accounting Ogbtd8oard (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet émdbtain reasonable assurance about whethdinthecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on tldasis, evidence supporting the amounts and disads in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting ptegused and significant estimates made by marageas well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe thataodits provide a reasonable basis for our opinio

In our opinion, the financial statements refd to above present fairly, in all material retpethe consolidated financial position of Brush
Engineered Materials Inc. and subsidiaries at Déegr@l, 2003 and 2002, and the consolidated resiulteir operations and their cash flc
for each of the three years in the period endece®Bder 31, 2003 in conformity with U.S. generallgegqated accounting principles.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Cleveland, Ohio
January 28, 2004
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BRUSH ENGINEERED MATERIALS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Year Ended December 31,

2002

2001

(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

2003
Net sales $ 401,04t
Cost of sale: 328,00t
Gross profit 73,03¢
Selling, general and administrative expe 68,83«
Research and development expe 4,23(
Other— net 9,31«
Operating los! (9,340
Interest expens 3,35¢
Loss before income taxes (12,699
Minority interest (45)
Income taxes (benefit

Currently payabl 85E
Deferred (279)
57¢€
Net loss $  (13,22¢)
|
Net loss per share of common st— basic and dilute: $ (0.80)
I

Weighted average number of shares of common stock
outstanding 16,562,86.

$ 372,82¢
324,93

47,89
61,29:
4,26t
5,18¢

(22,84%)
3,01(

(25,85%)

(8,015)
17,76°

9,74¢

$ (35,609

$ (219

16,557,38

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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$ 472,56
404,57:

67,99:
75,31¢
6,32
422

(14,069
3,32

(17,39¢)

(755)
(6,367)

(7,127)

$ (10,279

$  (0.69

16,518,69




BRUSH ENGINEERED MATERIALS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Cash flows from operating activitie

Net loss

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash pliexvifrom
operating activities
Depreciation, depletion and amortizat
Amortization of mine developme
Impairment from asset writedov
Deferred tax (benefit) expen
Derivative financial instruments ineffectivent
Decrease (increase) in accounts receiv
Decrease (increase) in inventc
Decrease (increase) in prepaid and other curreets
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and acexpedse
Increase (decrease) in interest and taxes pa
Increase (decrease) in other |-term liabilities
Other— net

Net cash provided from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activitie
Payments for purchase of property, plant and eceiip
Payments for mine developme
Purchase of equipment previously held under opeyd¢iase
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipt
Other investment— net

Net cash used in investing activitie
Cash flows from financing activitie

Proceeds from issuance/(repayment) of «term debi
Proceeds from issuance of l-term deb!
Repayment of lor-term debt
Debt issuance cos
Issuance of common stock under stock option
Payments of dividenc

Net cash provided from (used in) financing activites
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and gaslatents

Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of yei

Cash and cash equivalents at end of yei

Year Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001
(Dollars in thousands)

$(13,220  $(35,609)  $(10,274)
19,50: 20,35¢ 20,94
1,22¢ 284 665
— 4,39 —
(279 17,76 (6,367)
5,05¢ (257) 55E
(6,590) 9,65¢ 36,58¢
8,64¢ 16,581 5,28:
4,871 (1,387) 36C
2,30¢ (3,919 (29,534
1,221 (3,08¢) (1,957)
(447) (7,879 2,747
4,01¢ (1,229 3,45¢
26,31 15,68¢ 22,47
(6,16%) (5,24¢) (23,130)
(157) (16€) (154)
(51,846 — —
20z 14C 16

— (57) —
(57,962) (5,33)) (23,26¢)
(9,266 (1,947 3,86¢
72,00( 12,00( 39,44¢
(26,03/) (23,000) (35,500)
(4,636) — —
25 — 1,76(
— — (5,967)
32,08¢ (12,947 3,60¢
26€ (74) (115)
70¢ (2,657) 2,70C
4,357 7,01¢ 4,314
$ 5,062 $ 4,35i $ 7,01«
— — —

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

F-4




BRUSH ENGINEERED MATERIALS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalel

Accounts receivable (less allowance of $1,427 63 and

$1,317 for 2002
Inventories
Prepaid expenst
Deferred income taxe

Total current assets
Other assets
Long-term deferred income taxes
Property, plant, and equipment
Land
Buildings
Machinery and equipme
Software
Construction in progres
Allowances for depreciatio

Mineral resource
Mine developmen
Allowances for amortization and depleti

Property, plant, and equipmen—net
Goodwill

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS ' EQUITY
Current Liabilities

Shor-term deb

Accounts payabl

Salaries and wag¢

Taxes other than income tax

Other liabilities and accrued iter

Income taxe:

Total current liabilities
Other long-term liabilities
Retirement and post-employment benefits
Long-term debt
Minority interest in subsidiary
Shareholders equity

Serial preferred stock, no par value; 5,000,000esha

authorized, none issut

Common stock, no par value; authorized 60,000,000cs;

22,919,518 issued shares (22,917,618 for 2
Common stock warran
Retained incom

Common stock in treasury, 6,294,128 shares in 20281,35!

Year Ended December 31,

2003

2002

(Dollars in thousands)

$ 5,062

55,10:
87,39¢
5,45¢
291

153,30!
18,90:
704

7,28¢
98,57¢
385,50
20,00¢
4,691
(329,32

186,73t

5,02¢

14,32¢
(15,247

4,11(

190,84t
7,85¢

$ 371,61t

$ 13,387
16,03¢
17,44

2,37¢
17,54¢
1,37:

68,16«
14,73¢
49,35¢
85,75¢

26

93,33t
1,61¢€
181,15t

276,10t

$ 4,357

47,54:
94,32«
9,76¢
244

156,23
17,77(
472

6,972
97,18«
328,72
19,98:
4,22z
(309,742

147,34

5,02¢

14,17:
(13,99Y)

5,20¢

152,54
7,85¢

$ 334,87¢

$ 27,23t
15,12¢
12,04:
2,88¢
15,51
78¢€

73,58¢
17,45¢

48,51¢
36,21¢

93,31:
194,38.

287,69:



in 2002) (105,63))
Other comprehensive income (lo: (16,799
Other equity transactior (10¢)
Total shareholders equity 153,57:

$ 371,61t

|

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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$ 334,87¢
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BRUSH ENGINEERED MATERIALS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Balances at January 1, 200
Net loss
Foreign currency translation adjustn
Derivative and hedging activil

Comprehensive los
Declared dividends $0.24 per sh

Proceeds from sale of 95,230 shares

under option plan

Income tax benefit from employees’
stock options

Other equity transactior

Forfeiture of restricted stoc

Balances at December 31, 20(
Net loss
Foreign currency translation adjustn
Derivative and hedging activil
Minimum pension liability

Comprehensive los
Other equity transactior
Forfeiture of restricted stoc

Balances at December 31, 20(
Net loss
Foreign currency translation adjustn
Derivative and hedging activil
Minimum pension liability

Comprehensive los

Proceeds from sale of 1,900 shares
under option plan

Income tax benefit from employees’
stock options

Issuance of 115,000 warrat

Other equity transactior

Forfeiture of restricted stoc

Balances at December 31, 20(

Years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001

Common Other
Common Retained Stock in Comprehensive
Stock Warrants Income Treasury Income (Loss) Other Total
(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

$90,74:  $ —  $244,22: $(104,88) $ (1,205  $1,038  $229,90
— — (10,279 — — — (10,279
— — — — (1,089 — (1,082
— — — — (2,061) — (2,061)
(13,419
— — (3,961) — — — (3,961)
1,53( — — — — — 1,53(
23C — — — — — 23C
35¢ — — 277 — (279 362
— — — (431) — 132 (299)
92,86 — 229,98¢ (105,047 (4,350 894  214,35(
— — (35,609 — — — (35,609
— — — — 83z — 83z
— — — — (5,779 — (5,77¢)
— — — — (13,569 — (13,569
(54,119
45( — — (75) — (1,399 (1,017)
— — — (129 — 3 (126
93,31: — 194,38 (105,24%) (22,859 (495 159,00
— — (13,226) — — — (13,226
— — — — A7E — ATE
— — — — 4,62% — 4,62%
— — — — 967 — 967
(7,16])
21 — — — — — 21
4 — — — — — 4
— 1,61¢ — — — — 1,61¢€
— — — (229) — 35¢ 13C
— — — (159) — 28 (131)
$93,33¢  $1,61¢  $181,15¢ $(105,63)) $(16,799 $ (10§ $153,57:
| I I | I | L]

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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BRUSH ENGINEERED MATERIALS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note A— Significant Accounting Policies

Organization: The Company is a holding company with subsidiati@s have operations in the United States, We&iarnpe and Asia.
These operations manufacture engineered mategatsin a variety of markets, including telecommatians and computer electronics,
automotive electronics, optical media, data stardgeorative and performance film, industrial comguats, aerospace and defense, and
appliance. The Company’s operations are aggregatedyo business segments — the Metal Systemsisaod the Microelectronics
Group — based upon the commonalities of their pectgjunmanufacturing processes, customers and abtrs. The Metal Systems Group
produces strip and bulk alloys (primarily coppentieim), beryllium metal products and engineeredtenial systems while the
Microelectronics Group manufactures precious angprecious vapor deposition targets, frame lid mddies, other precious and non-
precious metal products, ceramics, electronic pgekand thick film circuits. The Company is vetticintegrated and distributes its produ
through a combination of company-owned facilitiagl ndependent distributors and agents.

Use of EstimatesThe preparation of financial statements in conftymiith accounting principles generally acceptethia United States
requires management to make estimates and assus it affect the amounts reported in the findrst&ements and accompanying notes.
Actual results may differ from those estimates.

Consolidation: The Consolidated Financial Statements include ¢iceunts of Brush Engineered Materials Inc. andutssidiaries. All of
the Company’s subsidiaries are wholly owned ex@mpan insignificant joint venture in Taiwan estahkd in 2003. Inter-company accounts
and transactions are eliminated in consolidation.

Cash EquivalentsAll highly liquid investments with a put option oraturity of three months or less when purchased@mnsidered to be
cash equivalents.

Accounts ReceivableAn allowance for doubtful accounts is maintainedtfe estimated losses resulting from the inabditgustomers 1
pay the amounts due.

Inventories: Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or etarkhe cost of domestic inventories except oresamgplies is principally
determined using the last-in, first-out (LIFO) math The remaining inventories are stated princypatlaverage cost.

Property, Plant and EquipmentProperty, plant and equipment is stated on thestdsiost. Depreciation is computed principallythg
straight-line method, except certain facilities ¥adrich depreciation is computed by the sum-of-tbarg digits or units-of-production method.
Depreciable lives that are used in computing thruahprovision for depreciation by class of assetas follows:

Years
Land improvement 5to 2¢
Buildings 10 to 4(
Leasehold improvemen Life of least
Machinery and equipme 3to 1t
Furniture and fixture 410 1°
Automobiles and truck 2to ¢
Research equipme 6to 1z
Computer hardwar 3to 1(
Computer softwar 3to 1(
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BRUSH ENGINEERED MATERIALS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)

Depreciation expense was $18.6 million in2@19.8 million in 2002, and $19.9 million in 20epair and maintenance costs are
expensed as incurred.

Mineral Resources and Mine Developmemroperty acquisition costs are capitalized as raimesources on the balance sheet and are
depleted using the units of production method bageh recoverable proven reserves. Overburdenastenrock, is removed prior to the
extraction of the ore from a particular open ptieTremoval cost is capitalized and amortized astbés extracted using the units of
production method based upon the proven reservibsirparticular pit. Exploration and developmexpenses, including development
drilling, are charged to expense in the period they are incurred.

Intangible AssetsThe Company adopted Statement No. 142, “Goodwil @ther Intangible Assets” as of January 1, 20014y this
statement, goodwill and other indefinite-lived imgéble assets are no longer amortized, but inste@dwed annually, or more frequently
under certain circumstances, for impairment. Theng@any determined that a goodwill impairment chavgs not required upon adoption of
the statement or subsequently during 2002 and Z0@8Company had goodwill of $7.9 million on itddrece sheet as of December 31, 2003
and 2002. Goodwill amortization expense was $0IBamiin 2001, or $0.02 per share, all of which wasorded by the Microelectronics
Group. Intangible assets with finite lives will ¢omue to be amortized. The cost of intangible asseamortized using the straigitte methoc
over the periods estimated to be benefited, whigenerally 20 years or less.

Asset Impairmentin the event that facts and circumstances inditetethe carrying value of long-lived and intangibkssets may be
impaired, an evaluation of recoverability is penfied. If an evaluation is required, the estimateédr&iundiscounted cash flow associated
the asset or asset group would be compared tatingirmg amount to determine if a write-down is riegd. In August 2001, the FASB issued
Statement No. 144, “Accounting for the ImpairmenbDisposal of Long-Lived Assets”. The statement adseprior pronouncements and
prescribes a uniform approach to accounting fogilived assets to be held and used, long-livedtassdée disposed of by other than a sale
and long-lived assets to be disposed of by sale.stdtement was effective January 1, 2002 and dadfect on the Company upon adoption.

Derivatives:The Company records the changes in the fair valtidsrivative financial instruments in accordandthvétatement No. 133,
“Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedgifgtivities”. The Company recognizes all derivati@sthe balance sheet at their fair
values. If the derivative is a hedge, dependingiutpe nature of the hedge, changes in the fairevafuhe derivative are either offset against
the change in fair value of the hedged asset|liliabir firm commitment through earnings or recaggd in other comprehensive income
(loss) until the hedged item is recognized in eaysi The ineffective portion of a derivative’s charin fair value, if any, is recognized in
earnings immediately. If a derivative is not a hegdthanges in its fair value are adjusted throngbme.

Asset Removal Obligationfhe Company adopted Statement No. 143, “Accourfingisset Retirement Obligationgi the fourth quarte
2002. Under this statement, a liability must beorded to recognize the legal obligation to remavasset at the time the asset is acquired or
when the legal liability arises. The liability isaorded for the present value of the ultimate alidgn by discounting the estimated future cash
flows using a credit-adjusted risk-free interes¢rdhe liability is accreted over time, with theceetion charged to expense. An asset equal to
the fair value of the liability is recorded conant with the liability. The asset is then depremiadver the life of the asset. Adoption of this
statement did not have a material effect on the [@my’s results of operations or financial position.

Revenue Recognitionn accordance with SAB 101, the Company recognigesnue when the goods are shipped and title passes
customer. The Company requires persuasive evidbata revenue arrangement exists, delivery optbduct has occurred, the selling price
is fixed or determinable and collectibility is reasbly assured before revenue is realized and @arne

Shipping and Handling CostsThe Company records shipping and handling costpriattucts sold to customers in cost of sales on the
Consolidated Statements of Income.
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BRUSH ENGINEERED MATERIALS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)

Advertising CostsThe Company expenses all advertising costs asredufdvertising costs were immaterial for the geanesented in
the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Income TaxesThe Company uses the liability method in measuttiregprovision for income taxes and recognizing defktax assets al
liabilities on the balance sheet. The Company ksarvaluation allowance to reduce the deferredsarts to the amount that is more likely
than not to be realized.

Reclassification:Certain amounts in prior years have been reclasksiti conform to the 2003 consolidated financiaeshent
presentation.

Net Income Per ShareBasic earnings per share (EPS) is computed byidiyihicome available to common stockholders byweéehted
average number of common shares outstanding fqahied. Diluted EPS reflects the assumed conversi@ll dilutive common stock
equivalents as appropriate under the treasury stmtkod.

Stock OptionsThe Company provides a stock incentive plan fagilele employees. See Note H to the Consolidatedriiial Statements
for further details. The Company has adopted teelasure-only provisions of SFAS No. 123, “Accoungtfor Stock Based Compensation”
and applies the intrinsic value method in accordamith APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stocksleed to Employees” and related
interpretations in accounting for its stock inceatplan. If the Company had elected to recognirepemsation expense for its stock incentive
plan awards based on the estimated fair valuesohttards on the grant dates, consistent with tithadeproscribed by SFAS No. 123 by
amortizing the expense over the options’ vestingppethe pro forma net loss and loss per shafe.&) would have been as noted below:

2003 2002 2001

(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

Net loss— as reportel $(13,226) $(35,604) $(10,274)
Pro forma stock option expen (2,095 (1,499 (1,352
Net loss— pro forma $(14,32) $(37,09¢) $(11,62¢)

I | I
E.P.S— as reportel $ (0.80) $ (2.1 $ (0.62)
E.P.S— pro forma $ (0.86) $ (2.29 $ (0.70

Note: The pro forma disclosures shown are not ssrtive of the effects on net income and earnpegshare in future yeal

The weighted-average fair value of the Congfsastock options used to compute the pro formameme and earnings per share
disclosures is $2.79, $6.40 and $9.10 for 20032201 2001, respectively. The fair value is thevested present value at grant date using
Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the followji weighted-average assumptions for the varioustgia 2003, 2002 and 2001:

2003 2002 2001
Risk-free interest rat 3.63% 4.52% 5.09%
Dividend yield 0% 0% 1.40%
Volatility of stock 39.50% 39.60% 36.50%
Expected life of optiol 8 year: 8 year: 7 year:

New PronouncementThe FASB issued FIN 46, “Consolidation of Variabléerest Entities” in January 2003 effective foripds ending
subsequent to June 15, 2003 for variable entities/hich an enterprise holds a variable interest ithacquired prior to February 1, 2003. The
release clarifies the application of Accounting &ash Bulletin No. 51, “Consolidated Financial 8taénts” to certain entities in which the
equity investors do not have the characteristias adntrolling financial interest or do not havéfisient equity at risk for the entity to finance
its activities without additional subordinated fivcéal support
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BRUSH ENGINEERED MATERIALS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)

from others. The Company adopted FIN 46 as prosdrémd its adoption did not have a material impadhe Company’s results of
operations or financial position.

Note B — Inventories

Inventories in the Consolidated Balance Shast summarized as follows:

December 31,

2003 2002

(Dollars in thousands)
Principally average cos

Raw materials and suppli $ 24,99( $ 22,57.
Work in proces: 65,21: 65,80¢
Finished good 20,63’ 29,52:
Gross inventorie 110,83 117,90:
Excess of average cost over LIFO inventory vi 23,44 23,57¢
Net inventories $ 87,39¢ $ 94,32«
| |

Average cost approximates current cost. Grogmtories accounted for using the LIFO methddlenl $73.9 million at December 31,
2003 and $81.8 million at December 31, 2002. Téeidiation of LIFO inventory layers in 2003 reducexbt of sales by $3.6 million.

Note C— Impairment Charge

The Company recorded asset impairment chafig®4$.4 million in the fourth quarter 2002 in aodance with SFAS No. 144Atcounting
for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Asseihe impairment charges resulted from the assatdiscounted projected cash flows
being less than their carrying values. The Metat&ys Group wrote off $3.1 million of equipment aathted facilities formerly used in the
production of beryllium. The equipment has beert slown due to the use of alternate input mateaals manufacturing processes.
Management does not believe these assets areesallel Microelectronics Group wrote down equipnaent a building $1.3 million from its
net book value of $1.9 million to its estimated faiarket value of $0.6 million. The fair market walwas determined by an appraisal by an

independent firm. The equipment was shut down D820 he impairment charges were recorded in otkésn the Company’s 2002
Consolidated Statement of Income.

Note D— Interest

Interest expense associated with active construetial mine development projects is capitalizedandrtized over the future useful liv

of the related assets. The following chart sumnrearthe interest incurred, capitalized and paidvelsas the amortization of capitalized
interest for 2003, 2002 and 2001.

2003 2002 2001

(Dollars in thousands)

Interest incurre: $3,26¢ $3,09¢ $3,91¢
Less capitalized intere (86) 85 591
Total expens: $3,35¢ $3,01C $3,32i
| | |
Interest paic $2,55¢ $3,16: $4,092
| | |
Amortization, included principally in cost of sal $ 628 $ 71€ $ 74z
| | |
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BRUSH ENGINEERED MATERIALS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)

In 1986, the Company purchased company-ovifeeshsurance policies insuring the lives of cartenited States employees. The
contracts are recorded at cash surrender valuef pelicy loans, in other assets. The net contfiacbome) expense, including interest
expense recorded in selling, general and admitiigraxpenses, was $1.4 million, ($0.5) million &f6.3) million in 2003, 2002 and 2001,
respectively. The related interest expense wasmiili®n, $1.5 million and $1.4 million, in 2003022 and 2001, respectively.

Note E— Debt

A summary of long-term debt follows:

December 31,

2003 2002

(Dollars in thousands)
Senior Credit Agreemen

Revolving credit agreeme $20,00( $ —
Senior five-year term note payable in installméygginning in
2004 12,00( —
Senior five-year term note payable in installmérgtginning in
2004 8,00(C —
Variable rate demand bonds payable in installmeagsnning in
2005 3,00 3,00(¢
Variable rate promissory note — Utah land purchzsgble in 20
annual installments through 20 91t 94¢€
Variable rate industrial development revenue bgralgable in 201 8,30¢ 8,30t
Revolving credit agreeme — 24,00(
Subordinated fiv-year term noti 35,00( —
87,22( 36,25!
Current portion of lon-term debt (1,469 (32
Total $85,75¢ $36,21¢
| |

Maturities on long-term debt instruments ilBecember 31, 2003 are as follows:

(Dollars in thousands)

2004 $ 1,464
2005 3,497
2006 3,497
2007 3,497
2008 65,64
Thereaftel 9,63¢
Total $87,22(

[ |

In December 2003, the Company refinanceeiisting revolving credit agreement and a synthapierating lease with a new debt
structure totaling $147.5 million. The refinanciimgluded a five-year $105.0 million senior secuceedit agreement, a fivgear $35.0 milliol
subordinated term loan and a $7.5 million Exim liferedit.

The senior secured credit agreement is witfirancial institutions and provides a maximunaéability of $105.0 million. It consists of
an $85.0 million revolving credit line secured bpation of the Company’s working capital, a $1ehillion term note secured by a portion of
the Company’s real estate and an $8.0 million teote secured by the Company’s machinery and equiprAé December 31, 2003, there
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BRUSH ENGINEERED MATERIALS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)

was $20.0 million in long-term borrowings outstarglagainst the revolving credit portion of the @gnent at an average rate of 5.00% that is
fixed through January 2004, at which time it wi#l leset according to the terms and options avail@bthe Company under the agreement.
The credit agreement allows the Company to borrmmew at a premium over LIBOR or prime rate andaaywng maturities. Also at
December 31, 2003, there was $20.0 million outstendn the two term loans at an average rate &%,3vhich is fixed through

March 2004, at which time it will be reset accoglio the terms and conditions available under greement. The term notes are payable in
quarterly installments beginning in July 2004 amclude a balloon payment upon maturity in 2008.

The $35.0 million subordinated term notedswsed by a second lien on the Company’s workimitaa real estate and machinery and
equipment and is payable in five years with theaspto prepay $5.0 million prior to September 20@thout penalty. The interest rate is
based on variable prime plus a premium and resetdeyly. To hedge a portion of this variabilithetcompany entered into an interest rate
swap that fixed the rate on a notional value of.@Xfillion over the life of the note. At Decembé&08, the Company had $35.0 million in
long-term borrowings outstanding on this note atdegrage effective rate of 14.10%.

Both the credit agreement and the subordiniien note are subject to restrictive covenartkuding leverage, fixed charges and capital
expenditures. The subordinated term loan resttietsssuance of dividends. The senior credit ageeg¢rmnd the subordinated term note are
also secured by a first and second lien on the&sibcertain of the Company’s direct and indiragbsidiaries.

The $7.5 million Exim facility is secured bgrtain foreign accounts receivable of the Compa@hg. interest rate is LIBOR-based plus a
premium. There were no outstanding borrowings agaims facility at the end of 2003.

Proceeds from the December 2003 refinancieiggwised to retire the existing revolving credieagnent and to terminate an off-balance
sheet operating lease by purchasing the assets leaised for $51.8 million. See Note F to the Cbdated Financial Statements. Financing
fees of $6.2 million associated with the debt raficing were deferred and are included in othertassethe Consolidated Balance Sheet. The
deferred costs are being amortized using the effesiterest method over the life of the underlydabt. Included in the $6.2 million deferred
financing cost was the fair value of 115,000 watsdar the purchase of the Company’s common stock.

The following table summarizes the Compasyisrt-term lines of credit. Amounts shown as outditag are included in short-term debt
on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

December 31, 2003 December 31, 2002

Total Outstanding Available Total Outstanding Available

(Dollars in thousands)

Domestic $34,63¢ $ 2,04¢ $32,58¢ $16,66¢ $13,23¢ $ 3,43(
Foreign 4,43¢ 142 4,297 14,71: 5,707 9,00¢
Precious mete 9,732 9,732 — 8,251 8,251 —
Total $48,80¢ $11,92: $36,88: $39,63¢ $27,20: $12,43¢

[ | [ | [ | [ | [ | [ |

The domestic line is committed and includethie $85.0 million maximum borrowing under theaking credit agreement and the
$7.5 million Exim facility. The foreign lines aremcommitted, unsecured and renewed annually. Theque metal facility (primarily gold) is
secured and renewed annually. The average intatesbn short-term debt was 5.50% and 4.50% asoémber 31, 2003 and 2002,
respectively.
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BRUSH ENGINEERED MATERIALS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)

In November 1996, the Company entered intagiteement with the Lorain Port Authority, Ohidgsue $8.3 million in variable rate
industrial revenue bonds, maturing in 2016. Theéalde rate ranged from 0.85% to 1.81% in 2003 a@8% to 2.12% during 2002.

In 1994, the Company refunded its $3.0 milliodustrial development revenue bonds. The 7.2586l® were refunded into variable rate
demand bonds. The variable rate ranged from 0. 88%65% during 2003 and from 1.15% to 1.95% du#6@2. In December 1995, the
Company entered into an interest rate swap agregmemanage its interest rate exposure on the biimel Company converted the variable
rate to a fixed rate of 4.75% under the interetgt savap agreement. This swap matured in 2002.

The prior revolving credit agreement, as atieeh was terminated in December 2003. A portiothefCompany’s domestic receivables
and inventory up to a maximum of $55.0 million seclthe agreement. In January and March 2003agrsement was amended to waive
and revise various covenants and to extend therityatuntil April 2004. At December 31, 2002, thewas $24.0 million in long-term
borrowings outstanding at an average interestafade92%.

Note F— Leasing Arrangements

The Company leases warehouse and manufagtspace and manufacturing and computer equipmeterwperating leases with terms
ranging up to 14 years. Rent expense amountedd@ $illion, $17.3 million, and $13.1 million dugr2003, 2002, and 2001, respectively.
The future estimated minimum lease payments undiercancelable operating leases with initial leasms in excess of one year at
December 31, 2003 are as follows: 2004 — $5.0 omjIR005 — $4.2 million; 2006 — $3.6 million; 206% $3.3 million; 2008 —
$3.3 million and thereafter — $9.7 million.

The Company has an operating lease for oits ofajor production facilities. This facility @mvned by a third party and cost
approximately $20.3 million to build. Occupancytié facility began in 1997. Lease payments forféiedity continue through 2011 with
options for renewal. The estimated minimum paymargsincluded in the preceding paragraph. Theifiaddase is subject to certain
restrictive covenants including leverage, fixedrgea and annual capital expenditures.

In December 2003, the Company terminatedpamnating lease for certain equipment located indEénOhio and purchased the assets for
a residual value of $51.8 million as part of ther@any’s refinancing. See Note E to the Consolid&iedncial Statements. This leasing
arrangement, which began in 1996, was structuredsgsithetic lease, which meant it was an operdgiage for financial reporting purposes
and a capital lease for federal income tax purpdsssse payments for the related equipment begafi9a and continued through the initial
lease term expiring in 2001. The Company then éseddts option to renew the lease of the equipraanually for one-year periods and in
2003 purchased the equipment. The 2003 expenskiddease was $9.3 million and is included indahgounts in the above paragraph.

Note G — Derivative Financial Instruments and FairValue Information

The Company is exposed to commodity pricerest rate and foreign currency exchange raterdifices and attempts to minimize the
effects of these exposures through a combinatioratfral hedges and the use of derivative finamesatuments. The Company has policies
approved by the Board of Directors that establghpgarameters for the allowable types of derivatigeruments to be used, the maximum
allowable contract periods, aggregate dollar litiotzgs and other hedging guidelines. The Companlonily secure a derivative if there is an
identifiable underlying exposure that is not othisewcovered by a natural
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hedge. In general, derivatives will be held untdtarity. The following table summarizes the faitueaof the Company’s outstanding
derivatives and debt as of December 31, 2003 af#.20

December 31, 2003 December 31, 2002
Notional Carrying Notional Carrying
Asset/(Liability) Amount Amount Amount Amount

(Dollars in thousands)
Foreign currency contracts
Forward contract

Yen $16,24: $ (677) $ 4,34/ $ 27€
Euro 13,69: (1,307 — —
Sterling 3,53¢ (155) 2,92¢ (99)

Total $33,47¢ $ (2,139 $ 7,27¢ $ 17¢
| | | |

Options
Yen $ — $ — $ 2,42 $ (39
Euro 6,29( (749) 16,75( (1,025

Total $ 6,29( $ (749 $19,17( $ (1,069
| | | |

Interest rate exchange contracts

Floating to fixed $55,85¢ $ (5,319 $50,47" $ (6,66%)
Commodity price contracts

Floating to fixed — — 1,81: 69
Short- and long-term debt — (99,149 — (63,45¢)

The fair values equal the carrying amounth@Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets as adrbiger 31, 2003 and 2002. SFAS
No. 107 defines fair value as the amount at whitinatrument could be exchanged in a current timsabetween willing parties, other th
in a forced or liquidation sale. The fair valuetloé foreign currency forward contracts and optiand the commodity and interest rate
contracts was calculated by third parties on bebfalie Company using the applicable market rat&eaember 31, 2003 and December 31,
2002. The fair value of the Company’s debt wagvesied using a discounted cash flow analysis bas¢deoCompany’s current incremental
borrowing rates for similar types of borrowing angements.

The Company records derivatives in its finahstatements in accordance with SFAS No. 138cbunting for Derivative Instruments ¢
Hedging Activities” and SFAS No. 138, “AccountingrfCertain Derivative Instruments and Certain HaddActivities”, which amended
SFAS No. 133. Each of the Company’s commodity swiperest rate swaps and foreign currency dexigeatdbntracts have been designated
as cash flow hedges as defined under these staten®&RAS No. 133 requires the fair value of outditagp derivative instruments to be
recorded on the balance sheet. Accordingly, deviedair values were included in the balance shiretitems as follows:

December 31,

Debit/(Credit) Balance 2003 2002

(Dollars in thousands)

Prepaid expenst $ — $ 30¢
Other liabilities and accrued iter (3,957 (2,145
Other lon¢-term liabilities (4,250 (5,640
Total $(8,207) $(7,48))
| ]
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The balance sheet classification of thevfalues is dependent upon the Company’s rights afigations under each derivative and the
remaining term to maturity. Changes in fair valoéderivatives are recorded in income or other cahensive income (loss) (hereafter
“OCI") as appropriate under SFAS No. 133 guidelinfeseconciliation of the changes in fair valuesl ather derivative activity recorded in
OCI for 2003 and 2002 is as follows:

2003 2002

(Dollars in thousands)

Balance in other comprehensive income (loss) atalgnl $(7,839) $(2,067)
Changes in fair values and other current periowisct (107) (6,569
Matured derivative— charged to expen: 95 797
Derivative ineffectivenes— (credited)/charged to exper 4,63¢ (6)
Balance in other comprehensive income (loss) aebBéer 31 $(3,21¢) $(7,839)

| ]

One of the Company’s interest rate swapshagtional value of $45.9 million and initially wdssignated as a hedge of the variable rate
portion of an operating lease. As a result of #famancing in December 2003, as further descripedates E and F to the Consolidated
Financial Statements, that lease was terminatedhengi4.6 million cumulative loss previously reaeddn OCI that was associated with the
swap was charged to expense on the Consolidatezh&ats of Income as the swap no longer qualifiedhédge accounting treatment. The
swap remained in place after the refinancing asneays under the swap serve as a hedge againstehesit rate payments on the new
variable rate debt. However, changes in the fdirevaf the swap due to movements in the marketdstaates from the date of the
refinancing going forward will be charged to incooreexpense in the current period. The majoritthef$6.6 million change in fair value and
other current period hedging activity in 2002 wassed by a decline in the fair value (an increagbd loss) on this interest rate swap as a
result of a decline in interest rates during tredry Hedge ineffectiveness, including amounts a@thfgppm OCI and other adjustments to the
fair values of derivatives that did not flow thrdu@Cl, was a $5.1 million expense in 2003 and & #fillion credit in 2002 and was included
in other — net expense on the Company’s Consolid&tatements of Income. The Company estimatesfiimbximately $3.0 million of the
balance in OCI at December 31, 2003 will be chatgeédcome during 2004 as a result of maturingudgives.

The Company hedged a portion of its net itmest in its Japanese subsidiary using yen-dendedndebt until this loan was repaid in
December 2003. A net loss of $0.6 million assodiatéh translating this debt into dollars was refsat in the cumulative translation
adjustment as of December 31, 2003. This balanteemiain in cumulative translation adjustment avit only be charged to income should
the Company ever liquidate its investment. The camraiple balance in cumulative translation adjustrasmif December 31, 2002 was a net
loss of $29,000.

Foreign Exchange Hedge Contrac

The Company uses forward and option conttactedge anticipated foreign currency transactiprimarily foreign sales. The purpose of
the program is to protect against the reductioveine of the foreign currency transactions fromeade exchange rate movements. Should the
dollar strengthen significantly, the decrease attlanslated value of the foreign currency trarisastshould be partially offset by gains on
hedge contracts. Depending upon the method usedpthitract may limit the benefits from a weakerofithe dollar. The Company’s policy
limits contracts to maturities of two years or |&ssn the date of issuance. All of the contractsstanding as of December 31, 2003 are
scheduled to mature during 2004. Realized gaindaases on foreign exchange contracts are recandettier—net on the Consolidated
Statements of Income. The total exchange gainj(l@gsich includes realized and unrealized losses $(0.9) million in 2003, $1.5 million
2002 and $2.3 million in 2001.
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Interest Rate Hedge Contrac

The Company attempts to minimize its exposaraterest rate variations by using combinatiohixed and variable rate instruments
with varying lengths of maturities. Depending uptba interest rate yield curve, credit spreads,quted borrowing requirements and rates,
cash flow considerations and other factors, the zom may elect to secure interest rate swaps, calhars, options or other related
derivative instruments. Both fixed-to-variable aratiable-to-fixed interest rate swaps may be used.

In December 2003, the Company entered iffiiceayear variable-tdixed interest rate swap with a $10.0 million no@bvalue designate
as a hedge of a portion of its new variable rat#.de

The Company also has the previously discu$48d million interest rate swap that does notifyufor hedge accounting under the
current regulations, but cash payments made oivext@nder this swap will tend to offset changethminterest payments made on portions
of its outstanding variable rate debt not otherwisdged. The swap matures in 2008 and its noticalak declines over time. Gains and lo
on this swap were charged to cost of sales ovéfdtantil the underlying hedged item, an equiptn@perating lease, was terminated in
December 2003. Gains and losses from that pointeiat are recorded as derivative ineffectiveneskiwitther-net on the Consolidated
Statements of Income.

In December 1995, the Company entered intot@nest rate swap, converting to a fixed ratenfeovariable rate on a $3.0 million
industrial revenue development bond. Gains ancée®es this swap were recorded in interest expemsleeoConsolidated Statements of
Income. This swap matured during 2002.

Commaodity Price Contract

The Company purchases and manufactures podoistaining copper. Purchases are exposed t© fuictuations in the copper market.
However, for the majority of its copper-based priduthe Company will adjust its selling priceststomers to reflect the change in its
copper purchase price. This program is designée orofit neutral; i.e., any changes in coppergwj@ither up or down, will be directly
passed on to the customer.

The Company may use commodity price contra&s swaps) to hedge the copper purchase prictdse volumes where price
fluctuations cannot be passed on to the customeateithese swaps, which are purchased from finkinsigtutions, the Company makes or
receives payments based on a difference betwegadgrice (as specified in each individual contrand the market price of copper. These
payments will offset the change in prices of thdarying purchases and effectively fix the pricecopper at the swap rate for the contracted
volume. The Company’s policy limits commodity hedgmtracts to maturities of 27 months or less ftbhmoriginal date of issuance. The
Company did not have any copper swaps outstandirg Becember 31, 2003. While various copper swiagismatured during 2002 were
deemed to be effective as defined by SFAS No. 4B3f the swaps outstanding as of December 312 20¢ye deemed to be ineffective.
Realized gains and losses on copper swap contieetecorded in cost of sales on the ConsolidataiBents of Income.

Note H — Capital Stock

In connection with the Company’s refinancaggeement dated December 4, 2003, 115,000 $0.0toarstock warrants were issued to
the lenders as part of their fee. Holders of theravas are entitled to redeem them for an equalbauraf shares of Company common stock.
The warrants were recorded as a component of shlderk’ equity at their fair value at the time s§uance. The warrants expire December 5,
2008.
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The Company has 5 million shares of Seriafé?red Stock authorized (no par value), none atlwhas been issued. Certain terms of the
Serial Preferred Stock, including dividends, redgampand conversion, will be determined by the Bloafr Directors prior to issuance.

On January 27, 1998 the Company’s Board ofddrs adopted a new share purchase rights pthdealared a dividend distribution of
one right for each share of common stock outstandiof the close of business on February 9, TB98 plan allows for new shares issued
after February 9, 1998 to receive one right suliecertain limitations and exceptions. Each rightitles the shareholder to buy one one-
hundredth of a share of Serial Preferred StockeSdy, at an initial exercise price of $110. A taif450,000 unissued shares of Serial
Preferred Stock will be designated as Series AdPredl Stock. Each share of Series A Preferred Stitke entitled to participate in
dividends on an equivalent basis with 100 share®wrfmon stock and will be entitled to one vote. Tights will not be exercisable and will
not be evidenced by separate right certificates arspecified time after any person or group amgibeneficial ownership of 20% or more
announces a tender offer for 20% or more) of comstook. The rights expire on January 27, 2008,camdbe redeemed for 1 cent per right
under certain circumstances.

The amended 1995 Stock Incentive Plan authorizegridinting of five categories of incentive awajstion rights, performance restric
shares, performance shares, performance unitsestitted shares. As of December 31, 2003, no padoace units have been granted.

Option rights entitle the optionee to puréhasmmon shares at a price equal to or greatemtiaaiket value on the date of grant. Option
rights outstanding under the amended 1995 Stoaanlhe Plan and previous plans generally becomecisadble over a four-year period and
expire 10 years from the date of the grant. In 1985 Company’s right to grant options on a tofé228,565 shares (under the Company’s
1979, 1984 and 1989 stock option plans) was tetmihapon shareholder approval of the amended 188% $hcentive Plan. No further
stock awards will be made under the Company’s 19984 and 1989 stock option plans except to thengxhat shares become available for
grant under these plans by reason of terminati@mptibns previously granted.

The 1990 Stock Option Plan for Non-employa@e@ors (the “1990 Plan”) was terminated effectitay 7, 1998. The 1997 Stock
Incentive Plan for Non-employee Directors replattexl1990 Plan and provided for a one-time grai@d0 options to up to six new non-
employee directors who have not yet received optiorder the 1990 Plan at an option price equdldddir market value of the shares at the
date of the grant. Options are non-qualified armbb@e exercisable six months after the date of giidre options generally expire 10 years
after the date they were granted. The 1997 Stomdnitive Plan for Non-employee Directors was amemelflay 1, 2001. The amendment
added 100,000 shares to the Plan and establistpeshtaof up to 2,000 options to each Director afipua
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Stock option, performance restricted sharardywperformance share award, and restricted stveaied activities are summarized in the

following table:

2003
Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average
Exercise Exercise Exercise
Shares Price Shares Price Shares Price
Stock Options
Outstanding at beginning of ye 1,394,68: $17.82 1,346,56! $18.8: 1,214,48: $17.7¢
Granted 262,80( 5.62 256,75( 12.17 277,65( 22.31
Exercisec (2,900 12.8¢ — — (95,230 15.11
Cancellec (180,649 16.7¢ (208,63() 17.4: (50,340 17.3¢
Outstanding at end of ye 1,474,94. 15.7¢ 1,394,68: 17.8: 1,346,56! 18.8:
| | |
Exercisable at end of ye 1,231,10: 16.7¢ 1,166,90: 18.1¢ 1,108,76. 18.6:
| | |
Performance Awards
Allocated at beginning of yei — — 78,00(
Forfeited — — (78,000
Allocated at end of yes — — —
| | |
Restricted Awards
Awarded and restricted at beginning of y 77,84¢ 60,74¢ 88,18:
Awarded during the ye: 33,10( 20,00(
Vested (26,845 (15,700 (37,160
Forfeited (4,050 (300 (20,279
Awarded and restricted at end of y: 46,95( 77,84t 60,74¢
| | |

The market value of the performance restiisteares and the performance shares adjusted fagement’s expectation of reaching the
management objectives as outlined in the Plan aggee and the related dividends on the performaesteicted shares have been recorded ac
deferred compensation-restricted stock and aremonent of other equity transactions of sharehsldsuity. Deferred compensation is
amortized over the vesting period. Amounts recomfgainst selling, general and administrative exp@msthe Consolidated Statements of

Income totaled $0.3 million in 2003, $0.4 milliam2002 and $0.4 million in 2001.
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The following table provides additional infieation about stock options outstanding as of Deeer@lh, 2003:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted-

Average Weighted- Weighted-
Remaining Average Average

Number Contract Exercise Number Exercise
Range of Option Prices Outstanding Life Price Exensable Price
$5.55-$8.10 257,30( 9.1f $ 5.6z 131,00( $ 5.5¢
$12.15- $15.06 361,15( 6.9¢€ 13.1¢ 301,12( 13.3¢
$15.75- $18.63 484,86¢ 3.5¢ 16.8: 467,05¢ 16.8i
$20.64- $23.78 231,05( 6.97 22.3% 191,35( 22.31]
$26.44- $26.72 140,57 4.3t 26.71 140,57! 26.71
1,474,94. 5.9¢ $15.7¢ 1,231,10: $16.7¢
— — — — —

The weighted-average remaining contractéeldf options outstanding at December 31, 2002281 is 6.04 years and 6.22 years,
respectively. The number of shares available farrugrants as of December 31, 2003, 2002 and &0022,331 shares, 550,986 shares and
631,906 shares, respectively.

Note | —Income Taxes

Income (loss) before income taxes and inctaxes (benefit) are comprised of the following camgnts, respectively:

2003 2002 2001

(Dollars in thousands)
Income (loss) before income tax

Domestic $(14,727) $(24,99¢) $(18,03%)
Foreign 2,071 (859) 63¢
Total before income taxe $(12,65() $(25,85%) $(17,39¢)
I L] L]

Income taxes (benefit

Current income taxe:
Domestic $ 15¢ $ (8,31)) $ (1,58¢)
Foreign 697 29¢ 83:<
Total curren 85& (8,01¢) (75%)

Deferred income taxe
Domestic $ (5,297 $ (1,06¢) $ (5,785
Foreign (279 (1,09%) (582)
Valuation allowanct 5,291 19,93( —
Total deferrec (279 17,761 (6,367%)
Total income taxes (benef $ 57¢ $ 9,74¢ $ (7,127)
I | |
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The reconciliation of the federal statutong @ffective income tax rates follows:

2003 2002 2001
Federal statutory ra (34.0% (34.0% (34.0%
State and local income taxes, net of federal téect 0.¢ 0.t 1.C
Effect of excess of percentage depletion over deptetion (7.€) (2.9) (3.9)
Compan-owned life insuranc 3.€ (0.6) (0.9
Taxes on foreign source incor (3.7 (4.7 (5.6
Valuation allowanct 41.¢ 77.1 —
Other items 3.5 1.C 1kt
Effective tax rate 4.5% 37. 1% (40.9%
| | |

In accordance with the provisions of SFAS N@®, “Accounting for Income Taxes,” the Compangoreled a valuation allowance of
$5.3 million in 2003 and $19.9 million in 2002 aripof tax expense. In addition, the Company reed@ $1.9 million valuation allowance
reduction to OCI in 2003 and $7.3 million in 20@2 feferred tax assets associated with the chand@€l for the minimum pension liability
and derivative and hedging activities. No valua@tiowance was required on $1.0 million of net defd tax assets associated with certain

foreign subsidiaries.

The Company intends to maintain a valuatilbwance on the net deferred tax assets until kzedgn event occurs to support reversal of

all or a portion of the reserve.

Included in current domestic income taxeshamvn in the Consolidated Statements of Inconee$ar2 million, $0.2 million and

$0.3 million of state and local income taxes in208002 and 2001, respectively.

The Company had domestic and foreign incareayments (refunds), of $(3.3) million, $(1.1)lion and $0.6 million in 2003, 2002

and 2001, respectively.
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are aeiteed based on temporary differences between tla@dial reporting bases and the tax bases of
assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets aadilflies) recorded in the Consolidated BalanceeBheonsist of the following at December 31,
2003 and 2002:

2003 2002

(Dollars in thousands)

Pos-retirement benefits other than pensi $12,07: $ 10,54¢
Alternative minimum tax cred 10,62¢ 10,62¢
Other reserve 2,51¢ 3,01¢
Environmental reserve 2,311 2,60¢
Pension: 2,41¢ 1,95¢
Derivative instruments and hedging activit 2,051 2,59:
Inventory 49t 1,741
Tax credit carryforwari 1,851 1,851
Net operating loss carryforwa 32,23: 27,89:
Capitalized interest expen 41¢ —
Miscellaneous 64 33¢

67,05¢ 63,17
Valuation allowanct (30,799 (27,207
Total deferred tax asse 36,26 35,96¢
Depreciatior (33,06() (31,545
Mine developmen (2,210 (2,566
Capitalized interest expen — (1,139
Total deferred tax liabilitie (35,27() (35,25()
Net deferred tax ass $ 99t $ 71¢€

L] I

At December 31, 2003, for income tax purppes Company had domestic net operating loss foewvgrds of $88.1 million, which are
scheduled to expire in calendar years 2019 thr@0@3. The Company also had foreign net operatisg ¢arryforwards for income tax
purposes totaling $5.3 million, comprised of $4.iliam that do not expire, and $0.6 million whicheascheduled to expire in calendar year
2007.

At December 31, 2003, the Company had researclex@gmetimentation tax credit carryforwards of $1.9ion that are scheduled to exp
in calendar years 2008 through 2020.

A provision has not been made with respect to $8lkon of unremitted earnings at December 31, 2008 have been invested by fore
subsidiaries. It is not practical to estimate thant of unrecognized deferred tax liability fordistributed foreign earnings.
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Note J — Earnings Per Share

The following table sets forth the computataf basic and diluted loss per share (E.P.S.):

2003 2002 2001

(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)
Numerator for basic and diluted E.P.

Net loss $  (13,22¢ $ (35,609 $ (10,279

Denominator for basic and diluted E.P.

Weightec-average shares outstand 16,562,86. 16,557,38 16,518,69

Basic and diluted E.P. $ (0.80) $ (2.15) $ (0.62)
| | |

Under SFAS No. 128, “Earnings per Share,patential common shares are included in the contipataf diluted per-share amounts

when a loss from continuing operations exists. Adicmly, dilutive securities have been excludedrfrine diluted E.P.S. calculation of
109,052 for 2003, 51,337 for 2002 and 131,896 612

Options to purchase common stock with exerpigces in excess of the average share pricength)217,643 at December 31, 2003;

1,394,688 at December 31, 2002; and 749,488 atrbleee31, 2001 were excluded from the diluted E.BaRulations as their effect would
have been anti-dilutive.
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Note K — Pensions and Other Post-Retirement Beneit

The obligation and funded status of the Camg{sadomestic defined benefit pension plan, unfuhsigpplemental retirement plan and
retiree medical and life insurance plan are ag¥fait

Pension Benefits Other Benefits

2003 2002 2003 2002

(Dollars in thousands)
Change in benefit obligation

Benefit obligation at beginning of ye $100,82: $ 92,87¢ $43,45. $40,22(
Service cos 4,11¢ 4,215 274 29¢
Interest cos 6,66¢ 6,42¢ 2,81¢ 2,757
Amendment: — 347 — —
Actuarial loss 4,312 3,92( 2,33¢ 3,44
Benefit payment (5,417 (6,179 (3,439 (3,269
Settlement: (35) (792 — —
Benefit obligation at end of ye 110,46¢ 100,82: 45,44¢ 43,45:
Change in plan asset
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of \ 78,08t 94,71: — —
Actual return on plan asse 13,05¢ (10,517 — —
Employer contribution: 72 64 3,43: 3,26¢
Benefit payment (5,417 (6,179 (3,439 (3,269
Fair value of plan assets at end of y 85,80« 78,08¢ — —
Funded statu (24,66¢) (22,73Y (45,449 (43,45
Unrecognized net actuarial lo 26,83: 26,17¢ 10,82¢ 8,821
Unrecognized prior service cost (bene 5,51¢ 6,16¢ (909) (1,020
Unrecognized initial net (asset) obligati (D) (362) — —
Net amount recognize $ 7,68: $ 9,24t $(3553) $(35,65)
| | | I

Amounts recognized in the Consolidate:
Balance Sheets consist of:

Accrued benefit liability $(10,39Y) $(10,41¢ $(35,53) $(35,65)
Intangible asse 5,48 6,101 — —
Accumulated other comprehensive inca 12,59¢ 13,56: — —
Net amount recognize $ 7,68: $ 9,24t $(3553) $(35,65)

| | | I

Additional information
Increase in minimum liability included in other

comprehensive incor $ (967 $ 13,56¢ N/A N/A
Accumulated benefit obligation for all pension i 96,02: 88,28( N/A N/A
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Pension Benefits Other Benefits

2003 2002 2001 2003 2002 2001

(Dollars in thousands)
Components of net periodic benefit cos

Service cos $4,11¢ $ 4,217 $ 3,627 $ 274 $ 29¢ $ 302
Interest cos 6,66¢ 6,42¢ 6,24 2,81¢ 2,751 2,59¢€
Expected return on plan ass (9,359 (10,597 (10,45%) — — —
Amortization of prior service cost (benef 647 62€ 672 (112 (112 (112
Amortization of initial net (asset) obligatic (367) (412 (412 — — —
Recognized net actuarial (gain) Ic (26) (113 (95§ 332 10t —
Settlement (gain (48) (999 — — — —
Curtailment lost — — 57C — — —
Net periodic (benefit) co: $1,637 $ (849 $ (717  $3,31:  $3,04¢ $2,78i

| L] I I I I

The Company recorded a plan curtailment énftiurth quarter 2001 in accordance with SFAS Ngp."Bmployers’ Accounting for
Settlement and Curtailment of Defined Benefit Pem$tlans and for Termination Benefits”. The cunt&iht was required because of the
significant reduction in the number of plan pagants. The curtailment increased the pension expi@r001 by $0.6 million and reduced
benefit obligation by $2.4 million at December 2001.

Pension Benefits Other Benefits
2003 2002 2001 2003 2002 2001

Assumptions
Weighted-average assumptions used to determir

benefit obligations at fiscal year end
Discount rate 6.37%% 6.75(% 6.37t% 6.75(%
Rate of compensation incree 2.75(% 2.00(% 2.75(% 2.00(%
Weighted-average assumptions used to determir

net cost for the fiscal year
Discount rate 6.75(% 7.127% 8.00(% 6.75(% 7.125% 8.00(%
Expected lon-term return on plan asse 9.00(% 10.00(% 10.00% N/A N/A N/A
Rate of compensation incree 2.000% 5.00(% 5.000% 2.00(% 5.00(% 5.000%

The Company uses a December 31 measurenterfbdshe above plans.

In 2003, the Company revised the expecteg-term rate of return assumption used in calcuigtiie annual expense for its domestic
pension plan in accordance with SFAS No. 87, “Emp@te’ Accounting for Pensions”. The assumed expkcte of return was decreased to
9.0% from 10.0% with the impact being accountedefon change in estimate.

Management establishes the expected long+iaierof return assumption by reviewing its histaritrends and analyzing the current and
projected market conditions in relation to the [daasset allocation and risk management objectMasiagement consults with outside
investment advisors and actuaries when establishimgate and reviews their assumptions with thiré&eent Plan Review Committee of the
Board

F-24




BRUSH ENGINEERED MATERIALS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)

of Directors. The actual return on plan assets 18a8% in 2003 and the 10-year average return gsafend 2003 was 7.9%. While the
current 10-year average is below the 9.0% assumpigmarily due to the poor performance of the l&&quity markets in the 2000 to 2002
time frame, the 10-year rolling average return w&esr 10.0% in seven of the last 10 years. Managebwieves that the 9.0% expected long-
term rate of return assumption is achievable andaeable given current market conditions and fatsca

The rate of compensation increase assumpticnchanged to use a graded assumption beginnih@%tfor the 2003 fiscal year and
increasing 0.75% per year until it reaches 5.0%ter2007 fiscal year and later.

2003 2002
Assumed health care trend rates at fiscal year end

Health care trend rate assumed for next" 8.0% 9.C%
Rate that the trend rate gradually declines tonfalte trend rate 6.C% 6.C%
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend 200¢ 200¢

Assumed health care cost trend rates haigndisant effect on the amounts reported for tlealth care plans. A one-percentage-point
change in assumed health care cost trend rateslwauk the following effects:

1-Percentage-Point 1-Percentage-Point
Increase Decrease

2003 2002 2003 2002

(Dollars in thousands)
Effect on total of service and interest cost congous $ 15E $ 14¢ $ (137) $ (13])
Effect on pos-retirement benefit obligatio 2,43¢ 2,291 (2,147 (2,029

On December 8, 2003, the Medicare Prescrigbiaug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 200B€ Act”) was signed into law. The
Act expanded Medicare to include, for the firstdincoverage for prescription drugs. The Companyspe retiree medical programs for
certain of its locations and expects that thisdiegion may eventually reduce the Company’s castsédme of these programs. At present, no
analysis of the potential reduction in the Compamgsts or obligations has been performed as thgp@oy awaits guidance from various
governmental and regulatory agencies concerningeipgirements that must be met to obtain theseredsttions, as well as the manner in
which such savings should be measured. Becausaiolg uncertainties related to the Company’s nespdo this legislation and the
appropriate accounting methodology for this evérd,Company has elected to defer financial recamnif this legislation until the Financi
Accounting Standards Board issues final accourginidance. When issued, that final guidance couddire the Company to change
previously reported information. This deferral ¢iiec is permitted under FSP No. FAS 106-1.
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Plan Assets

The Company’s domestic defined benefit panpian weighted-average asset allocation at figeai-end 2003 and 2002 and target
allocation are as follows:

Percentage of
Pension Plan

Assets at
Fiscal Year
Target End
Allocation
Range 2003 2002
Asset category
Equity securitie: 35-75% 73% 75%
Debt securitie! 10-25% 20% 24%
Real estat 0-5% 6% 0%
Other 0-10% 1% 1%
Total 10C% 100%

The Company’s pension plan investment styatag approved by the Retirement Plan Review Cotaaits to employ an allocation of
investments that will generate returns equal tbatter than the projected long-term growth of pemsiabilities so that the plan will be self-
funding. The return objective is to earn a realmefi.e., the actual return less inflation) of%.@s measured on a 10-year moving-average
basis. The allocation of investments is designedagimize the advantages of diversification whil#igating the risk to achieve the return
objective. Risk is defined as the annual variapilitvalue and is measured in terms of the standavihtion of investment return. Under the
Company’s investment policies, allowable investraeéntiude domestic equities, international equjtieed income securities, alternative
securities (which include real estate and privateture capital investments) and tactical allocafimix of equities and bonds). Ranges, in
terms of a percentage of the total assets, arblisstad for each allowable class of security. Tlen@any may vary the actual asset mix based
on the ratio of the plan assets and liabilitiese Trivestment policy prohibits the use of derivafimancial instruments that create or add
leverage to an existing security position. Deriwai may be used to hedge an existing security ara& reduction strategy. Management
reviews the asset allocation on an annual or nreguent basis and makes revisions as deemed necessa

None of the plan assets noted above aretedés the Company’s common stock.

Cash Flows— Employer Contributions

The Company expects to contribute $1.7 nniltio its pension benefit plans and $3.6 millioritscother benefit plans in 2004.

Other Benefit Plans

The Company also has accrued unfunded retiremeamigegments for certain directors. The projectecdfieabligation was $0.1 million «
December 31, 2003 and $0.2 million at Decembe8@2. A corresponding accumulated benefit obligatb$0.1 million at December 31,
2003 and $0.2 million at December 31, 2002 has besvgnized as a liability and is included in etient and post-employment benefits.
Certain foreign subsidiaries have funded and adcaméunded pension and other post-employment agraegts. The liability for these plans
was $4.7 million at December 31, 2003 and $3.6ionilat December 31, 2002 and was included in regérg and post-employment benefits
on the Consolidated Balance Sheet.
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The Company also sponsors a defined contoibyian available to substantially all U.S. em@eg. Company contributions to the plan
are based on matching a percentage of employeegsanp to a specified savings level. The Compacyrgributions were $1.0 million in
2003, $1.0 million in 2002 and $2.5 million in 200he Company reduced its matching percentagelfrefiactive with the beginning of the
fourth quarter 2001.

Note L — Contingencies and Commitments

Chronic Beryllium Disease Claim

The Company is a defendant in proceedingsiious state and federal courts by plaintiffsgifig that they have contracted chronic
beryllium disease, or CBD, or related ailments assalt of exposure to beryllium. Plaintiffs in CRRases seek recovery under theories of
intentional tort and various other legal theoried aeek compensatory and punitive damages, in wasss of an unspecified sum. Spouses, if
any, claim loss of consortium. Additional CBD claimay arise.

Management believes the Company has sulstdefienses in these cases and intends to congestiits vigorously. Employee cases, in
which plaintiffs have a high burden of proof, hawstorically involved relatively small losses t@t@ompany. Third-party plaintiffs (typically
employees of customers) face a lower burden offgham do the Company’s employees, but these @asegenerally covered by varying
levels of insurance.

Although it is not possible to predict theaame of the litigation pending against the Compang its subsidiaries, the Company provides
for costs related to these matters when a losolsaple and the amount is reasonably estimabligattion is subject to many uncertainties,
and it is possible that some of the actions coelddécided unfavorably in amounts exceeding the @moryip reserves. An unfavorable
outcome or settlement of a pending CBD case ottiaddl adverse media coverage could encourageoimenencement of additional similar
litigation. The Company is unable to estimate dteptial exposure to unasserted claims. The Compenorded a reserve for CBD litigation
of $2.9 million at December 31, 2003 and $4.2 willat December 31, 2002. The reserve was redudsatin?003 and 2002 for settlement
payments as well as for changes in estimates éootitstanding claims as a result of favorable gsliand agreements. An asset of $3.2 mi
was recorded at December 31, 2003 and $4.9 métidhecember 31, 2002 for recoveries from insuraaegers for outstanding claims that
are insured and for prior settlements initiallycpdirectly by the Company to the plaintiff on inedrclaims. The reserve is included in other
long-term liabilities and the recovery is includadther assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

While the Company is unable to predict thecome of the current or future CBD proceedings Bagmon currently known facts and
assuming collectibility of insurance, the Compangsinot believe that resolution of these proceedivilj have a material adverse effect on
the financial condition or cash flow of the CompaHRpwever, the Company’s results of operationsadea materially affected by
unfavorable results in these cases.

Environmental Proceeding

The Company has an active program for environmeatalpliance that includes the identification of koammental projects and estimat
their impact on the Company’s financial performaaned available resources. Environmental expendittivat relate to current operations,
such as wastewater treatment and control of aibemissions, are either expensed or capitalizegyg®priate. The Company records
reserves for the probable costs for environmeetalediation projects. The Company’s environmentglrexers perform routine ongoing
analyses of the remediation sites. Accruals aredapon their analyses and are established at dithdest estimate or, absent a best
estimate, at the low end of the estimated rangmsifs. The accruals are revised for the resultsigbing studies and for differences between
actual and

F-27




BRUSH ENGINEERED MATERIALS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)

projected costs. The accruals are also affectadlimgs and negotiations with regulatory agencids timing of payments often lags the
accrual, as environmental projects typically regaimumber of years to complete. The Company ésitell undiscounted reserves for
environmental remediation projects of $6.9 millarDecember 31, 2003 and $7.7 million at DecembelB02. The current portion of the
reserve totaled $0.7 million at December 31, 20@8was included in other liabilities and accruedis while the remaining $6.2 million of
the reserve at December 31, 2003 is consideredtimgand is included in other long-term liabilggien the Consolidated Balance Sheet.
These reserves cover existing or currently foregeejects. It is possible that additional enviromtaé losses may occur beyond the current
reserve, the extent of which cannot be estimated.

The environmental reserve was reduced by $@l®n in 2003 as a result of revised estimatethe required remediation work and
related costs, primarily for RCRA projects, SWMWslire and other projects at the Company’s Elmohé €ite. Payments against the
reserve totaled $0.2 million in 2003. The environtaéexpense was $0.6 million in 2002. The envirental reserve was reduced by
$1.0 million during 2001 as result of a revisedt@simate for an established Voluntary Action Pdad the completion of another project for
less than the previously estimated cost. The res@as increased by $0.7 million in 2001 for varipugjects at the Elmore site. These items
combined for a net credit of $0.3 million to income2001.

Long-Term Obligation

The Company has a long-term supply arrangéemigin Ulba/ Kazatomprom of the Republic of Kazatdmsand their marketing
representative, Nukem, Inc. of Connecticut. Theeagrent was signed in 2000 and amended in 2001G081 Pnder the amended 2003
agreement, the purchase commitments for coppeflibenynaster alloy have been significantly reduéexin the previous levels. The 2003
amended agreement also added purchase commitroebtsryllium vacuum cast billets and extended thatmact period to 2012. All
materials under the arrangement are sourced frdra/Wlazatomprom. The annual base purchase comntirtwal between $5.3 and
$5.6 million for 2004 through 2007. The price peupd escalates each year through 2007. A new wiltbe renegotiated for the years 2008
through 2012. If a new price cannot be agreed tbdgember 31, 2007, then the material purchasésenihinate with the 2008 delivery
volumes. The contract allows for the Company tachase additional quantities of copper beryllium t@aalloy up to an annual maximum of
150,000 pounds of beryllium contained in the maaliery. The purchase of beryllium vacuum cast tsliean be plus or minus 10% of the
annual base quantity. Purchases of beryllium-comgimaterials from Nukem were $3.3 million in 2081d immaterial in both 2003 and
2002.

The Company has agreements to purchase spadedities of beryl ore, beryllium metal and coplperyllium master alloy from the
Defense Logistics Agency of the U.S. Governmene @greements expire in 2007. Annual purchase camenifs total approximately
$6.4 million in 2004 through 2007. The berylliumngoonent of the contract price is adjusted quartedsn these stated totals based upon
fluctuations in the non-seasonally adjusted consymee index. The Company may elect to take dejivd the materials in advance of the
commitment dates. Purchases under these agreetotés approximately $5.7 million in 2003, $3.9lran in 2002 and $6.4 million in
2001. The purchased material will serve as raw nighieput for operations within Brush Wellman Iremd Brush Resources Inc.

Other

The Company has outstanding letters of ctethling $7.1 million related to workers’ competisa, consigned precious metal guarantees
and environmental remediation issues that expi0iv.

The Company is subject to various other legaither proceedings that relate to the ordinayrse of its business. The Company believes
that the resolution of these other legal or othheceedings, individually
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or in the aggregate, will not have a material aswémpact upon the Company’s Consolidated Finastatements.

Note M — Segment Reporting and Geographic Informatior

Selected financial data by business segnseptascribed by SFAS No0.131, “Disclosures aboun8zus of an Enterprise and Related
Information,” for 2003, 2002 and 2001 are as fodow

Metal Micro- Total
Systems Electronics Segments All Other Total

(Dollars in thousands)

2003

Revenues from external custom $239,40: $157,32: $396,72° $ 4,31¢ $401,04¢
Intersegment revenu 2,41¢ 1,11¢ 3,53¢ 17,99« 21,52;
Depreciation, depletion and amortizati 11,25( 4,02( 15,27( 5,461 20,73:
Profit (loss) before interest and ta (16,590 12,61¢ (3,972 (5,369 (9,340
Assets 258,95¢ 74,13% 333,09! 38,52 371,61t
Expenditures for lor-lived asset: 2,83( 2,93( 5,76( 55¢ 6,31¢
2002

Revenues from external custom $227,88: $139,18( $367,06: $ 5,76¢ $372,82!
Intersegment revenu 3,11¢ 1,56¢ 4,68¢ 12,17: 16,85¢
Depreciation, depletion and amortizati 12,06( 3,93( 15,99( 4,65( 20,64(
Profit (loss) before interest and ta (37,657 3,84¢ (33,819 10,961 (22,845
Assets 223,98t 71,83: 295,81¢ 39,06: 334,87
Expenditures for lor-lived asset: 1,93( 2,37 4,30( 1,114 5,41¢
2001

Revenues from external custom $295,69( $169,59¢ $465,28¢ $ 7,281 $472,56¢
Intersegment revenu 2,59¢ 2,06¢ 4,662 12,03¢ 16,69¢
Depreciation, depletion and amortizati 12,56( 3,78( 16,34( 5,26¢ 21,60¢
Profit (loss) before interest and ta (20,117 4,56¢ (15,549 1,48( (14,069
Assets 265,37 68,40 333,77 69,88 403,65:
Expenditures for lor-lived asset: 13,031 6,841 19,87: 3,412 23,28¢

Segments are evaluated using earnings befierest and taxes. The “All Other” column includlee operating results of BEM Services,
Inc. and Brush Resources Inc., two wholly ownedssgliaries of the Company, as well as the parentpamy’s and other corporate expenses.
BEM Services charges a management fee for thecesrprovided to the other businesses within the amy on a cost-plus basis. Brush
Resources sells beryllium hydroxide, produced fitsnmine and extraction mill in Utah, to externabtomers and to businesses within the
Metal Systems Group. Assets shown in All Otherudel cash, computer hardware and software, deftared, capitalized interest and the
operating assets for Brush Resources. Inventasieldlétal Systems and Microelectronics are showtheit FIFO values with the LIFO
reserve included under the All Other column. Iregraent revenues are eliminated in consolidatioe.rfEkenues from external customer
totals are presented net of the intersegment regemssets for the Metals Systems Group includ&®ie8 million of equipment purchasec
2003 that was previously held under an operatingde
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The Company’s sales from U.S. operationsteraal customers, including exports, were $311ilbam in 2003, $301.1 million in 2002,
and $385.8 million in 2001. Revenues attributeddontries based upon the location of customerdargilived assets deployed by the
Company by country are as follows:

2003 2002 2001

(Dollars in thousands)

Revenues
United State: $276,66¢ $268,54¢ $338,23:
All other 124,37¢ 104,28: 134,33t
Total $401,04¢ $372,82¢ $472,56¢
I | I
Long-Lived Assets
United State: $185,16¢ $147,26: $166,12¢
All other 5,67¢ 5,281 5,17C
Total $190,84t $152,54. $171,29¢
I L] I

No individual country, other than the Unit®thtes, or customer accounted for 10% or moreeo€impany’s revenues for the years
presented. Revenues from outside the U.S. are plynfram Europe and Asia.

Note N — Related Party Transactions

The Company has outstanding loans of $0.4amilvith six employees, including two executivéioérs, as of December 31, 2003. The
loan balance was $0.4 million as of December 302265 well. The loans were made in the first qu@®©2 pursuant to life insurance
agreements between the Company and the employleegortion of the premium paid by the Companyestied as a loan from the Company
to the employee and the loans are secured by shieance policies, which are owned by the employEes.agreements require the employee
to maintain the insurance policy’s cash surrendduesin an amount at least equal to the outstarldarg balance. The loan is payable from
the insurance proceeds upon the employee’s deathaor earlier date due to the occurrence of spdaifvents. The loans bear an interest rate
equal to the applicable federal rate.

Note O — Other Comprehensive Income

The following table summarizes the net géisK) by component within other comprehensive ine@as of December 31, 2003, 2002 and
2001.

December 31,

2003 2002 2001

(Dollars in thousands)

Foreign currency translation adjustm $ (982 $ (1,457 $(2,289
Change in the fair value of derivative financiadtiuments (3,216 (7,839 (2,067
Minimum pension liability (12,596 (13,569) —
Total $(16,799  $(22,859)  $(4,350)

I | |
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Note P — Quarterly Data (Unaudited)

Years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002

2003
First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Total

(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

Net sales $99,51¢  $101,80¢ $94,15¢  $105,56 $401,04¢
Gross profit 17,11 18,86¢ 14,37( 22,69: 73,03¢

Percent of sale 17.2% 18.5% 15.2% 21.5% 18.2%
Net income (loss (3,016 37 (3,060 (7,18%) (13,22¢)
Net income (loss) per share of common si (0.18¢) — (0.19) (0.43) (0.80
Stock price rang

High 6.1t 8.9z 10.4¢ 15.6(

Low 4.8C 5.0¢ 7.7(C 10.2(

2002
First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Total

(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

Net sales $89,58:  $100,74¢  $93,48. $89,017 $372,82
Gross profit 10,25¢ 15,07( 12,01¢ 10,55¢ 47,89°

Percent of sale 11.4% 15.(% 12.%% 11.9% 12.£%
Net loss (3,839 (2,049 (2,906 (26,819 (35,609
Net loss per share of common st (0.29) (0.12) (0.1¢ (1.62) (2.15)
Stock price rang

High 14.0C 13.2¢ 12.2( 8.0C

Low 10.2¢ 11.1¢ 6.9¢ 4.5C

Fourth quarter 2003 results include a $6.anipre-tax charge to write off deferred costsl aecognize derivative ineffectiveness as a
result of the debt refinancing.
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First Quarter Ended

April 2, March 28,
(Dollars in thousands except share and per sharetarts) 2004 2003

Net sales $ 125,86: $ 99,51¢
Cost of sale: 96,28t 82,40¢
Gross margir 29,575 17,11:
Selling, general and administrative exper 19,04¢ 17,29¢
Research and development exper 1,26¢ 1,10¢
Other— net 3,19(C 74€
Operating profit (loss 6,071 (2,039
Interest expens 2,21¢ 772
Income (loss) before income tax 3,85: (2,81))
Income taxe: 99 20%
Net income (loss $ 3,75¢ $ (3,016
.| .|

Per share of common stock: ba $ 0.2 $ (0.1¢)
Weighted average number of common shares outsig 16,618,56 16,561,43
Per share of common stock: dilut $ 0.2z $ (0.1¢)
Weighted average number of common shares outsig 16,980,78 16,561,43

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Apr. 2, Dec. 31,
(Dollars in thousands 2004 2003
Assets
Current assetl
Cash and cash equivalel $ 5,33¢ $ 5,062
Accounts receivabl 67,11° 55,10:
Inventories 95,08¢ 87,39¢
Prepaid expenst 6,20¢ 5,45¢
Deferred income taxe 13¢ 291
Total current asse 173,88: 153,30!
Other asset 17,84: 18,90:
Long-term deferred income tax 883 704
Property, plant and equipme 536,44( 535,42:
Less allowances for depreciation, depletion ancainpent 349,53: 344,57!
186,90t 190,84t
Goodwill 7,992 7,85¢
$387,50! $371,61¢
| |
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current liabilities
Shor-term debi $ 23,80¢ $ 13,38
Accounts payabl 20,35( 16,03¢
Other liabilities and accrued iter 34,18¢ 37,36¢
Income taxe: 81z 1,37
Total current liabilities 79,15¢ 68,16¢
Other lon¢-term liabilities 13,99: 14,73¢
Retirement and pc-employment benefit 49,79 49,35¢
Long-term debt 84,29: 85,75¢
Minority interest in subsidiar — 26
Shareholder equity 160,27: 153,57:
$387,50! $371,61¢
| |

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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First Quarter Ended

April 2, March 28,
(Dollars in thousands 2004 2003
Net Income (Loss) $ 3,75¢ $ (3,01¢)
Adjustments to Reconcile Net Income (Loss) to Netash Used in
Operating Activities:
Depreciation, depletion and amortizat 5,39¢ 5,101
Amortization of deferred financing costs in intd¢respenst 362 83
Derivative financial instrument ineffectivene 482 16
Decrease (increase) in accounts receiv (12,12) (11,640
Decrease (increase) in inventc (7,689 (459
Decrease (increase) in prepaid and other curreets (290 91C
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and acexpetse 2,431 7,47¢
Increase (decrease) in interest and taxes pa (1,149 282
Increase (decrease) in deferred income t (17¢) (52
Increase (decrease) in other |-term liabilities (950 (339
Other— net 80C 1,44¢
Net Cash Used in Operating Activities (9,139 (182
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Payments for purchase of property, plant and eqgeiip (1,356 (1,587
Payments for mine developme (90 (101)
Proceeds from (payments for) other investm 39 D
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipt 15 9
Net Cash Used in Investing Activities (1,399 (1,680
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Proceeds from issuance/(repayment) of «term debt 8,98: 842
Proceeds from issuance of l--term debt 24 —
Repayment of lor-term debi (60) (39
Issuance of common stock under stock option 1,88: —
Net Cash Provided from Financing Activities 10,83( 80¢
Effects of exchange rate chang (23 84
Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivaleni 27¢€ (970
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Period 5,06z 4,35]
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Period $ 5,33¢ $ 3,387
I |

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Note A — Accounting Policies

In management’s opinion, the accompanyingolidated financial statements contain all adjustim@ecessary to present fairly the
financial position as of April 2, 2004 and DecemBg&r 2003 and the results of operations for thetqumended April 2, 2004 and March 28,
2003. All of the adjustments were of a normal agxlirring nature. Certain items in the prior yearehlbeen reclassified to conform to the
2004 consolidated financial statement presentation.

Note B — Inventories

Apr. 2, Dec. 31,
(Dollars in thousands 2004 2003
Principally average cos

Raw materials and suppli $ 24,47( $ 24,99(
Work in proces: 69,07¢ 65,21:
Finished good 25,57 20,637
Gross inventorie 119,12( 110,83¢

Excess of average cost over LI
Inventory value 24,03t 23,44:
Net inventories $ 95,08t $ 87,39¢
L] I

Note C — Comprehensive Income (L0sS)

The reconciliation between net income (I@®) comprehensive income (loss) for the quartedsaipril 2, 2004 and March 28, 2003 is
as follows:

First Quarter Ended

Apr. 2, Mar. 28,
(Dollars in thousands 2004 2003
Net income (loss $3,75¢ $(3,01¢)
Cumulative translation adjustme 22t (74)
Change in the fair value of derivative financiatiuments 92¢ 1,16¢
Comprehensive income (los $4,907 $(1,926)
| ]
Note D — Segment Reporting
Metal Micro- Total All
(Dollars in thousands Systems Electronics Segments Other Total
First Quarter 2004
Revenues from external custom $75,95¢ $49,90¢ $125,86. $ — $125,86.
Intersegment revenu 1,214 29¢ 1,51(C 5,297 6,807
Operating profit (loss 3,17¢ 5,48¢ 8,66¢ (2,599 6,071
First Quarter 2003
Revenues from external custom $61,20° $38,31: $ 99,51¢ $ — $ 99,51¢
Intersegment revenu 901 27z 1,17: 3,57: 4,74¢
Operating profit (loss (3,429 2,531 (887) (1,157) (2,039
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Note E — Income Taxes

A tax provision or benefit was not appliecimgt the income or loss before income taxes idithequarter 2004 and the first quarter 2003
for certain domestic and foreign taxes as a reguhe deferred tax valuation allowance recordepr@vious periods in accordance with SF
109, “Accounting for Income Taxes” due to the utaty regarding full utilization of the Companydeferred income taxes. The valuation
allowance was reduced offsetting a portion of teetax expense in the first quarter 2004 whileviil@ation allowance was increased in the
first quarter 2003 offsetting the net tax benefithat period. The Company intends to maintainvedaation allowance until additional
realization events occur, including the generatibfuture taxable income, that would support reakos a portion of the allowance. The
$0.1 million of expense in the first quarter 200 ghe $0.2 million of expense in the first quag603 represent taxes from various state and
local jurisdictions and foreign taxes from Japad &mgapore only.

Note F — Pensions and Other Post-retirement Benesit

Pension Benefits Other Benefits
First Quarter Ended First Quarter Ended
Apr. 2, Mar. 28, Apr. 2, Mar. 28,
(Dollars in thousands 2004 2003 2004 2003
Components of net periodic benefit cos
Service cos $ 1,06( $1,02¢ $ 7C $ 69
Interest cos 1,72¢ 1,66 69¢€ 704
Expected return on plan ass (2,267 (2,340 — —
Amortization of transition obligation/(asst — (90) — —
Amortization of prior service co: 162 162 (28) (28)
Amortization of net loss/(gair 3 @) 12z 83
Net periodic benefit cos $ 677 $ 421 $86( $82¢
] | | |

Note G — Stock-Based Compensation

The Company has adopted the disclosure aolyigions of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock<sgal Compensation” and applies the
intrinsic value method in accordance with APB OpimNo. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Emplageand related interpretations in
accounting for its stock incentive plan. In accorciawith SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Basgaimpensation-Transition and
Disclosure,” the following table presents the effeic net income/(loss) and net income/(loss) pareshad compensation cost for the
Company’s stock plans been determined consistehtSHAS No. 123.

First Quarter Ended

Apr. 2, Mar. 28,

(Dollars in thousands except per share amou 2004 2003
Net income/(loss), as report $3,75¢ $(3,01¢)

Less stock-based compensation expense determiied fair value method for

all stock options, net of related income tax ber 50z 264
Pro forma net income/(los $3,252 $(3,28()
| ]
Basic income/(loss) per share, as repo $ 0.2¢ $ (0.19)
Diluted income/(loss) per share, as repo 0.22 (0.1¢)
Basic income/(loss) per share, pro for 0.2C (0.20
Diluted income/(loss) per share, pro for $ 0.1¢ $ (0.20
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The fair value was estimated on the grarg daing the Black-Scholes option pricing model wfith following assumptions for options
issued:

First Quarter Ended

April 2, March 28,
2004 2003
Risk free interest rate 3.38% 3.7%
Dividend yield 0% 0%
Volatility 41.8% 39.5%
Expected lives (in year: 6 8
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PART Il
INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS
Item 14.  Other Expenses of Issuance and Distributior

Set forth below is an estimate (except ferngistration fee, the NASD filing fee and the Nark Stock Exchange filing fee) of the fees
and expenses (other than underwriting discountscamimissions) payable by us in connection withshle of common shares being
registered.

Registration fet $ 5,38:
NASD filing fee 4,74¢
New York Stock Exchange listing application 5,00(C
Printing and engraving expens 225,00(
Legal fees and expens 450,00(
Accounting fees and expens 200,00(
Transfer agent and registrar fe 5,00(¢
Miscellaneous 29,87(
Total $925,00(
|

Item 15. Indemnification of Directors and Officers.

We will indemnify, to the full extent thenpeaitted by law, any director or officer or formerettor or officer of our company who was or
is a party or is threatened to be made a partyydlaeatened, pending or completed action, syiroceeding, whether civil, criminal,
administrative or investigative, by reason of taetthat he is or was a member of our Board ofd@ms or our officer, employee or agent, or
is or was serving at our request as a directostdry officer, employee or agent of another cotpmrapartnership, joint venture, trust or other
enterprise. We will pay, to the full extent thequiaed by law, expenses, including attorney’s faesjrred by a member of our Board of
Directors in defending any such action, suit orcpeading as they are incurred, in advance of tre flisposition thereof.

To the full extent then permitted by law, may indemnify employees, agents and other perswhsnay pay expenses, including
attorney’s fees, incurred by any employee, agentlwgr person in defending any action, suit or pealing as such expenses are incurred, in
advance of the final disposition thereof.

The indemnification and payment of expenssdbed above will not be exclusive of, and wilib addition to, any other rights granted
to any person seeking indemnification under any law amended and restated articles of incorparainy agreement, vote of shareholders
or disinterested members of our Board of Directorgtherwise, both as to action in official capiasi and as to action in another capacity
while he or she is a member of our Board of Directir our officer, employee or agent, and shalticoie as to a person who has ceased to be
a member of our Board of Directors, trustee, offieenployee or agent and shall inure to the beoétie heirs, executors, and administrators
of such a person.

We may, to the full extent then permittedidy and authorized by our Board of Directors, pasghand maintain insurance or furnish
similar protection, including but not limited taist funds, letters of credit or self-insurancepehalf of or for any persons described above
against any liability asserted against and incubnedny such person in any such capacity, or a@isint of his status as such, whether or not
we would have the power to indemnify such persairegg such liability. Insurance may be purchasethfor maintained with a person in
which we have a financial interest.

We, upon approval by our Board of Directonsyy enter into agreements with any persons who aeindemnify under our amended and
restated code of regulations or under law and nmalgrake thereby to
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indemnify such persons and to pay the expensesrettby them in defending any action, suit or peatieg against them, whether or not we
would have the power under law or our amended asidied code of regulations to indemnify any swerisqn.

Under Ohio law, Ohio corporations are authextito indemnify directors, officers, employees agdnts within prescribed limits and must
indemnify them under certain circumstances. Ohiodaes not provide statutory authorization for gpooation to indemnify directors,
officers, employees and agents for settlementesfar judgments in the context of derivative suiswever, it provides that directors (but not
officers, employees or agents) are entitled to ratorgt advancement of expenses, including attorrfees, incurred in defending any action,
including derivative actions, brought against tirector, provided that the director agrees to coajgewith the corporation concerning the
matter and to repay the amount advanced if itazgu by clear and convincing evidence that thectbirés act or failure to act was done with
deliberate intent to cause injury to the corporatio with reckless disregard for the corporatidrest interests.

Ohio law does not authorize payment of judgt®éo a director, officer, employee or agent adtéinding of negligence or misconduct in a
derivative suit absent a court order. Indemnifimaftis permitted, however, to the extent such pessmeeeds on the merits. In all other cases,
if a director, officer, employee or agent acteddwod faith and in a manner he reasonably beliewdxtin or not opposed to be the best
interests of the corporation, indemnification isaletionary except as otherwise provided by a gatfmn’s articles, code of regulations or by
contract except with respect to the advancemeexpénses of directors.

Under Ohio law, a director is not liable foonetary damages unless it is proved by clear andircing evidence that his action or failure
to act was undertaken with deliberate intent tesednjury to the corporation or with reckless digrel for the best interests of the corpora
There is, however, no comparable provision limitihg liability of officers, employees or agentsaoforporation. The statutory right to
indemnification is not exclusive in Ohio, and Olbirporations may, among other things, procure arste for such persons.

Item 16. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

Exhibit
Number Description of Document
1.1* Form of Underwriting Agreemel
3.1 Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation af€B Engineered Materials Inc. (filed as Annex Bhi
Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed by Brushi&eered Materials Inc. on February 1, 2000, Reggien No.
333-95917), incorporated herein by referer
3.2 Amended and Restated Code of Regulations of BrugfinEered Materials Inc. (filed as Exhibit 4(b}the Current
Report on Form -K filed by Brush Wellman Inc. on May 16, 2000), émporated herein by referenc
4.1 Rights Agreement, dated as of May 10, 2000, bykstdeen Brush Engineered Materials Inc. and NakiGitg Bank,

N.A. as Rights Agent (filed as Exhibit 4(a) to fBarrent Report on Formr-K filed by Brush Engineered Materials Inc.
on May 16, 2000), incorporated herein by refere

4.2 Warrant dated December 4, 2003 to purchase 78,6@intn Shares of Brush Engineered Materials Inaitgcato
Upper Columbia Capital Company, LLC (filed as Exhi{h) to the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed Byush
Engineered Materials Inc. on March 15, 2004), ipooated herein by referenc

4.3 Warrant dated December 4, 2003 to purchase 20,06th@n Shares of Brush Engineered Materials Inaitgcato H/z
Acquisition Partners LLC (filed as Exhibit 4(i) tbe Annual Report on Form 10-K filed by Brush Eregired Materials
Inc. on March 15, 2004), incorporated herein bemefice

4.4 Warrant dated December 4, 2003 to purchase 16,48h@n Shares of Brush Engineered Materials Inmtgdato
Bank One, NA (filed as Exhibit 4(j) to the Annua¢port on Form 10-K filed by Brush Engineered Matisrinc. on
March 15, 2004), incorporated herein by refere

5.1** Opinion of Jones Day
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Exhibit

Number Description of Document
23.1 Consent of Ernst & Young LLF
23.2 Consent of Jones Day (included in Exhibit 5

24.1** Power of Attorney

* To be filed by amendment.

**  Previously filed.

ltem 17.  Undertakings.

The undersigned registrant hereby underttidasfor purposes of determining any liability endhe Securities Act of 1933, each filing of
the registrant’s annual report pursuant to Sectig(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act @4Lthat is incorporated by reference in this
registration statement shall be deemed to be aregistration statement relating to the securitiésred therein, and the offering of such
securities at that time shall be deemed to benitialibona fideoffering thereof.

The undersigned registrant hereby underttiats

(1) For purposes of determining any liability unttee Securities Act of 1933, the information ondtfeom the form of prospectus
filed as part of this registration statement inarete upon Rule 430A and contained in a form ofpectus filed by the registrant pursuant

to Rule 424(b)(1) or (4) or 497(h) under the SamsiAct shall be deemed to be part of this regiin statement as of the time it was
declared effective

(2) For the purpose of determining any liabilityden the Securities Act of 1933, each post-effectivendment that contains a form
of prospectus shall be deemed to be a new regstratiatement relating to the securities offereddm, and this offering of such
securities at that time shall be deemed to beritialibona fideoffering thereof

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arisingpder the Securities Act of 1933 may be permitteditectors, officers and controlling persons
of the registrant pursuant to the provisions desdriunder Item 15 above, or otherwise, the registras been advised that in the opinion of
the Securities and Exchange Commission such indeatidn is against public policy as expressechim $ecurities Act and is, therefore,
unenforceable. In the event that a claim for indéication against such liabilities (other than theyment by the registrant of expenses
incurred or paid by a director, officer or contiodj person of the registrant in the successfulrmdeof any action, suit or proceeding) is
asserted by such director, officer or controllirgggon in connection with the securities being tegésl, the registrant will, unless in the
opinion of its counsel the matter has been seftjedontrolling precedent, submit to a court of ampiate jurisdiction the question whether

such indemnification by it is against public poliay expressed in the Securities Act and will beegued by the final adjudication of such
issue.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Secsrfiig, the registrant certifies that it has readtmgrounds to believe that it meets all of the
requirements for filing on Form S-3 and has dulyseal this Amendment No. 2 to Registration Staterntebé signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the Git¢€leveland, State of Ohio, on June 3, 2004.

BRUSH ENGINEERED MATERIALS INC.

Date: June 3, 2004
By: /s/ GORDON D. HARNETT

Gordon D. Harnett
Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Exeeufifficer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Secsritie of 1933, this Amendment No. 2 to Registratitatement has been signed by the
following persons in the capacities and on theslatdicated:

Date: June 3, 2004 /sl GORDON D. HARNETT

Gordon D. Harnett
Chairman of the Board, President, Chief Executifigc€r and Directo
(Principal Executive Officer

Date: June 3, 2004 /s/ JOHN D. GRAMPA

John D. Grampa
Vice President Finance and Chief Financial Offigenincipal Financie
Officer and Principal Accounting Office

Date: June 3, 2004 *

Albert C. Bersticker
Director

Date: June 3, 2004 *

David H. Hoag
Director

Date: June 3, 2004 *

Joseph P. Keithley
Director

Date: June 3, 2004 *

William B. Lawrence
Director

Date: June 3, 2004 *

William P. Madar
Director

Date: June 3, 2004 *

William G. Pryor
Director
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Date: June 3, 2004 *

N. Mohan Redd!

Director

Date: June 3, 2004 *
William R. Robertson
Director

Date: June 3, 2004 *

John Sherwin, Jr.
Director

* This Amendment No. 2 to Registration Statemead been signed on behalf of the above officersdimedtors by John D. Grampa, as
attornevin-fact pursuant to a power of attorney filed as Eittd.1 to the Registration Stateme

Date: June 3, 2004
By: /s/ JOHN D. GRAMPA

John D. Grampa
Attorney-in-Fact
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EXHIBIT 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

We consent to the reference to our firm under #pion "Experts” in Amendment No. 2 to the regitétrastatement (Form S-3 No. 333-
114147) and related prospectus of Brush Enginddigdrials Inc. for the registration of shares sfabmmon stock and to the inclusion of
report dated January 28, 2004 and incorporatiorefgrence therein of our reports dated Januarg@®} and March 9, 2004, with respect to
the consolidated financial statements and schededpectively, of Brush Engineered Materials Incorporated by reference and included in
its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year endegt&nber 31, 2003, filed with the Securities andharge Commission.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

d evel and, Chio
June 3, 2004



